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Chairman’s Statement
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The Group continued its spectacular growth momentum in the past few
years and achieved another record year in sales quantity, revenue and net
profit, which were up by 30.5%, 131.7% and |10.0%, respectively. The
growth was mainly due to the continued high demand for metals in
China, the increased penetration of scrap metals in China, the expansion
of our regional coverage and our increased market share.

China is the world's largest metal consumption country and is already the
world's largest scrap metals market despite scrap metals penetration in
China is still much lower than the world. The momentum of high demand
for scrap metals is expected to continue in the next few years as a result
of robust growth in metals production and the increase in scrap metals
penetration. Historically, China's fast growing economic growth relied
heavily on natural resources depletion and environmental degradation.
The State's policy has shifted towards growth with quality and green
economy. This is the reason why the “energy conservation and
environmental protection” sector has been nominated as the top
strategic industry for development under the 12th Five-Year Plan (the
“Plan”).
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As China's economy and industrial activities grown in the past decade,
scrap metal reserves have been accumulated in the society, e.g.
ownership of 5 major home appliances (refrigerators, washing machines,
air-conditioners, televisions and personal computers) and motor vehicles
reached approximately |.7 billion units and 210 million units respectively
at the end of 2010, while the number of the automobile registration
reached |8 million in 2011. In the coming years, China's scrap metal
reserves are expected to be released into the market, providing ample
room for development in the industry.

However, as the recycling sector in China is highly fragmented and poorly
equipped and managed that is unable to fit in with the industry
development need, the recycling industry has to change its business
mode and adopt standardized operation, mechanical processing and
modernized management to meet the market demand. There are a lot of
acquisition opportunities in the sector that the Group can tap into.

Our network covered Southern, Eastern, Northern and Central China,
and built a comprehensive collection network and system which
combined the recycling and dismantling processing and port
transportation. For the Eastern China operation, the Jiangyin city and
Ningbo city operations have been contributing a substantial increase to
the business flow in the region. For the Northern China operation, the
formation of a joint venture with X2 il & & B iR {3 B IR 22 7] (Tianjin
Pipe (Group) Corporation) and || regional recyclers is the first-of-its-
kind in the industry, together with the new joint venture in Baotou city
with 500,000 tons capacity, our business coverage in the Northern China
region has further expanded. For the Southern China operation, the
potential joint venture with B R )& &£ B X &] (Guangdong Materials
Group Corporation) would result in a collection system combining the
metal recycling and dismantling of motor vehicles, vessels and worn
electrical appliances. For the Central China operation, our Wuhan
operation has been ramping up in scale.

Our future development strategy is to continue to strengthen our
strategic national network, expanding market share in the Eastern and
Northern China, as well as expanding product categories with an aim to
set foot in business such as dismantling of motor vehicles, vessels and
worn electrical appliances, and establish a comprehensive integrated
metal recycling system that is advocated under the Plan. The Group will
continue to strengthen the China market by continuously adopt various
means such as co-operation, acquisition and merger.

We are on track to become a consolidator in the industry while
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance and high
operational efficiency. We believe that 2012 will be a challenging year due
to the uncertainties in the global economy, but we are confident that our
growth momentum will continue. Our long-term goal is to become one
of the largest metal recycling enterprises in the world within the next
few years.

BEERRAERIXEHNBETFER
HELEREAEELBREE W5 —
TERBABRE (kfE - =5
BEEEASK RESENRTFESFIET
I7TRBER2AEH  RE0MERELEE
E#1,80086 - NARBERN BESBHWR
FEBHeRERNEITS  LKITERHEE
AWERZEM -

R ARFPEBSESBIEIA  REM
EHER AEEETEERETE AT
A$FREELERSN RARGLHEE
AN TRBECCNERE  TRBED
SRR - TERAAMAARERERNENRE
“e -

BANEREKEESER ER FURE
R - BY T EMREKITRREE &S
BEH - BELOREBERRER - RERM
RER AKERIEHRERHHNEER
ZEOEBERELEM - RELMREBT
H AEBAEXZHEEERNERDAR
NEEMEKBERIAGERR  BITAE
R EREBBMERZOBEMNNSER
A RANAREREZELHRRGEESR
B -REFXHIE AKEERERYES
EARBKIAELE  HEYSBOR -
o R BEREREN —BoKkE
ZoREREBIE  AREERNRAR
REMEER

AEENAREREBRBEEZEZEIN
REMHH  ABEBEARMEERRELND
GinEE - MERBMEMRE  EARE K
MEEEXRERBEXHERE  REZE
BUREN—RBLeBRKER ARES
BEZRREE WBRAHETRLTALE
EETEMS -

AKBLEHNKAATENERE  #FE
BOLCEERARSHMEEREK - B2
REMSOTHE  —S—ZFNBAKE
BEN—F BARERGELEEERER
BE AKENREERTIRARBERR
ERFANCBEKER -

3 Annual Report 2011




Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Business Overview

The Group's final results for the year ended 31 December 2011 (the
“Year") achieved another record which follows the outstanding growth
momentum in the past few years. Revenue and profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the Year were up by approximately 131.7%
and 110.0% to HK$52,140.5 million and HK$1,861.9 million respectively
when compared with the year ended 31 December 2010 (the “Last
Year"), as a result of the continued high demand for metals in China,
increase in penetration of scrap metals in China, expansion of our
regional coverage and increased market share. Tightened credit in China
has also provided a favorable business environment to the Group as
many smaller players faced difficulties in obtaining necessary financings.
Leveraging on the Group's scale of operation, financing and other
competitive advantages, the Group has gained additional market share.
Sales volume of ferrous metals for the Year was approximately [.85
million tons, an increase of approximately 18.0% compared to the Last
Year while sales volume of non-ferrous metals for the Year was
approximately 668,000 tons, an increase of approximately 85.3%
compared to the Last Year. Other materials represent the sales of other
raw materials to the Group's customers such as ores, scrap plastics, etc.
Leveraging on the long term relationships with our customers and
sourcing capabilities, the Group cross-sells these other raw materials to

its customers.

China’s crude steel production during the Year reached approximately
683 million tons, an increase of approximately 8.9% compared to the Last
Year. China's copper cathode production during the Year was
approximately 5.5 million tons, an increase of approximately 15.5%
compared to the Last Year. However, the penetration of scrap metals
consumption in China during the Year was still at a low level when
compared with the figures in developed countries. Therefore, there exists

a great potential for increasing penetration of recycled metals in China.

For the Eastern China operation, benefiting from the expanding
operations in Jiangyin city and Ningbo city and with the benefit of being
one of the best metal recycling markets in China, business flow has been
strong in the region. The Group has continued its growth momentum in

the revenue of the Eastern China region during the Year. Margins have
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improved as compared to the Last Year as a result of the ramp up
operation and the increase in regional market share. Jiangyin port has
been the regional logistic and distribution hub supporting the Group's
recycling base in the Eastern China region and connecting its operations

in other regions.

For the Northern China operation, business flow has continued to
increase as a result of the smooth execution of the operation. The joint
venture with Xl & &£ B 5 A R 2 & (Tianjin Pipe (Group)
Corporation) and || regional recyclers (the “Tianjin Joint Venture”) has
started business operation and will create a “Strong-Strong” alliance by
combining the competitive advantages of the shareholders. In addition,
the Group formed a 55%-owned joint venture with BT F| HFE Z 5
B R & £ 2 7 (Baotou Lijilong Trading Company Limited) (together with
its group companies “Lijilong Group”) (the “Baotou V") in February
2012. Leveraging off the rich natural resources in Inner Mongolia, Baotou
City is one of the major heavy industrial cities in the Northern China
region and also a city with great supply and demand of scrap metals. With
a designed annual capacity of 250,000 tons, Lijilong Group is one of the
leading metal recyclers in Baotou City. Lijilong Group has a long
operating history in the region and established a base of quality
customers such as ‘B 5 # 8 (£ @) AR & £ A 7] (Baotou Iron and
Steel Group Co. Ltd) and A I AET XS B ER 2 A (Inner
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Mongolia North Heavy Industries Group Co. Ltd) and an extensive
suppliers’ network. It also has a major vehicle dismantling licence. The
Baotou |V has a 500,000 tons capacity. Both initiatives will greatly
enhance the Group's bargaining and managing power in the Northern

China region.

For the Southern China operation, business has been stable. The
Zhongshan site expanded our collection coverage and contributed an
additional capacity of 300,000 tons. On |5 March 2011, the Company
entered into a non-binding memorandum of understanding with & 5 #J
& & [ 2 7] (Guangdong Materials Group Corporation) (“GDWZ") to
set up a joint venture to engage in the recycling business in the Southern
China region. The discussion is ongoing. The proposed co-operation
would help the Group create an integrated metal recycling system that
combines the recycling and dismantling of scrap metals, electrical

appliances, motor vehicles, vessels and aircrafts.

&
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For the Central China operation, the Wuhan site has been ramping up.
The Group has been expanding its regional suppliers network to meet
the demand from one of the major customers, &2 il §& (£ &) 2 7]
(Wuhan Iron and Steel (Group) Corporation).

The Group'’s future development strategy is to further enhance our
competitive advantages to |) continue to strengthen our strategic
national network and product categories in order to establish an
integrated metal recycling system that combines the recycling and
dismantling of scrap metals, electrical appliances, motor vehicles and
vessels, so as to fully support the State government’s target of
establishing a comprehensive recycling system under the [2th Five-Year
Plan (the “Plan"); 2) develop a diversified sales and procurement network
to enlarge our market share; 3) continue to invest in advanced
machineries and environmental protection facilities to ensure operational
efficiency and economies of scale; and 4) increase investment in our staff

to enhance management quality and strengthen our overall operational
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and business integration capability. The strategy of combining both
organic and inorganic approaches of corporate development to maintain
our relative first-mover advantage will continue to reinforce our

leadership position in the metal recycling industry in China.

Looking forward into 2012, though facing uncertainties in the macro-
economic conditions globally, the Group is confident of continuing the
volume growth momentum and is expected to achieve 20%-30% growth
in sales volume. With contributions from its multiple regional operations,
the Group is confident of delivering more than spectacular returns to the

shareholders of the Company.
FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 was
HK$52,140.5 million (2010: HK$22,508.2 million), representing an
increase of approximately 131.7% as compared to that for the Last Year.
Increase in the Group's revenue was mainly attributable to the significant
increase in the sales of both ferrous and non-ferrous metals during the
year. The Group's business from new regions, namely the Eastern China
region and the Northern China region, have contributed significantly to

the increase during the year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 was
HK$2,083.3 million (2010: HK$1,235.4 million), representing an increase
of approximately 68.6% as compared to that for the Last Year. Gross
profit margin of the Group for the year was approximately 4.0% (2010:
5.5%), representing a decrease of approximately 1.5%.The decrease was
mainly due to the increase in contributions from new regions which have
lower gross profit margins and the lower selling prices when metal
commodity prices decreased between the time of raw materials purchase
and the time of sales, majority of which have already been hedged by

metal commodity future contracts.
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Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains for the year ended 3| December 201 |, including
mainly interest income, exchange gain and gain on disposal of investment
properties and the relevant prepaid lease payments, increased by
approximately 66.9% from HK$65.7 million for the Last Year to HK$109.6
million. The increase was mainly due to the increases in interest income
from bank deposits and the gain on disposal of investment properties
and prepaid lease payments by HK$13.4 million and HK$12.8 million
respectively. Interest rate had increased during the year.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses for the year ended 3| December 201 |
amounted to HK$49.4 million, representing an increase of approximately
474.7% compared to that for the Last Year. The increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in volume of sales and the increase in the
cost of transportation by HK$28.1 million and the port loading expense
by HK$5.3 million.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses including staff salaries, bank charges, depreciation
expenses and other general administration expenses for the year ended
31 December 2011 amounted to HK$257.4 million, representing an
increase of approximately 40.8% over that of HK$182.8 million for the
Last Year. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in the
number of executive staff for the operations of the Group in the new
regions in China; and various expenses, mainly bank charges and other

taxes, incurred by the Group when expanding its operations.

Net Gain on Derivative Financial Instruments

Net gain on derivative financial instruments mainly represents the net
gain arising from the changes in fair value of the metal commodity future
contracts used to hedge against the Group’s purchases and inventory.
Metal commodity prices have been volatile during the year and led to net
gains on those commodity future contracts used to hedge against the
corresponding spot purchase or inventory when metal commodity prices

decreased during the hedged period.
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Finance Costs

Finance costs increased by approximately 166.5% from HK$95.3 million
for the Last Year to HK$253.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2011.The finance costs for the year mainly arose from trade financing

from banks for working capital purposes.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 3|
December 201 | grew by approximately |10.0% to HK$!,861.9 million as
compared with HK$886.6 million for the Last Year.

Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets forth certain of our financial ratios as at the date

for the years indicated.

Current ratio MEN L &

Gearing ratio (%) BEERBLE(%)
Inventory turnover days FEABRH
Debtors' turnover days JEM TR IE A #E B
Creditors’ turnover days JERRIBAE B

Working Capital

The inventory turnover of the Group was 16 days for the year ended 3|
December 201 | as compared to 21 days for the Last Year. In order to
better manage the commodity price risk during the year, the inventory

level was maintained at a low level.
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The Group'’s debtors’ turnover (including both trade debtors and bills
receivable) was 57 days for the year ended 31 December 2011 as
compared to 78 days for the Last Year. The Group generally allows
average credit periods of 30 to 60 days and 30 to 90 days to its ferrous
and non-ferrous customers respectively. The decrease was primarily due
to speeding up of repayment by certain customers and tightening credit

control of the Group.

The Group's creditors’ turnover (including both trade payables and bills
payable) was 35 days for the year ended 31 December 2011 as
compared to 49 days for the Last Year. Credit periods granted by the
Group's suppliers increased to 60 days.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2011, the Group has net current assets of
HK$5,562.1 million (31 December 2010: HK$4,114.2 million) of which
cash and bank deposits were HK$3,183.4 million (31 December 2010:
HK$2,971.0 million).

Total borrowings as at 31 December 2011, including discounted bills,
were HK$5,652.8 million (31 December 2010: HK$3,634.5 million), of
which HK$5,286.9 million are repayable within one year (31 December
2010: HK$3,281.6 million). Such borrowings are mainly denominated in
Renminbi, United States (“US") Dollars and Hong Kong Dollars. They
were mainly used to finance the purchases of the Group. The Group
maintained a balanced portfolio of bank borrowings at fixed interest rate

and variable rates to manage finance costs.

The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2011 (total borrowings
divided by total assets) was 32.2% (31 December 2010: 26.5%).

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and US dollars. The Group
has not experienced any material difficulties or effects on its operations
or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange rates during

the year
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEERE SR

The Group adopts centralised financing and treasury policies in order to
ensure the Group’s funding is utilised efficiently. Conservative approach is
adopted in monitoring foreign exchange exposure and interest rate risk.
Forward contracts were used to hedge the foreign currency exposure in

trading activities when it was considered appropriate.

The Group's liquidity position remains strong and the Group possesses
sufficient cash and available banking facilities to meet its commitments

and working capital requirements.

Capital Expenditure and Capital Commitments

In order to enhance production capacity, the Group invested
approximately HK$166.5 million during the vear ended 31 December
2011 (2010: HK$513.8 million) in the acquisition of new fixed assets.
These are mainly acquisition and deposits paid for buildings in Tianjin,

construction work as well as machineries for various plants in China.

As at 3| December 2011, the Group made capital expenditure
commitments of approximately HK$143.9 million (31 December 2010:
HK$318.2 million) which were contracted but not provided for in the
financial statements. These commitments were mainly related to the
acquisition of land use right in Jiangsu and the investment in an associate

in Tianjin.
Charges on Group Assets

As at 3| December 2011, the Group’s banking facilities were mainly
collateralised by certain bank deposits amounted to HK$1,334.0 million
(31 December 2010: HK$1,630.5 million), bills receivable amounted to
HK$1,500.3 million (31 December 2010: HK$449.4 million) and
inventories amounted to HK$534.5 million (31 December 2010:
HK$398.8 million). As at 31 December 2010, trade receivables amounted
to HK$53.5 million and certain land and buildings of the Group of
approximately HK$4.4 million were also pledged for the Group's banking
facilities, and none of these assets were pledged as at 3| December
2011.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HE&BH4ER (1K) BRAS

REREBESBUARER  A&ERA
FRUBREFHREK - WIARTREEZHN
ERMZRER AKEERSAERRL TR
AEBRENEHRZEHNINERR -

AKENRBDESHRRDARY - LEEE
FRURERATARTHERE - RABMA
EREEELSTE -

BFRAXREFRIE

BRAER AEFBEREBEE-_T——F+=
A=T—BLEFERENIG66EEL(ZF
—TF 5138EET) EBHEATEE - =
ZRBNREZEFT BRIBRBEZM
BEMERBE RERBE -

BE-_Z——F+ZA=+—H RUBR
ROFTAVE W R BE R AR BB AR SR
KNRI1ABET (ZE-FF+TA=1—
B 318288 T) - %ERET RS RIER
RITEHNLIERERRER —HXE B

HEFREEE

R-ZE——F+-F=+—0 KEERTT
BMEFZUATRITEHRIZMEET(ZF
—EF+-A=+—H :16.305EET) * JE
WEHE15.0038E T (CE—FFE+ A=+
—H D 4494E% ) - FEGL345EE T (=
Z-ZTF+-F=+—H :3.988EB L) E
KR -R_Z—ZTF+-_A=+—-HB €5
FEW K IEE, 3508 AT RASEE T i ki
FRMOBETLAAEERTRENER - M
R-E——F+-F=+—-RAYEEKAZS

>

1

% o



Foreign Exchange Risk Management

Most of the sales of the Group are settled in Renminbi, which is not
freely convertible into foreign currencies. The fluctuation of Renminbi
during the vyear did not have any adverse effect on the Group's results.
Besides, the Group will conduct periodic review of its exposure to
foreign exchange risk and may use financial instruments for hedging

purposes when considered appropriate.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010, the Group had no

material contingent liabilities.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a workforce of about 600
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and are
reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour market and
economic situation. The Group has adopted share option schemes
whereby employees of the Group are granted options to acquire shares

in the Company.

Good relationship has been maintained between the Group and its
employees. The Group also provides internal training to staff and pays out

bonuses based on staff performance and profits of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report
SEEARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company
believes that sound and good corporate governance practices are
essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and

maximizing shareholders’ interests.

The Company has followed the principles and complied with all
applicable code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix |4 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the
year ended 3| December 2011, save for the deviation from code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which is explained in the section
“CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER™ in this Corporate

Governance Report.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to
review its corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
they comply with the statutory requirements and the CG Code and align

with the latest developments.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions of the directors, senior management and relevant employees
(who, because of their office in the Group, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company or
its securities) of the Group (the "Own Code") on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)

as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

Having made specific equiry of all directors, all the members of the Board
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as
set out in the Model Code and the Own Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 201 1. No incident of non-compliance of the Own
Code during the year by the senior management and relevant employees

was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and role

The Board currently comprises seven directors, with three executive
directors, one non-executive director and three independent non-
executive directors, whose name and their biographical details are set
out in the section “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in this

annual report.

The Board has in its composition a balance of expertise, skills and
experience necessary for independent decision-making. The Company has
adopted the recommended best practice under the CG Code for the
Board to have at least one-third of its membership comprising
independent non-executive directors. The Board at all times during the
year met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with
at least one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Save that Ms. Lai Wun Yin is the spouse of Mr. Chun Chi Wai,
there are no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant

relationships among other members of the Board.

Each newly appointed director of the Company receives formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his / her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements. Directors are continually updated on the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and

professional development for directors will be arranged where necessary.
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The Board, with the assistance of the senior management, forms the core
management team of the Company. The Company has formalised and
adopted written terms on the division of functions reserved to the Board
and those delegated to the management. The Board has the overall
responsibility for formulating the business strategies and development
plan and making key decisions of the Group whereas the senior
management are responsible for the supervision and implementation of
the plans of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group's business

operations.

Independent non-executive directors

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive director of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers that all independent non-executive directors are independent
in character and judgment in accordance with the independence

guideline as set out in the Listing Rules.

Board meetings

Notice of regular board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings. For other board meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. Agenda setting out the matters to be discussed and the
relevant documents are sent out in full to all directors within reasonable

time before the meeting.

Draft minutes of each board meeting is circulated to the directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation. Minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept by the duly
appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and are available for
inspection by all directors at reasonable time. All directors have full
access to the board papers and related materials, and are provided with

adequate information on a timely manner.
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The Board members regularly meet to discuss the overall strategy as well
as the operational and financial performance of the Company. Other
Board meetings will be held when necessary. Such Board meetings involve
the active participation, either in person or through other electronic
means of communication, of a majority of directors. During the year

ended 31 December 2011, six full Board meetings were held and the

individual attendance records of each director is set out below:

Name of directors

EX48

Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Chun Chi Wai
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fung Ka Lun
(Group Finance Director and Group Vice President)
Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-executive Director
FHITESE
Ms. Lai Wun Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITEE

Mr. Chan Kam Hung

Mr. Leung Chong Shun

Mr.Yan Qi Ping

EEeR BT HRTEE IR BERE
RARFRIZEERMBRE -WBERE §
FROTEMEZEEH - RENEFHER
FYIANEMETRATABELTZEES
eg% NEE-_FT——%+-A=1+—H
TFEABAORNAZBETEER &S
HEBRAT

Attendance/
No. of meetings held
during the tenure

of directorship

HERE ESEHER

EOTNERREY

REBALE 6/6

(EEFRITHARE)

BEREE 6/6
(REUBFEEREEEBE)

ERERE (EERE) 6/6

REGEBRL 6/6

BRERIE A 6/6

ZelExE 6/6

BRTFEE 6/6
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.l of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not

be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Chun Chi Wai currently holds both the offices of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. The Board considers that the current
structure of vesting the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in
the same person will not impair the balance of power and authority
within the Board as all major decisions are made in consultation with
members of the Board as well as the senior management of the

Company.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in the same person provides the Company with strong
and consistent leadership and allows for effective and efficient planning

and implementation of business decisions and strategies.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of the service contracts of all the non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) are three years
commencing from 27 May 2010. All directors (including the executive
directors) are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years at the annual general meeting of the Company and are eligible for

re-election pursuant to the Company’s articles of association.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. As at the date of
this report, the remuneration committee comprises four members,
namely Mr. Leung Chong Shun (Chairman), Mr. Chun Chi Wai, Mr. Chan
Kam Hung and Mr.Yan Qi Ping, the majority of them are independent

non-executive directors.

The remuneration committee makes recommendations to the Board on
the Group's overall policy and structure for the remuneration packages
of the directors and the senior management. The remuneration
committee is also responsible for establishing formal and transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in

deciding his/her own remuneration.

The remuneration committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 201 | to review and approve the remuneration and bonus
package of the directors and the senior management, the employment
contracts of new senior staff and other related matters. In determining
the emolument payable to directors, the remuneration committee takes
into consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the directors and the desirability

of performance based remuneration.

The attendance records of the remuneration committee meetings are set

out below:

Name of committee members

ZEENERE

Mr. Leung Chong Shun (Chairman) RENELE (F/2)
Mr. Chun Chi Wai RERLE

Mr. Chan Kam Hung PR 83 4 5% &

Mr. Yan Qi Ping BT EE

FWEEE
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Attendance/

No. of meetings held
during the tenure

of directorship
HERY, EEEHA
ETHERRE

212
212
212
212

3 Annual Report 2011




24

Corporate Governance Report
%"" B &

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has not established a nomination committee during the
year ended 31 December 201 |.The Board as a whole is responsible for
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board by reference
to the business model of the Company and the market conditions, with a
view to appoint to the Board suitable candidates with relevant
experience and capabilities to maintain and improve the competitiveness

of the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the
proposed candidates, including the independence status in the case of
independent non-executive director, the Company's needs and other

relevant statutory requirements and regulations.

The appointment, re-election and removal of directors are governed by
the Company’s articles of association. Pursuant to the Company's articles
of association, any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting, whereas any
director appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election. In addition, at each annual general meeting of
the Company, one-third of the directors shall retire from office by
rotation and be eligible for re-election thereat, such that all directors
should be subject to retirement by rotation at annual general meetings at

least once every three years.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION AND REPORTING
RESPONSIBILITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the remuneration paid or to
be paid to Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s external
auditors, in respect of audit services rendered (including expenses and
out-of-pocket disbursements) were approximately HK$5,534,000 and in
respect of non-audit services for interim review and other services

rendered were approximately HK$1,000,000.

The statement of the Company’s external auditors regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2011 is set out in the section “Independent

Auditor's Report” in this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has been established with written terms of
reference based upon the code provisions and recommended practices
of the CG Code. As at the date of this report, the audit committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan
Kam Hung (Chairman), Mr. Leung Chong Shun and Mr Yan Qi Ping. The
Board considers that each of the audit committee members has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in legal,
business and accounting in the audit committee. The composition of the
audit committee complies with the requirements under Rule 3.2| of the
Listing Rules. None of the members of the audit committee is a former

partner of the Company's existing external auditors.
The main duties of the audit committee include the following:

* To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the external auditors before

submission to the Board.

* To review the relationship with the external auditors by reference to
the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of
engagement and make recommendations to the Board on the

appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors.

* To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system, risk management system

and the associated procedures.

The audit committee provides supervision on the internal control system
of the Group and reports to the Board on any material issues and makes

recommendations to the Board.

During the year, the audit committee has reviewed the Group's annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group's interim
results for the six months ended 30 June 201 [, the respective financial
reporting, risk management and compliance procedures, the report on
the Company's internal controls and processes and the independence,
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors. The
audit committee has also reviewed and was satisfied with the
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Group including the
adequacy of the resources, qualifications and experience of the
employees of the Group's accounting and financial reporting function, and

their training programmes and budget.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The audit committee held four meetings during the vear ended 3|

December 201 | and the attendance records are set out below:

ERZEBENEBE-TS——F+ZA=1+—
AEFERTOREGHE  HETHEMAT

E

Attendance/
No. of meetings held
during the tenure

of directorship

Name of committee members HERE EEEHR
EEEREHA BTHNEBRE
Mr. Chan Kam Hung (Chairman) BRE(UE L E (£E) 4/4
Mr. Leung Chong Shun 22l )8 %k & 4/4
Mr.Yan Qi Ping BT LA 4/4

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility for the system of internal control
of the Group. The Board is committed to implementing an effective and
sound internal control system to safeguard the interest of the
shareholders and the Group's assets. The Board has delegated to the
executive management the implementation of the system of internal
control and the review of all relevant financial, operational, compliance

and risk management functions within an established framework.

The Company has set up an internal audit department, which reports
directly to the audit committee. The audit committee, on an annual basis,
will assess the effectiveness of the system of internal control as well as
the internal audit department by examining the scope of the internal
audit work, its independence of areas reviewed and the internal auditor's
report. The audit committee is satisfied that the internal audit
department has adequate resources and appropriate standing within the

Company to undertake its activities independently and objectively.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements
for each financial year are prepared to reflect a true and fair view of the
state of affairs, profitability and cash flows of the Group in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules, Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance and the applicable accounting standards.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011. In
preparing the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 201 [, the directors have adopted appropriate and consistent
accounting policies and made prudent and reasonable judgments and
estimations. The directors are responsible for maintaining proper
accounting records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the state of
affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movements of the Group

at all time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Company endeavours to maintain good investor relationship with
the shareholders and potential investors by way of meeting them at
annual general meetings, publishing interim and annual reports on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and releasing timely

press releases on the Company's website.

The Company's website has set up as a means to provide information of
the Company to the shareholders and potential investors and to
communicate with them directly and effectively. Further, the Company’s
investor relations department is responsible for handling general public
relations and investor relations matters. Shareholders are also
encouraged to attend the Company’s annual general meetings and
general meetings for which notices are served for an adequate period in
accordance with the provisions of the Listing Rules and the Company's
articles of association. The directors and the Chief Financial Officer are

available to answer questions on the Group's business at the meetings.
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DIRECTORS

Our board of directors currently consists of seven members, including
three executive directors, one non-executive director and three

independent non-executive directors.

Executive Directors
Chun Chi Wai (&), aged 46

Mr. Chun was appointed as a director of the Company on |8 July 2007
and re-designated as an executive director on 28 May 2008. He is the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Chun is also
the sole shareholder and the director of Wellrun Limited, the substantial
and controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Chun serves as a
member of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company and is a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Chun co-founded the Group with his spouse Ms. Lai Wun Yin, non-
executive director of the Company, and is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business management. Mr. Chun has over |8 years
of experience in the business of scrap metal recycling and trading, port
operations and shipping, having served as general manager and executive
director of Whampoa Materials (Hong Kong) Company Limited from
1995 to 2000 and Guangzhou Zhujiang Steel Port Co., Ltd. from 2003 to
2006. He served as a director of the 33rd and the 35th term of the
board of directors of Yan Chai Hospital. From 2004 to 2006, he was a
committee member of the People’s Political Consultative Committee of
the Guangzhou Huang Pu District. Mr. Chun is currently a standing
committee member of the China Association of Metal Scrap Utilization

and a director of Guangzhou Zhujiang Steel Port Co., Ltd.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HE&BH4ER (1K) BRAS

EE

ARREFERRHLEKEAN  BE=
ZRTEF  —RAFUTESUR=RBY
FBTES -

=
pur
it

=

itk
Kl

=+
o

N

46

it

S EERZZE+FELATNBEZEAR
REMEE TR -_ZTZNFREA-T/H
BEARANRTES  BAAEELIRER
TBREE  TAARETERERBRETE
BERARDNE-BRERES - RELEBELR
AFMEEERIREEZEENE F URAR
RAZRNBLARIMES - TAEHERB
RU|BELT (RAFMFERTES) HFABIH
AEE BELBRBRIRERER %
TEEBESBERRES  BAOBERM
EBEBAEREEAI18FLER (BER—ANE
FE_TTTERAEHEDE (BB ARA
AMNBEERNTESRN TS =-FE
EERNFECENKHEGEERARNAL
BHEZ)  FEEACHEBREIZERESIS
EEEERE B -_ZTTWFE_TETX
F HBRAENTERRARBKAGEASEE
B -ZAr4dBaATEENEARRRERH
ZEREMGKMGEEEARARES -



Fung Ka Lun (5 % @), aged 37

Mr. Fung was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 8
June 2010 and also serves as the Group Finance Director and the Group
Vice President of the Group and is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and business management and corporate finance of the Group.
He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Fung
joined the Group in November 2009 and was the Corporate Finance
President and the Group Vice President. Mr. Fung graduated from the
Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine, the University of
London, with a Master of Science Degree in Finance. Mr. Fung has
extensive experience in corporate finance and financial management.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Fung was a director in the investment
banking division of UBS AG. Before joining the banking sector; Mr. Fung
worked in the audit division of KPMG.

Jiang Yan Zhang (ZE &), aged 57

Mr. Jiang was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 28
May 2008. He is also the Chief Operating Officer of the Group and is a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Jiang joined the
Group in December 2003 and is responsible for various aspects of the
Group’s overall operations such as production, procurement, quality
control, sales and marketing. Mr. Jiang has over 40 years of experience in
the business of metal production. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang
held various management positions in Guangdong Shaogang Company
Group from 1970 to 2003, including the manager of scrap steel
department and safety and environmental department. Mr. Jiang is
currently a director of Guangzhou Zhujiang Steel Port Co,, Ltd. Mr Jiang
received his Bachelor Degree in Philosophy from Zhongshan University in
1989 and a Master Degree in Business Administration from Macau
University of Science and Technology in 2003.

BE w375

HBEER_E—ZSFRNBEZEARAEAR

AMTESERETIASEEENKESRE
EREY  AEASEERBFIANELER
ROCEBEZ T - BEENRFARRF

LGIEIN TM%%oﬁﬁiﬁ_77h¢+
—AMAREE 2 EEADFCERELH
FEERAH BAEEENRAKRE
Imperial College of Science, Technology
and Medicine - SRR 2B T2 - FE
FECERMENMBERTEHERLEER
B MAKRAAR  BEELERTRTE
BISERITHESE - MARITER - BELAE

CRESHSHMEBMEZDERE -
EILE 575
ERAN_EENFEFRA-_TN\BEZTA
ARRHITES  FRILAEELERER
ARAZRMBRAANES - ELER-Z
E-E+_RANEBEALE BEASEEHER

XBLHENIE MEE RE Z8F
BloHERTSHEE ZERLHESBEER
BHAEEERAFER -EMBAERZ
Bl ZRECE-NETFE_TT=FH
ARERBHNESBEERARAELZEE
BERMN  EREMANMARTERRR
PIEE - ZEAEBMABRMKMBEERA
AEF - ZRER-NNANFEPLKRESE
BE+84 IRN-_TT=FERMAPEK
ETHEREBEIEN

3 Annual Report 2011

29




30

Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EERERERERE

Non-executive Director
Lai WunYin (BR12 B), aged 41

Ms. Lai was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 28
May 2008. She also serves as a member of the nomination committee of
the Company. Ms. Lai co-founded the Group with her spouse Mr. Chun
Chi Wai, executive director; chairman, chief executive officer and
substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company. Ms. Lai
completed secondary education and has over || years of experience in

financial and administrative management.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chan Kam Hung (Bf 22 7 ), aged 53

Mr. Chan was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 22 May 2009. Mr. Chan also serves as the chairman of the
audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chan has over 28 years of
auditing, accounting and corporate management experience and he held
senior corporate management positions in various multi-national
companies and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is currently an
executive director and chief operating officer of Road King Infrastructure
Limited (Stock code: 1098). Mr. Chan received a Bachelor of Economics
Degree from the University of Sydney in 1980. He is a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountant of Australia and a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Leung Chong Shun (R &/]E), aged 46

Mr. Leung was appointedas an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 22 May 2009. Mr. Leung also serves as the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Leung joined Woo, Kwan, Lee
& Lo, a law firm in Hong Kong since 1989 and became a partner of Woo,
Kwan, Lee & Lo since September [997. Mr. Leung has served as an
independent non-executive director of Lijun International Pharmaceutical
(Holding) Co., Ltd. (Stock code: 2005) since October 2005 and China
National Materials Company Limited (Stock code: 1893) since July 2007,
He was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of China
Communications Construction Company Limited (stock code: 1800) on
24 January 201 1. Mr. Leung received a Bachelor of Laws Degree in 1988
and the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in 1989 from the University of
Hong Kong. He was qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong and England &
Wales in 1991 and 1994 respectively.

Yan Qi Ping (B F), aged 66

Mr.Yan was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 8 June 2010. Mr.Yan also serves as the Chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the audit committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Yan is a senior steel
engineer and was the former secretary-general of the China Association
of Metal Scrap Utilization (7 Bl % &l &{ /& 3 #/ &), an industry
organisation that is responsible for the recycle industry in China. Mr.Yan
graduated from the Beijing Iron and Steel Institute (3t 7 8 &1 22 F7) (now
known as Beijing University of Science and Technology (3t R BHEE K &)
in the discipline of steel refining in 1970. He worked from 1970 to 2002
in Wuhan Iron and Steel Group Corporation (& #ff & & B 2 7]) and
served as manager of metal resources company and head of the
corporate scrap metal department. He was the secretary-general of the
China Association of Metal Scrap Utilization from 2002 until May 2010.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Below is the biography of each of our key management members:

Lam Po Kei Kenneth Greg (7R & £ ), aged 45

Mr. Lam, joined our Group in 2007, is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Group and the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Lam also serves
as a director of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Lam is responsible for
supervising financing and accounting matters of the Group. Mr. Lam has
over 22 years of experience in accounting and financial management. Mr.
Lam holds a Master of Business Administration Degree jointly awarded by
the University of Wales and University of Manchester. Mr. Lam is a
qualified Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of the

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ma Xian Ming (S5 BEBR), aged 4|

Mr. Ma, joined our Group in 2009, is the general manager of the ferrous
metal department of Ferrous Scrap Division in Shanghai Region. Mr. Ma is
responsible for overseeing the overall operations of the ferrous business
of the Group. Mr. Ma has over |6 years of experience in the industry. Mr.
Ma holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from Macau
University of Science and Technology and the designation of senior
economist in the PRC. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma was the senior
manager of sales and marketing department of Baosteel Resources

Company Ltd.
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Cao Tie Cheng (& # %), aged 66

Mr. Cao, joined our Group in 2010, is the president of our Group in the
Northern China region. Mr. Cao is responsible for strategic planning of
operational development in the Northern China and overseeing the
management and operations of the region. Mr. Cao graduated from the
Correspondence Institute of the Party School of Central Committee of
the Communist Party of China in the discipline of business, financial and
enterprise management. Mr. Cao has over 45 vyears of experience in the
business of metal production. Mr. Cao served as the general manager
assistant and economist of Tianjin Metallurgy Group (Holdings) Limited (

KEMEEEE (BER) BR A A from 1997 to 2004. Before joining
the Group, Mr. Cao held various management positions in Tianjin
Guoneng Investment Co., Ltd (REBEEREFR 2 A)

director, general manager and senior consultant.

, including

Wang Yu Zhang (£ E %), aged 46

Mr. Wang, joined our Group in 2003, is the general manager of a major
subsidiary of the Company in Guangzhou. Mr. Wang is responsible for
overseeing the management and operations of the subsidiary. Mr. Wang
graduated from Guangxi University with a Bachelor Degree in Machinery
Manufacturing and Design and holds the designation of intermediate
economist in the PRC. Mr. Wang has over 18 vyears of experience in the

administrative management and project investment.

Liang Jian Xiong (R %), aged 50

Mr. Liang, joined our Group in 2006, is the general manager of a
subsidiary of the Company in Tianjin. Mr. Liang is responsible for
overseeing its management and operations of the subsidiary. Mr. Liang has
over |8 years of experience in operations and financial management.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liang was the vice general manager and
financial controller of Shenzhen Guangnan Investment and Development

Company Limited.
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Wang Jin Tu (£ 7 &), aged 42

Mr.Wang, joined our Group in 2002, is the president of our Group in the
Central China region. Mr. Wang is responsible for strategic planning of
operational development in the Central China and overseeing the
management and operations of the region. Mr. Wang graduated from
South China Normal University and holds a Master of Business
Administration Degree from Macau University of Science and Technology.
Mr.Wang has over 10 years of experience in the industry of scrap steel
and served in senior management positions in the industry for the period.
He has extensive experience in the operation and management of scrap

metal industry.

Wu Han Ming (% 3), aged 50

Mr. Wu, joined our Group in 2009, is the general manager of corporate
financing department in the PRC region. Mr. Wu is responsible for the
strategic planning and business management and corporate finance in the
PRC region. Mr.Wu has more than 30 years of experience in the field of
banking and financing industry. Mr. Wu graduated from Guangdong
Provincial Party School, majoring in financial management. Before joining
the Group, MrWu held senior positions with various financial institutions
in the PRC. Mr.Wu was formerly the general manager of sales division of

The Guangzhou Rural Commercial Bank.

Zhang Guang Chao (5K JE#8), aged 48

Mr. Zhang, joined our Group in 2010, is the general manager of cash
management center of corporate financing department in the PRC
region. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the cash management and corporate
finance in the PRC region. Mr. Zhang has more than 28 years of
experience in the field of banking and financing industry. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Guangdong Polytechnic Normal University, majoring in
accounting and holds the designation of economist in the PRC. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Zhang held senior positions with various financial
institutions in the PRC. Mr. Zhang was formerly the general manager of
cash management division of The Rural Credit Cooperatives of
Guangzhou and vice president of Baiyun branch of Guangzhou Rural

Commercial Bank.
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Directors’ Report

EFERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 201 I

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries and associates are set out in note 41 to the

consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2011, our largest customer accounted for 10% (2010: 25%) of the total
revenue. The five largest customers comprised 41% (2010: 62%) of our

total revenue.

In 2011, our largest supplier accounted for 10% (2010: 13%) of the total
purchases. The five largest suppliers comprised 37% (2010: 43%) of our

total purchases.

At no time during the year did a director, an associate of a director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in

any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income on page 54.

No interim dividend was declared for the year. A final dividend of HK32
cents per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 201 | payable
to the shareholders whose names appeared on the register of members
of the Company on Thursday, 7 June 2012 has been recommended by
the board of directors (the “Proposed Final Dividend"). The Proposed
Final Dividend will be paid in cash, with an option to elect to receive
newly issued fully paid shares of the Company in lieu of all or part of the
cash dividend (the"Scrip Dividend Scheme”).
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The Scrip Dividend Scheme will be conditional upon (i) shareholders’
approval of the Proposed Final Dividend at the Company's forthcoming
annual general meeting (the “2012 AGM") to be held on Wednesday, 30
May 2012; and (ii) the Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) granting approval for the
listing of and permission to deal in the new shares to be allotted
thereunder. Full details of the Scrip Dividend Scheme will be set out in a
circular, which will be sent to shareholders of the Company together with

a form of election soon.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2012 AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 28
May 2012 to Wednesday, 30 May 2012, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the 2012 AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by
the relevant share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged with
the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road East,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 25 May 2012.

For determining the entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 5 June
2012 to Thursday, 7 June 2012, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the Proposed
Final Dividend, all transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged with the Company's
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 4 June 2012.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group had additions of HK$49,903,000 to property,
plant and equipment to expand and upgrade the Group's production

facilities.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note |5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company's reserves available for distribution to shareholders,
including the share premium account, capital reserve and retained profits,
amounted to approximately HK$2,502 million as at 31 December 201 I

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum
and articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with the
Company's articles of association, dividends shall be distributed out of
the retained profits or other reserves, including the share premium

account and capital reserve, of the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in share capital of the Company

are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chun Chi Wai (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fung Ka Lun (Group Finance Director and Group Vice President)
Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-executive Director:

Ms. Lai Wun Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Kam Hung
Mr. Leung Chong Shun
Mr.Yan Qi Ping

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Company's articles of association,
Mr. Chun Chi Wai, Ms. Lai Wun Yin and Mr. Chan Kam Hung shall retire
from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than

statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests of the directors of the Company
and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations, as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
contained in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange (the “Listing Rules"), were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares of the Company:

Name of director Capacity
EEns 56
Mr. Chun Chi Wai Interest of controlled corporation (note)
REBELE REshEEE s (M)
Beneficial owner
EREAA
Ms. Lai Wun Yin Interest of spouse (note)
REBELL Ao (M)

EERKRG - ARG RES

B =

RZE——H+_A=+—H £KRAES
RREZHEALNARAREHABEEN
Bin - MERODRESTHRELAARRER
R HEGRN ([EHRBEHEH) E352157F
EMERMEE  IRBHRAESFLTR
BI(TEmARRD) A L RRAEFETES
RHWZRESTA (FETH]) MAE A AT
BB ESNT

() ARBEBROWOER

Percentage of
the issued

Number of  share capital

issued of the
ordinary Company
shares held NN
eI 28T
ZREREE BRABSD L
584,050,381 51.20%
1,089,000 0.10%
585,139,381 51.30%

Note: Mr. Chun ChiWai is deemed to be interested in 584,050,381 ordinary
shares held by Wellrun Limited (“Wellrun”) as the sole beneficial
owner of Wellrun. Ms. Lai Wun Yin is the spouse of Mr. Chun Chi Wai
and is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Mr. Chun Chi
Wai.
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R

EEE:

(i) Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company:

(i) ARBEBRONER

Percentage
Number of of the issued
options/ share capital of
underlying the Company
shares held WY
Name of director Capacity FisBRE,/ Exercisable period =5
- 5% HBERHHE (3 e N=R
Mr. Chun Chi Wai Beneficial owner 1,930,502 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
RERLE EREAA —Z-TFRAZTCH
E-E—tFXATNR
Beneficial owner 1,930,502 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
EREAA —T——%R AZ+=H
“E—tFXATN\R
Beneficial owner 1,930,502 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
EREAA T-_#XAZt+=H
D _K*‘ti/\ﬂ +/\B
Interest of spouse (note) 643,500 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
BB () —“E-TFEXNAZTCH
“E—tFXATN\R
Interest of spouse (note) 643,501 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
e fEm e (M aE) “E——fXA-t=H
E-E—tFXATNR
Interest of spouse (note) 643,501 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
BB (M) —“E-—%#RXA-T=H
“E—tFXATNR
7,722,008 0.69%
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Percentage

Number of of the issued
options/ share capital of
underlying the Company
shares held w NN
Name of director Capacity FisBRE, Exercisable period =%
Exps 54 HERGHE TR REBAH
Mr. Fung Ka Lun Beneficial owner [,144,164 | November 2010- 0.10%
BERTE BREAA 23 December 2017
—Z-EF+-A—H
E-_Z—tF+t-RAZ-T=H
Beneficial owner 144,165 | November 201 | - 0.10%
BREAA 23 December 2017
—E——%+-A—H
E-_Z—tF+t-RAZ-T=H
Beneficial owner 144,165 | November 2012 - 0.10%
BREAA 23 December 2017
—E-—%t+—-A—H
E-_Z—tF+t-RAZ-T=H
3,432,494 0.30%
Mr. Jiang Yan Zhang Beneficial owner 514,801 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.05%
ZxELE ExBEAA —E-—FXAZ+=H
E_ZT—+FXATNRE
Beneficial owner 514,801 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.05%
ERBEAA —E-—FXAZT=H
E_T—+tFRATNRE
1,029,602 0.10%
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Percentage

Number of of the issued

options/ share capital of

underlying the Company

shares held Wi

Name of director Capacity FisBRE,/ Exercisable period =5

- 54 HERGHE TS BRAE D

Ms. Lai Wun Yin Beneficial owner 643,500 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
RIMEL L EBBA —T-FFANAZ1ZH
E_Z—+tFRATNR

Beneficial owner 643,501 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
ERBEAA —E-——%X AZ+=H
E_E—+FRATNH

Beneficial owner 643,501 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.06%
EBBA —E-_FRAZT=H
E_Z—+tFRATNR

Interest of spouse (note) 1,930,502 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
B EEs () —T-FFXAZ+ZH
E_E—+FRATNH

Interest of spouse (note) 1,930,502 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
B e (Mat) “T-——%R"RZt=H
E_Z—+tFRATNR

Interest of spouse (note) 1,930,502 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.17%
B EEs () —ET-"FXAZ+=H
E_E—+FERATNH

7,722,008 0.69%

Mr. Chan Kam Hung Beneficial owner 128,700 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
R LET TN —2-2FRA=t=A
E_Z—+FXRATNR

Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
ERBEAA —E——%XAZ+=H
E_T—+tFRATNR

Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
EnfBA “E--“FRXA-t=H
E_Z—+FXRATNR

386,100 0.03%
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Percentage

Number of of the issued
options/ share capital of
underlying the Company
shares held w NN
Name of director Capacity FisBRE, Exercisable period =%
Exps 54 HERGHE TR REBEDH
Mr. Leung Chong Shun Beneficial owner 128,700 22 June 2010 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
288 5 & EXBEAA “ET-EFRAZTZH
E_Z—+FXATNRE
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2011 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
ERBEAA —E-——FXAZT=H
E_E—+FRATNH
Beneficial owner 128,700 23 June 2012 - 18 June 2017 0.01%
EXBEAA —E-_FRXAZ+=H
E_Z—+FXATNRE
386,100 0.03%
Mr.Yan Qi Ping Beneficial owner 128,700 8 June 2011 - 7 June 2018 0.01%
BT EE ERBEAA “E-—%XANR
E_T-N\FRALA
Beneficial owner 128,700 8 June 2012 - 7 June 2018 0.01%
E5EAA —E--—#XAN\R
E-Z-N\FRALA
Beneficial owner 128,700 8 June 2013 - 7 June 2018 0.01%
ERBEAA —E-=FXANH
E_ZT-N\FRALA
386,100 0.03%

Note: Mr. Chun Chi Wai and Ms. Lai Wun Yin are husband and wife and

therefore are deemed to be interested in the options held by each

other.
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(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of associated

corporation of the Company:

Name of
associated
Name of director Capacity corporation
EEns 514 HBEEEM
Mr. Chun Chi Wai Beneficial owner (note) Wellrun
RSB A ExnfkA A (M) 4 &

(iii) A5 22 @) AR B OA B B0 K AR B B4 A 4F

B
Percentage
Number of of the issued
issued share capital
ordinary of the associated
shares held corporation

e #T EREZEE
EER#E BOTRABEOH

| 100%

Note: As Wellrun owns more than 50% interest of the Company, Wellrun is
an associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. Wellrun is
also a controlled corporation of Mr. Chun Chi Wai under the SFO.
The entire issued share capital of Wellrun is owned by Mr. Chun Chi
Wai, who is director of the Company and the sole director of

Wellrun.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors of the Company
nor their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated

corporations as at 31 December 201 1.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2011, the register of substantial shareholders

FERE
R=F——F+=A=+-0  BRLEXAH

maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows  BZETEZ (RENAXTERE) B

that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain  &ZAZR
directors who are also substantial shareholders of the Company, the B3

following shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests or

short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company.

Name of shareholder

BRR% A

Paul G. Desmarais

Nordex Inc.

Gelco Enterprises Ltd.

Power Corporation of Canada

Power Financial Corporation

IGM Financial Inc.

Norges Bank

JPMorgan Chase & Co.

Atlantis Capital Holdings
Limited

Ms. Liu Yang

BlR2t

Capacity
5%

Interest of controlled corporations (note i)

Rt EE s (W)

Interest of controlled corporations (note i)

Rt EE s (W)

Interest of controlled corporations (note i)

Rt EE s (W)

Interest of controlled corporations (note i)

Rt EE s (W)

Interest of controlled corporations (note i)

Rt EE s (W)

Interest of controlled corporations (note i)

Rt EE s (W)

Beneficial owner

BB A

Interest of controlled corporations (note ii)
A E R (P EE ()

Custodian (note ii)

s & (P (i)

Interest of controlled corporations (note iii)
7 % B A = (P 3R (i)

Interest of controlled corporations (note iii)

) B (BT EEGil)

EARR
FIAR

AREE 7 R H S (R 63361517 B 1)
REM - THBRREHE
)2 B in SR B R0 o R B MO AR R

Number of Percentage

issued of the issued

ordinary  share capital

shares held of the Company

FEe®fT GHARRACHT

EBRHE BRABZ L
79,994,800 7.02%
79,994,800 7.02%
79,994,800 7.02%
79,994,880 7.02%
79,994,800 7.02%
79,994,800 7.02%
68,638,400 6.02%

29,400 0.00%
68,470,503 6.00%
59,876,800 5.25%
59,876,800 5.25%

ARBWF
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Notes:

According to the disclosure of interest notices filed by Paul G. Desmarais,
Nordex Inc., Gelco Enterprises Ltd., Power Corporation of Canada, Power
Financial Corporation and IGM Financial Inc., each of these companies and
Paul G. Desmarais was deemed to be interested in 79,994,800 shares of the
Company. Among these 79,994,800 shares, 3,250,000 shares were directly
held by Mackenzie Financial Capital Corporation. Mackenzie Financial Capital
Corporation was a wholly owned subsidiary of Mackenzie Financial
Corporation. Mackenzie Financial Corporation was a wholly owned
subsidiary of Mackenzie Inc. which was, in turn, a wholly owned subsidiary of
IGM Financial Inc. of which Power Financial Corporation held approximately
57.35% shareholding interest. 171263 Canada Inc., a wholly owned
subsidiary of Power Corporation of Canada, owned approximately 66.08%
shareholding interest in Power Financial Corporation. Gelco Enterprises Ltd.
owned approximately 53.62% voting shareholding interest in Power
Corporation of Canada. Nordex Inc., a company which was owned as to
68.00% by Paul G. Desmarais, owned approximately 94.95% shareholding

interest in Gelco Enterprises Ltd..

According to the disclosure of interest notices filed by JPMorgan Chase &
Co., this company was deemed to be interested in 68,499,903 shares of the
Company. Among these 68,499,903 shares, JPMorgan Chase & Co. had
interests in 29,400 shares as beneficial owner and in 68,470,503 shares as a
custodian corporation/approved lending agent, which 68,470,503 shares

were held in the lending pool.

According to the disclosure of interest notices filed by Ms. Liu Yang and
Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited, they were deemed to be interested in
59,876,800 shares of the Company, which Ms. Liu Yang owned 100%
shareholding interest in Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited.
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Fr

& % Paul G. Desmarais * Nordex Inc. * Gelco
Enterprises Ltd.* Power Corporation of
Canada * Power Financial Corporationf IGM
Financial Inc. ¥ &M B BB A - Paul G.
Desmarais 2 #% % 2 Bl 1% & %5 79,994,800
RRAS D AR5 4 %5 o % 5%79,994,8008% A%
R+ 3,250,0000% % 13 f3 Mackenzie Financial
Capital CorporationE # #% A ° Mackenzie
Financial Capital Corporation/& Mackenzie
Financial Corporation®) & & [ 8 2 & ©
Mackenzie Corporation /&
InctW 2EMBEA2R - M
Mackenzie Inc.&IGM Financial Inc.#) 2 & [
B 2~ 7] © IGM Financial
Financial Corporationf§ B #]57.35% % f% #&
@ ° 171263
Corporation of Canadaf) 2 &M B A7 - R
Power Financial Corporation™ # & 4766.08%
R #E %5 © Gelco Enterprises Ltd. 7 Power
Corporation of Canada™ # A #)53.62%1% &
= % # % ° Nordex Inc.Jy — XK B Paul G.
Desmaraisi# A 68.00%# 2 7] © £ K Gelco
Enterprises Ltd. R # B #194.95% R i %= ©

Financial

Mackenzie

Inc.Bll B Power

Canada Inc.A Power

1R #% JPMorgan Chase & Co. fF gt W &
WA %A ERIR A 68,499,903 AR A
R # & o B % 68,499,903 & 3 #
JPMorgan Chase & Co.E 25 % & 29,400/% %
NRERIEATEAR/REELREARZE
68,470,503[% 17 + T 7% 68,470,503 13 T {&
AAHELROES -

18 #% 2| ® 22 + 2 Atlantis Capital Holdings
Limited FIEM A RBEBRA  REWEAHE
59,876,800 AR B fntER - MEIRZ T
# B Atlantis Capital Holdings Limited#J
100%E M fE# o



Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as at 3|1 December 201 1.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note

38 to the consolidated financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the option holdings disclosed above, at no time during the
year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures

of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions™ in
this report and note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, no
contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 10 June 2009
issued in connection with its initial public offerings on the Stock
Exchange, none of the directors hold any interests in any competing
business against the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 201 1.

BRENPREEN R_T——F+ZR=
TR ARBALEERMEEBARARMN
FABAR DO EMEMERIAR

R

KRR ERESEFEHA RV HRERN
5138 e

BERBIRSFzZH

BREXEBBREZEREN  REREME
- ARE - HERARSEEMNMNERQF
BELEMRE  BEARR CESARE
BARRRSEMEMEIABREZROKIE
FmEs o

EFREXEGHZHER

BRAREFERS | —BREEMHERN
AT BEEN  REEAREFRNEAE
- AAE - HERARSEEMNER A
MEIUEENAARESERIRERES
BEARREZEREN -

EENRERBZ2HER

BARBRAER-_ZTZAFAATHEBRR
FFERAABETNENARERMKES
S BE-T-——F+-_A=1+—-RALF
B SEBEEERERQAIEEMWHEA R
BHEOEBPREELMES -

3 Annual Report 2011

47




48

Directors’ Report
ESESRE

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Chun Chi Wai and Wellrun, in respect of their
compliance with the non-competition undertaking during the year ended
31 December 2011. The independent non-executive directors have
reviewed the said undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Chun Chi Wai
and Wellrun have complied with the non-competition undertaking during

the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions during the year are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements. Certain of those connected
transactions also constitute continuing connected transactions of the

Group within the meaning of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have been

entered into by the Group:
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable

than terms available to or from independent third parties; and

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreement governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

During the vear, in the opinion of the directors, the Company has
followed the principles and complied with all applicable code provisions
under the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code") as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, save for the deviation from
code provision A.2.l of the CG Code. The Company's corporate
governance report for the year under review is set out in pages |8 to 27

of the annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE OF
THE LISTING RULES

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions of the directors, senior management and relevant employees
(who, because of their office in the Group, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company or
its securities) of the Group (the "Own Code”) on terms no less exacting

than the required standard of dealings set out in the Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry with all directors of the Company, all the
directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code and the Own Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 201 1. No incident of non-compliance of
the Own Code during the year by the senior management and relevant

employees was noted by the Company.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the three independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
senior management of the Group based on their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating

results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted two share option schemes as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of these schemes are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
HK$1,020,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing

shareholders of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a

sufficient public float as at the date of this report.
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chun Chi Wai
CHAIRMAN
27 March 2012
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Independent Auditor’s Report

3%_1.1‘?%[%#&*

Deloitte.
=3

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA METAL
RECYCLING (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Metal
Recycling (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group’) set out on pages 54 to 187,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 3|
December 2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free

from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 201 [, and of
the Group'’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GEXEWER

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

2011 2010
—E-——F —T-FF
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
P =E FET TR
Revenue Uy & 7 52,140,520 22,508,182
Cost of sales i & B AR (50,057,188) (21,272,828)
Gross profit EH 2,083,332 1,235,354
Other income and gains H g A R 8 109,584 65,655
Distribution and selling expenses DI RIHER X (49,406) (8,597)
Administrative expenses THRX (257,382) (182,832)
Net gain (loss) on derivative TEEMITAKR
financial instruments (E1#8) #8 338,123 (77,534)
Finance costs B E AR 9 (253,901) (95,289)
Share of loss of associates JELE & AR 18 (5,765) (1,534)
Gain on deregistration/disposal e
of subsidiaries = PNIE & 34 198 9,278
Profit before taxation BR Bt B % R 1,964,783 944501
Income tax expense PR < 10 (92,189) (52,598)
Profit for the year FREF Il 1,872,594 891,903
Other comprehensive income Hit 2wk
Exchange differences arising MEREER
on translation bE N = 2R
— subsidiaries — B AF 74,461 48,80
— associates il A /N-] 18 2,223 1,046
Reclassification of other comprehensive R,/ H &M B R 7)1&
income upon deregistration/ BEfoBHM2ENE
disposal of subsidiaries (198) (307)
Other comprehensive income FREMZE KR
for the year 76,486 49,540
Total comprehensive income FREERZAHE
for the year 1,949,080 941,443
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2011 2010
—E2——-fF —T-FF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
it = FET TET
Profit for the year UTREEEER
attributable to: A
Owners of the Company ZN/NETE? 2N 1,861,939 886,562
Non-controlling interests R ER 10,655 5341
1,872,594 891,903
Total comprehensive income UTEEEEFR
for the year attributable to: PEHWNHAE
Owners of the Company ARAIEB A 1,935,503 933,115
Non-controlling interests JEE R & 13,577 8,328
1,949,080 941,443
HK$ HK$
b ¥ E T
Earnings per share BRER 14
~ basic — &R 1.63 0.85
~ diluted - 8 1.62 0.84
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

GaMBRAR

At 31 December 201 |
R-ZF-——F+ZA=+—H

2011 2010
—E2——fF —ZE-ZF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B = FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBDEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BFEREE I5 454,205 426,817
Investment properties REME 16 = 638
Prepaid lease payments - BERNHEER
non-current portion —SEENERED 17 199,938 194,631
Interests in associates PR & 1N B B B 18 304,586 96,625
Deposits paid for acquisition of WEME  BE
property, plant and equipment REHEHENES 108,266 18,281
Deposits paid for land use rights T EREE MRS 137,026 129,072
Fixed deposits E B TE K 19 60,976 —
1,264,997 867,064
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 20 2,640,496 [,747,136
Trade and other receivables B 5 RHMmEKRE
and deposits ke 21 8,042,864 7,347,811
Bills receivable BUEE 0 2,303,746 717,160
Prepaid lease payments - ENHEER
current portion — BIHE S 17 10,243 9,733
Deposits paid to a related party XN —REEALTHRS 23 264 120
Amount due from an associate JE Uy — I Bt = 2 R 5R0B 18 36,585 —
Derivative financial instruments MTEEBIT A 24 94,480 66,745
Tax recoverable o] U B 718 3,342 3,888
Pledged bank deposits BEERRITER 25 1,334,043 ,630,54
Restricted deposits R & fF R 19 220,635 251,972
Fixed deposits TEHER 19 109,817 —
Bank balances and cash ROEBLERSE 19 1,518,945 1,088,536
16,315,460 12,863,642
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2011 2010
—E-——F —E-TfF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i 2 FHET FET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables B REMEMNZRIEA 26 2,841,311 4,171,503
Bills payable e 2% 26 2,418,230 1,109,965
Amounts due to non-controlling FEAT T B A A
shareholders of subsidiaries FE15 IR AR R KR 27 23,911 1,960
Amount due to an associate J& 5 — Bt & 1 R 5RIR 18 28,080 —
Discounted bills BRRRE 28 986,593 320,588
Derivative financial instruments TEemIT A 24 86,663 134,837
Bank borrowings RIT B 29 4,300,320 2,960,962
Tax payable ENTIE 68,222 49,578
10,753,330 8,749,393
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 5,562,130 4,114,249
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHAER
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE 6,827,127 4981313
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES E(RBEE
Bank borrowings RIT AR 29 365,854 352,941
Other long-term payable H i & B FE 4 3018 31 — 235
365,854 353,176
NET ASSETS EEFAE 6,461,273 4,628,137
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRRE
Share capital L& 32 114 I14
Reserves [ 6,351,838 4,556,720
Equity attributable to owners ARAERA
of the Company G = 6,351,952 4,556,834
Non-controlling interests FEE R 109,321 71,303
TOTAL EQUITY MR 6,461,273 4,628,137

The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to |87 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2012 and
are signed on its behalf by:

EZgCR T _HF=A-tTtR#LEY
RETZEHNFE4EEF18TANGANE
WE - ARTINESRRAQAEE

DIRECTOR
EF

DIRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEERZHR

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREAAER
Share Non-
options controlling
Share  Share  Capital ~ Other Exchange reserve Retained interests
capital premium reserve reserve reserve ERE  profits  Total FER  Total
Rx RoRE &4R% HeRE EXRE  BE REEN 4% 0 BE 4
HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Tér TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr  TErn  TEn
At | January 2010 R-Z-25-A-H 105 1918780 161,370 — 3317 510 878289 3009981 79834 3089815
Profit for the year ERET — - - - - — 88656 886562 5341 891903
Exchange differences arising HERELR
on translation EiER
- subsicaries -HERE — - - — 45814 - — 4814 2987 48801
- an associate -BERA — - - - 1,046 - - 1,046 - 1,046
Reclassification of other REE-RNEAAR
comprehensive income upon EEipE Sl
disposal of a subsidiary = = = = (307) = = (307) (307)
Other comprehensive income £t 2 E G = = = — 4553 = — 46553 2987 49540
Total comprehensive income ERZENALE
for the year — — — — 46533 — 886562 9IS 8328 941443
lssue of new shares TR 9 706491 = = = = — 706500 — 706500
Cost of issue of new shares EHRRE — (I51%) ~ ~ ~ - - (151%) (15,126)
Recognition of equity-settled ANERES
share-based payments DU USGER: — — — — — 34761 — 34761 34761
Exercise of share options TRERE = 16,000 — — — (4218) — 1,782 — 1,782
Acquisition of a WE-RHBAA
subsidiary (note 33) (Hi3£33) - = = = = = - - 807 807
Acquisition of additional YE-RRBERRN
Interest in a subsidiary BiMER - - - (379) 1600 = = 20 (12182)  (109])
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RNBAR
(note 34) (Bi&34) = = = - = = - —  (55M) (55M)
Capital contribution from a —ANBAA
non-controlling shareholder FERRENLE
of a subsidiary — — — — — — — — 40 40
Dividend recognised ERRAARZIRE
as distribution (note 13) (Bz13) - - = = = —  (125400) (125400) (125400)
At 31 December 2010 RZE-FETZAZT-H 114 266145 161370 (379) 84470 45663 1639451 4556834 71303 4628137
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Attributable to owners of the Company

ADARRARLE
Share Non-
options controlling
Share  Share  Capital  Other Exchange reserve Retained interests
capital premium reserve reserve reserve  ERE  profits  Total FER  Total
Rx RoRE &4ARG HeRE EXGE  BE REEN 4% BE  4F
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000
Tér TEr TEx TEr TEr TEr TEr  TEr  TErn  TEn
At | January 201 RZZ-—£-f-H [14 2626145 161370 (379) 84470 45663 1639451 4556834 71303 4628137
Profit for the year ERET - - - - = — 1861939 1861939 10655 187259
Exchange differences arisngon R E T
translation EiZR
- subsicaries -HEAH - - - — IS - — NN Al
- associates -BEDE — - - - ; - - 1m ik
Reclassification of other R H-RNBAA%
comprefensive income upon ENAREBZANE
deregistration of a subsidiary = = = = (198) = = (198) = (198)
Other comprehensive income ~~ Ef1 2 E % - - - — 73564 - — B4 29 74486
Total comprehensive income ERZENALE
for the year — — — — 73564 — 1861939 1935503 13577 1,949,080
Recognition of equity-settled BRAAERER
share-based payments IR % R3008 - = = = — B — B — B
Exercise of share options TRERE — 25850 = = — (7,008) — 18,842 — 18,842
Capital contribution from WERAEAR
non-controlling shareholders RRELE
of subsidiaries = = = = = = = 24.44| 24.44|
Dividend recognised ERARNRLRE
as distribution (note 13) (Rt13) - - = = = —  (182:303) (182303) —  (182303)
At 31 December 2011 REE-—F+ZA=+-B 114 2,651,995 161,370 (379) 158,034 61,731 3,319,087 6,351,952 109,321 6,461,273
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEEREHR

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

The capital reserve of the Group represents the aggregate of:

(i) the reserve of HK$120,81 1,000 arising on the acquisition of the
remaining 48% equity interest in a subsidiary of the Company, Asia
Steel (Holdings) Limited, from a non-controlling shareholder by Mr.
Chun Chi Wai (“Mr. Chun"), the founder shareholder of the
Company in June 2007 and representing the unaudited consolidated
net assets value of Asia Steel (Holdings) Limited attributable to the
non-controlling shareholder as at 30 June 2007 reclassified from non-

controlling interests as deemed contribution by Mr. Chun; and

(i) the difference between the nominal value of the aggregate share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company upon the group
reorganisation in 2006 and the nominal value of the Company's
shares issued in exchange of HK$40,559,000.

In December 2010, the Group acquired additional interest of 9.615% in a
subsidiary, namely Tianjin Yatong Steel Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Yatong”) at a
consideration of HK$10,961,000. After this transaction, Tianjin Yatong
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The difference between
the consideration and the carrying amount of non-controlling interests,
amounting to HK$ 1,221,000, was recognised as an equity transaction in
other reserve and exchange reserve in the year ended 3| December
2010.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A N =1
GRBEERER
For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

2011 2010
= —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEY
Profit before taxation BR B A1 A 1,964,783 944,501
Adjustments for: R
Allowance for inventories FERE 231,000 —
Amortisation of prepaid FEN & B 8
lease payments 10,131 6518
Depreciation of property, ME  BERRETE
plant and equipment 37,439 25,153
Depreciation of REMEFE
investment properties 6 38
Finance costs AR A 253,901 95,289
Gain on deregistration/ i HE
disposal of subsidiaries (iEINGI R (198) (9,278)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMER
properties and prepaid B HE R =
lease payments (12,964) (198)
Loss (gain) on disposal/ HE/MEmE -
written-off of property, B K&
plant and equipment B () 688 (508)
Interest income ) B A (31,531) (18,163)
Net (gain) loss on derivative TEEB T A (W)
financial instruments B (338,123) 77,534
Share-based payment expenses PARR 9 1~ 3R 2 23,076 34,761
Share of loss of associates JE {5 B 22 2 B 5 18 5,765 | 534
Operating cash flows before LEEREEHAN
movements in working capital REBRERE 2,143,973 1,157,181
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,124,360) (1,024,807)
Increase in trade and other 85 REMERTIE
receivables and deposits KizeEmn (695,053) (4,838,092)
Increase in bills receivable JE U S 4% 42 A (1,586,586) (469,093)
Deposit paid to a related party BN —f@khRE (144) =
Net movement in derivative TESRIAEZE TR
financial instruments 262,214 (34,646)
(Decrease) increase in trade B 5 KEH b e 3R
and other payables CRA) & (1,323,003) 3,193,189
Increase in bills payable JE AT AR IE A 1,308,265 1,109,965
Cash used in operations REXBBHANER (1,014,694) (906,303)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ENFBECERER (76,053) (31,980)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded REF B PEMEH 3,054 —
NET CASH USED IN REXBDAMN
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReFHE (1,087,693) (938,283)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A N~ —F
GEBEERER
For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

2011 2010
—E-——F —F—FF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 3 FET TR
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Capital injection to an associate m—EBE A EEE (211,503) —
Placement of fixed deposits FE BHER (170,793) —
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEVE BE
property, plant and equipment RRBEHENES (90,695) (16,088)
Purchase of property, BEWE BEREE
plant and equipment (49,193) (95,750)
Advance to an associate BRT—EEE AR (36,585) —
Deposits paid for land use rights THERENE MRS (14,458) (120,357)
Payment for land use rights LR AN K (12,154) (30,390)
Decrease (increase) in EERBITER
pledged bank deposits B () 296,498 (1,420,165)
Interest received B H B 31,531 18,163
Decrease (increase) in XEHRITER
restricted deposits wA () 31,337 (189,688)
Proceeds on disposal of HEREMER
investment properties ENHEFIED
and prepaid lease payments P13 318 17,306 650
Cash outflow on acquisition Y i — B A A
of a subsidiary B &M 33 — (251,261)
Net cash inflow on disposal HE—HRE AR
of a subsidiary B3R e mAFE 34 — 12,885
Proceeds on disposal of property, HENE  BER
plant and equipment R PT1E RIE - 1,023
NET CASH USED IN REZHBHAN
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ReFE (208,709) (2,090,978)
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2011 2010
—E——fF —E-ZF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEH
New bank borrowings raised HMESMRITER 11,611,616 4,668,693
Increase in discounted bills BRIR R AN 666,005 180,778
Advances from the TR R B
controlling shareholder 456,000 —
Advance from an associate —fAE R a B8R 28,080 —
Capital contribution from B A Al FEEE IR
non-controlling shareholders RERH &
of subsidiaries 24,441 40
Advances from non-controlling (RN
shareholders of subsidiaries & ST 21,951 1,960
Proceeds from exercise of share options 17 { i % # P 15 5% 8 18,842 11,782
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRRTER (10,240,701) (1,790,502)
Repayments to the [r) 422 AR A% BR& X
controlling shareholder (456,000) —
Interest paid BRHE (253,901) (95,289)
Dividend paid ERRE (182,303) (125,400)
Acquisition of additional Yo B — P /8 22 &)
interest in a subsidiary B FE IME 2 (7,424) —
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITHIREPT1E 3IB — 706,500
Advance from a director EEHR — 234,000
Repayment to a director REESF —_ (234,000)
Share issue costs paid BT IR TR —_ (15,126)
NET CASH FROM RMETDHELMN
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RERE 1,686,606 3,543,436
NET INCREASE IN CASH RERBRESEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1% % 8 390,204 514,175
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS £} &
AT BEGINNING OFTHEYEAR KRE£ZEY 1,088,536 554,417
EFFECT OF FOREIGN HEEXSHNTE
EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 40,205 19,944
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AR RALEEY -
AT END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash  BIiR1T &6k IR & 1,518,945 1,088,536
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I. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is public limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange"). The immediate and ultimate holding
company is Wellrun Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and wholly-owned by Mr. Chun Chi Wai (“Mr. Chun"),
the founder shareholder of the Company. The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the Company
are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KYI-1111, Cayman Islands and Room 3003A-5, 30/F The Centrium,
60 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal

activities of its subsidiaries and associates are set out in note 41.

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollar. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar
for the convenience of the shareholders as the Company is listed in

Hong Kong.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HE&BH4ER (I2Kk) HRAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GRE B R R M T

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current vear, the Group has applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA™).

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related Party Disclosures

Amendments to HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)
- Int 14

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures

set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

2. ERHEGREETES
MBREER ([FEME
HwEEH]) @

B 448 e 4 0 B 7T e 4 82T 2
AEEGEIEEEA TR EHERE

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS ']

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

Amendments to HKAS |

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKAS 19 (as revised in 201 1)

Disclosures - Transfers of
Financial Assets'

Disclosures - Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

Mandatory Effective Date of
HKFRS 9 and Transition

Disclosures®

Financial Instruments’

Consolidated Financial
Statements?

Joint Arrangements?

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities?

Fair Value Measurement?

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income®

Deferred Tax - Recovery of
Underlying Assets’

Employee Benefits?
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

(Continued)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 201 1)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 201 1)

Amendments to HKAS 32

HK(IFRIC) - Int 20

Separate Financial Statements?

Investments in Associates and

Joint Ventures?

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | July 201 |

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2013

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2015

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2012

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | July 2012

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2014
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS | Presentation of Items of Other

Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS | retain the option to present profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in either a single statement or
in two separate but consecutive statements. However, the
amendments to HKAS | require additional disclosures to be made in
the other comprehensive income section such that items of other
comprehensive income are grouped into two categories: (a) items
that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b)
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when
specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of other

comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same basis.

The amendments to HKAS | are effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on | January 2013. The presentation of items of
other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly when the

amendments are applied in the future accounting periods.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so

as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of

disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those

used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately

from the Group's equity therein.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling

interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a

deficit balance (effective from | January 2010 onwards).

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing

subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing

subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises the
assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their
carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii) derecognises
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including any
components of other comprehensive income attributable to them).
When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or
fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss has been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity, the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to retained profits as specified by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold in
the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related

taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following

conditions are satisfied:

* the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;

* the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

* the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

* it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

* the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount

on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to

the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised

as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising
under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in

which they are incurred.

In the event that leases incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental

expense on a straight-line basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease
payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and

building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and

accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, investment
in associates are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associates. When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in that associate, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that

associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount

of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of
acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group losing
significant influence over that associate, any retained investment is
measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance
with HKAS 39.The difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest and its fair value
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)

when it loses significant influence over that associate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of

interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
less their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes (i.e. construction in progress) are carried at
cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees, amortisation of prepaid lease payments provided during the
construction period and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use
(i.e. when they are in the location and condition necessary for them

to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management).

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for

capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual value, using the straight-line

method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in

which the item is derecognised.

Impairment losses on assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation

basis can be identified.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment losses on assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future

cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit

or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-

controlling interests as appropriate).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition,
in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit

or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that

affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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EXEHHEE®

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the

business combination.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or

financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and receivables

and derivative financial instruments.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest
income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt

instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
fixed deposits, trade and other receivables, bills receivable, deposit
paid to a related party, amount due from an associate, pledged bank
deposits, restricted deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment of

financial assets below).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEEUR 2

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have

been affected.
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

+  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

*  breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
and principal payments; or
* it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy

or financial re-organisation.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest

rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the

impairment loss directly for all financial assets.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment losses were recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the
extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost

would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual

interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, o, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition. Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis.

Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities other than derivative financial
instruments (including trade and other payables, bills payable,
amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, amount
due to an associate, discounted bills, bank borrowings and other
long-term payable) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,

using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Transaction costs of equity transactions

The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a
deduction from equity (net of any related income tax benefit) to the
extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction that otherwise would have been avoided. The costs of an

equity transaction that is abandoned are recognised as an expense.

Transaction costs related jointly to concurrent offering of some
shares and listing of shares are allocated using a basis of allocation

that is rational and consistent with other similar transactions.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting

gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the

proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is

recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions in respect of

share options granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding

increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the

revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting

policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors have made in the process
of applying the entity's accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated

financial statements.

Income taxes

The Group is currently enjoying a low effective tax rate mainly as a
result of the tax exemption on the profits generated from its Macau
subsidiary which is an entity established under the Macau
Commercial Offshore Company regulation. Under the current Macau
tax legislation, such entity would be exempted from Macau
Complementary Tax. Qualification of an entity under the Macau
Commercial Offshore Company regulation would be subject to
compliance with certain requirements. The directors of the Company
are of the view that the Macau subsidiary would continue to comply
with the requirements and be qualified as a Macau Commercial

Offshore Company.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. [FgE st FIER R & 5T A EA 8

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting

policies (Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

As some selling activities of the Macau subsidiary have been carried
out in jurisdictions outside Macau, the extent of the selling activities
would be a factor to be considered as to whether the Macau
subsidiary is carrying on metal trading business in the relevant
jurisdiction through a permanent establishment in that jurisdiction, in

which case additional tax provision may be required.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the extent of
selling activities outside Macau would not establish a permanent

establishment in any other jurisdictions outside Macau.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2011, the carrying amount of trade receivables of the Group was
HK$6,909,52 1,000 (2010: HK$6,303,704,000).
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Allowance for inventories

Inventories of the Group represent ferrous metals, non-ferrous
metals and other materials and are stated at the lower of cost and
their net realisable values. The Group regularly reviews its inventory
level to prevent excessive inventories from being accumulated. When
the Group identifies items of inventories which have a market price
that is lower than its carrying amount, the Group estimates the
amount of write-down of inventories as allowance for inventories.
Though the Group is currently using future contracts to minimise the
risk arising from changes in market price of non-ferrous metals, the
effectiveness of the hedges cannot be guaranteed at all times and
the hedges cannot be extended to most of the ferrous metals and
other materials. If the market price of metals fluctuates and becomes
lower than the corresponding carrying amount subsequently, an
additional allowance may be required. As at 3| December, the
carrying amount of inventories of the Group, net of allowance of
HK$231,000,000 (2010: Nil), was HK$2,640,496,000 (2010:
HK$1,747,136,000).
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5.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from

prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the payables and borrowings disclosed in notes 26, 28, 29
and 31, net of cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note |9, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued

share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associate with each class of the capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new shares issues
as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

5. ARG ER

AEEERHER  URBRRASEES
AREREYRREBRLCES R ER
HRRBBERTARADR - AEBEHE
ERBENEFE - -

AEENEAREOEERTFE (RER
7526 28 29RNEEMNEMNFBERE
FoUHMBRHFIOEENREERESSE
EW)  RARRAEAEARGER (B
BETRE FERRZEF) o

ARRESTEHEMNEARE - 2R
B EFZREANANREZEHER
FEMER EREENHEEER - K
SEREBXNRE  BITHBRARE
THEGIBRREEHTEHEERE
KR -

. &RTIR

(a) EMIASE

2011 2010
—E-——F —Z-ZF
HK$’000 HK$:000
FHET FHETT
Financial assets TREE
Loans and receivables (including cash ERREWRIE
and cash equivalents) (BESReLREEED) 12,506,853 10,015,381
Derivative financial instruments TEEBMITA 94,480 66,745
Financial liabilities cHaE
Amortised cost B $H K AR 10,697,431 8,655,458
Derivative financial instruments fTEeRIT A 86,663 134,837
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include fixed deposits,
trade and other receivables, bills receivable, deposit paid to a
related party, amount due from/to an associate, derivative
financial instruments, pledged bank deposits, restricted deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, bills payable,
amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries,
discounted bills, bank borrowings and other long-term payable.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with certain of these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on

a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 201 [, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt and bill at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

6. €T H #»

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b) EMEREZEERBRE (&)

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 25.8% (2010:
35.6%) of the total trade and bills receivables as at 3|
December 2011 was due from the Group’s largest debtor and
76.1% (2010: 97.3%) of the total trade and bills receivables as at
31 December 201 | was due from the five largest debtors. The
directors of the Company believe that the risk will be gradually
reduced as the Group'’s customer base has been diversified and

revenue has become less concentrated during the year.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the People’'s Republic of China (“PRC"),
which accounted for over 90% (2010: 90%) of the total trade

and bills receivables at the end of the reporting period.

Other than as disclosed above, the Group has no other
significant concentration of credit risk with exposure spread

over a number of counterparties.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks or brokers with good reputation.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management
monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and other sources
of funding (for instance, shares placement) and considers the

risk is minimal at this stage.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment

dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are variable rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting

period.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net cash
outflows on derivative instruments that settle on a net basis.
When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed
has been determined by reference to the projected interest
rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group'’s derivative
financial instruments are prepared based on the contractual
maturities as the management considers that the contractual
maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of the

cash flows of derivatives.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) £REIREEBERBRK (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBELER (&)
Liquidity tables HEE T &
Carrying
amount
Weighted  Less than at
average 3 months Total ~ 31.12.2011
effective oron undiscounted R
interest rate demand 3-6 6 months Over  cashflows =B--%
mETHE  HR3EA months  to | year | year AEHEL tZA=1-H

BB HEER 326fA 6EAZ1E BBE REAR HREE
% HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT FEr TEr T FAr T

2011 ZE—-§
Non-derivative FESRER

financial liabilities

Trade and other payables & 5 R £ BT 78 — 2574443 - - — 1574443 2574443
Bills payable EREE - 1,427,209 885,220 105,801 - 2,418,230 2,418,230
Amounts due to ENHERR

non-controlling R

shareholders of RENE

subsidiaries - 23911 - - - 23911 23911
Amount due to ER-REEAT

an associate B - 28,080 - - - 28,080 28,080
Discounted bills BRRER - 665,997 247371 13,219 - 986,593 986,593
Bank borrowings R

— fixed-rate -EE 4.85 1,618,812 425318 373,827 - 2,417,957 2,379,564

- variable-rate -%8 5.27 672,046 652,565 660,865 384,879 2,370,355 2,286,610

7,010,498 2,210,480 1,213,712 384,879 10,819,569 10,697,431
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

6. €T H #»

(b) EMEREZEERBRE (&)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBELRER (&)
Liquidity tables (Continued) HBEE K (&)
Carrying
amount
Weighted  Less than at
average 3 months Total  31.12.2011
effective or on undiscounted R
interest rate demand 3-6 6 months Over cashflows =—Z--%
nEFE  SR3EA months  to | year | year AEHEEL +ZA=1-H
j {FE HEEX 3Z6EA  OEAZIE BE1F REAR MEEE
% HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TEn TEx TER TEn TEn TER
2011 —E--f%
Derivatives - net RREREN
settlement fTEI8
Future contracts on
nonferrous metals  HEEEHEAH - 84,645 - - - 84,645 84,645
Foreign currency
forward contracts NEEBRY - 856 120 586 - 1,562 1,562
Interest rate swaps MEES - - 436 20 - 456 456
85,501 556 606 - 86,063 86,663
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6. €T H #»

(b) EMEREZEERBRE (&)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBELER (&)
Liquidity tables (Continued) RBEE K (&)
Carrying
amount
Weighted Less than at
average 3 months Total 31122010
effective oron undiscounted S
interest rate demand 3-6 6 months Over cash flows —3-%3%
MEFH HH3E A months to | year lyear AERHE tZAZT-A
B IEER 3Z6HA  6EAZIE BRIE RERE HEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TEL TEL TET
2010 ~5-%%
Non-derivative FiEeRER
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables B R REfERFE - 3908807 - - — 3908807 3908807
Bills payable EREE — 460,500 649,465 — — [,109965 [,109965
Amount detoanon-  ERf—EKBAF
controlling shareholder  FEHRRR
of a subsidiary REFA - 1,960 - - - 1,960 1,960
Discounted bills $REE — 265294 95,294 — — 320,588 320,588
Bank borrowings RITEH
- fixed-rate ) 370 680243 900,369 507,460 — 2,088,072 2,056,445
- variable-rate %R 428 483464 199,159 253,651 385,758 1322032 1257458
Other long-term payable ~ Ef R BB 518 — — - - 135 135 135
5,800,268 1,804,287 T6L 111 385993 8,751,659 8,655,458
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

6. €T H #»

(b) EMEREEEERBE (&)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBELRER (&)
Liquidity tables (Continued) HBEE K (&)
Carrying
amount
Weighted Less than at
average 3 months Total 31122010
effective or on undiscounted iy
interest rate demand 3-6 6 months Over cash flows —2-%%
nETH SH3fEA months to | year lyear KHRERE TZA=1-H
ERAI= HEEK 326A 6AZIE ABIE MERE fERE(E
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TET TET FET FAT FAT
2010 “E-%F
Derivatives - net RRELEEN
settlement fIETE
Future contracts on EEERHERN
non-ferrous metals - 100464 [4354 5,689 = 120507 120,507
Foreign currency HNERBEH
forward contracts - 5,682 1736 912 = 14330 14330
106,146 22,09 6,601 — 134837 134837

The amounts included above for variable interest rate

instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to

change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H »
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERMEREEEERBR (&)
(Continued)
Market risk ™5 Bk

(i) Currency risk (i)

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at

the reporting date are as follows:

Liabilities
&8
2011 2010
25 —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TFHET
United States dollar ETT
("USD") SEZ7) 2,135,628 1,133,718
Renminbi AR
(“RMB") (TAR®]) 203,766 —
Hong Kong dollar AT
(“"HKD") ([&7xl) - 17,200

¥R R

RBREBR - AEEAINES
ENEEEEREEABENE
EENT :

Assets
BE
2011 2010
=2 —T-TH
HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET
214,694 146,622
193,421 6,311

3,440 37,208

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management closely monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will use foreign currency
forward contracts to hedge any significant foreign currency

exposure.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

()

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currencies of
USD, RMB and HKD when such currencies are different
from the functional currencies of the relevant group

entities.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
appreciation and depreciation in the above foreign
currencies against the functional currency of the
corresponding group entity, except for HKD against USD
since HKD is pegged to USD. 5% is the sensitivity rate used
which represents management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and derivative financial
instruments and adjusts their translation at the year end for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates and foreign currency
forward rates respectively. The sensitivity analysis includes
mainly trade receivables, bills receivable, derivative financial
instruments, bank deposits, trade payables, bills payable,
discounted bills and bank borrowings. A positive/negative
number below indicates a decrease/an increase in post-tax
profit where USD, RMB and HKD strengthen 5% against the
functional currency of the corresponding group entity. For a
5% weakening of the above foreign currency against the
functional currency of the corresponding group entity, there

would be an equal and opposite impact.

6. €T H #»

(b) EMEREZEERBRE (&)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

6. €T H #»

mEEE (&)

i) BEER (&)

(b) EMEREZEERBRE (&)

Monetary assets and liabilities EHEERARE
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET BT
Decrease (increase) in B B0 12 7 AR
post-tax profit: (&) :
USD against RMB ETLHARK 59,021 31,453
RMB against USD AREHET 1,859 (316)
RMB against HKD ARBEBT (1,121) —
HKD against RMB BTHARE — 645
59,759 31,782
Derivative financial instruments TESRMIA
2011 2010
—E-——F —T-ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Foreign currency forward contracts ~ JMER B & 4
to sell RMB and buy USD EHAREREAZET
— RMB Strengthen by 5% —AR¥EFAE% 6,409 40,551
Foreign currency forward contracts ~ SMEZRH & 4
to buy RMB and sell USD EAARBRELET
— RMB Strengthen by 5% —ARBHE% (40,116) (23,288)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) £REIREEBERBRK (&)
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued) s (&)

(ii) Interest rate risk (i) =@ b

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in AEBEEEESRITER (F

relation to fixed-rate bank borrowings (see note 29 for
details) and bank deposits. The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings (see note 29 for details of these borrowings),
bank deposits and amounts payable to brokers. It is the
Group'’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of

interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the People's
Bank of China ("PBOC”) Base Lending Rate and London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") arising from the Group's
RMB and USD variable-rate borrowings, respectively.

15 LM 5E29) RER1TTEHR AR
ARAEMNERR - INEH Y
BRITER ZEBRFFFERM
i29) ~ |ROIFHREMELR
REBNRSRENXER
AEERIPHNERERAEE
BEXABEBMEER -

AREEHERAGNRER
HWHABERAMERBDEZR
REE— ARENHESR
ENEXEREIEREAKREA
RERETNZERMESR  ME
ARREFEARRIT(TA
1)) EREEN X R HBRT
REFL ([RBRTRER
Bl HKE -
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings only at the end of the reporting period as the
directors consider the exposure on bank deposits and
amounts payable to brokers is not significant as they are
short-term in nature. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point
increase or decrease is used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change

in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax
profit for the year ended 3| December 2011 would
decrease/increase by HK$9,463,000 (2010: HK$5,042,000).

No sensitivity analysis has been prepared for variable-rate
bank deposits as the directors of the Company consider the

exposure is limited.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HEI&BFE4AER (#1&) HARAF

6. €T H #»

(b) EMEREZEERBRE (&)

mEEE (&)

(ii)

MERB (&)

TXOGRE DT HERER
SRRFEBTERNMER
GMET  RREFRARRMT
73R % 8 A A 42 SRR A L B A
EUYTEKR EHEBERES -
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MAEEERBEFEALE
BEMMRE - FTANB0ERN
BEIRBEAEERHANES
BRI E BT o

W F = EF /T B 50 2 il At
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. BT H

(b) EMEREZEERBRE (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) s (&)
(i) Other price risk (i) E b B 4% E

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its future
contracts on non-ferrous metals at the end of the reporting
period. Management manages this exposure by a team of
specialists, who closely monitors the future markets and the
position of the Group and will take necessary action to
minimise the risk to the Group.The Group's other price risk
is mainly concentrated on future prices quoted in the

relevant exchanges.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to other price risk of future contracts on
non-ferrous metals at the end of the reporting period. A
5% increase or decrease is used which represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible

change.

If the quoted prices of the future contracts had been 5%
higher/lower as a result of the changes in the relevant
market commodity prices, post-tax profit for the year
ended 3| December 2011 would decrease/increase by
HK$29,083,000 (2010: HK$67,100,000). The sensitivities are
based on the assumption that the quoted price of the
future contract in the denominated currency increases/

decreases by 5% with all other variables held constant.

ARERBEHRRALEBE
ETBHEANNEMERR
B EEEEREREHEH
ER  ZERENEREE
MERARENEAL - IHK
BLBETHEEREASEE
HoRk  AEENEMER
R ERETREBR S MM
HOMHEEE -

BRI

BT BUBE 5 17 )R I8 95 18
KA ESEA NN LB
RETE - 5% EIRSLTET
AEREYHARTHR DN
T

WEHEANKNBEREBET S
HRERESHT LA TR
5% BBE-_T——%+_-A8
=+—BIEFERBERMNE
B /1 1129,083,0005 7T (=
ZT—ZF : 67,100,000 T) °
BEREDNBEGNRTEE
BETEMRE LA/ THE% M
FEEMAIERERERFTEL
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Other price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent price risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year
Furthermore, the relationship between currencies and
commodity prices is interdependent, changes in exchange
rates can influence commodity prices and vice versa. For
the purpose of the above sensitivity analysis, exchange

fluctuation is ignored.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF

6. €T H #»
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mEEE (&)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERMTH @

(c) Fair value (c)

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are

determined as follows:

the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(including future contracts on non-ferrous metals) with
standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid
markets are determined with reference to quoted market

bid prices and ask prices respectively;

the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(excluding derivative financial instruments) is determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based

on discounted cash flow analysis; and

the fair value of derivative financial instruments (other than
future contracts on non-ferrous metals) is calculated based
on discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield
for the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional

derivatives.

ARE

CRAERSRAEND L EDE

KT HAERE

o EHEBREGRARMGEH TR
RERBESRBAETSEEN
CREERSBAE(BEEE
CEHEEN)NARED R
EZMBMSERBERELEE
®

s HieRMEERSBARE (TR
ETESRTIAE)NAREBETIR
BERURRASTREINHA
REBRAEE &

>

s (TAESRMIA(BELEBHES
BRI DA E - SRR A
TARMRBERENNRA
TAGEHREMNER KSR
B MmEBETETARRAH
BTEENME

ESRA - BaUBHRRAKEH
REJNENEREERERAGBN
REEREAARERS -

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the

consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value (Continued)

Fair value measure

ments

recognised

consolidated statement of financial position

in the

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments

that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,

grouped into Levels | to 2 based on the degree to which the

fair value is observable.

o Level | fair value measurements are those derived from

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical

assets or liabilities.

* Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from

inputs other than quoted prices included within Level | that

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as

prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Derivative
financial
instruments
— assets

— liabilities

TESR
I8

Level |
E—&
HK$’000
FET

93,539

(84,645)

2011
—F——-F
Level 2
EZR
HK$’°000
FET

941

(2,018) (86,663) (120,507)

6. €T H #»

(c)

Total
et
HK$’000
FET

94,480

ARE (&)
REEMBRRRBIZDAMES

=
==}

TRRNIHERREANEFEZ
ERMIANN  REBRMASZA
hEREDBRAE—REF R -

s F—R:OABEFERETH
BIEERAEMNEREMSRE
(R

P

o

i

s FIRDABEFERLIR
BE-BAMBEBASN 3
BEFRRBECBARE (T
wmAERER (BER) LHE
BEmS AITEER))BHL
BR -

2010
—E-FF

Level | Level 2 Total
E—R R st
HK$'000 HK$'0000 HK$'000
TET FET TER
58,616 8,129 66,745
(14,330) (134,837)

There were no transfers between Level | and 2 in the current

and prior years.
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is engaged in the principal business of recycling,
processing and marketing of metals, including ferrous and non-
ferrous metals, which are the raw materials for a wide range of
metallic end-products. The Group collects scrap steel, scrap copper
and other scrap metals and processes them using advanced
equipment to produce quality recycled metals. From time to time,
the Group also sells products collected directly to customers when
the quality of such products meets certain required standards.
During the current year, the Group is also engaged in the recycling
and marketing of other materials, other than metals. The revenue can

be broadly classified into three categories:

(i) ferrous metals, namely iron and steel;

(i) non-ferrous metals, including copper, aluminium, etc.; and
(i) other materials, including ores, scrap plastic, etc..

The board of directors of the Company regularly reviews revenue
analysis by the principal products processed/sold by the Group and
the Group's consolidated profit for the year for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment. As no other
discrete financial information is available for the assessment of
different business activities, no segment information is presented

other than entity-wide disclosures.

7. Bz RS EBEH

AEETZSEBOKR NMIREHE
% EREELECEE (RZERRE
BE@MRMK) - RAEEEYENR - &
AkEMESE  YMATERBMNT
TEBERRBERESE - A&ETT
FRZEREcBEENAE TRERE
BARFERLEEm - TR KB
Sy AKEMEER MBI QR Y LS
HWER - WS ABOIR=8:

() BELE NERLHE
(i) FELE BRAREE X
(i) Eprt - BREEL  BEBE -

ANREFETHEMNAEEMI W
ENIBEEMNREIMARAEEF
ARNGEREN  WETERIERKRE
AHh e MRYARGEMBUNTEE
BARHE N RERES - ML RAEE
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION B ERYBERE @
(Continued)
Entity-wide disclosures ERRKE

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue by principal

FRARERIEE

80 e W ek

products for the year: WET
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$:000
FET FET
Ferrous metals 2EeE 7,937,681 5,088,216
Non-ferrous metals 56t E 40,533,194 17,419,966
Other materials Hib e 3,669,645 —
52,140,520 22,508,182
The Group's non-current assets are located in the places of domicile AEBIERDEEHUNHAEEER

Pt MR RFIRES R %
——#+ZA=t-BR-T-FFt
“ASt-8 AEBOABAER
EEYRAFE -

of the relevant group entities, namely the PRC, Macau and Hong
Kong. As at 31 December 201 | and 31 December 2010, substantially

all of the Group's non-current assets are located in the PRC.
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. KERDPBEE )

(Continued)
Entity-wide disclosures (Continued) BERAMEE (8)
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue based on distinct FR - AKEREFPAAEMRO NG D
geographical areas of location of customers for the year: T
2011 2010
—B-—F —T-2F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
The PRC a2 50,281,114 21,908,682
Hong Kong 5% 1,381,864 198,213
Asia, other than the PRC and Hong Kong SN (FBEREBBRIN 194,479 71216
Europe BUM 163,849 252,536
America ES 119,214 77,535
52,140,520 22,508,182
Each of the two (2010: three) largest customers of the Group N AEEERME(ZTE-ZF: =
contributes more than 10% of the Group's revenue for the current Z)BARFHASENKZ AR B
year. Revenue of approximately HK$5415 million and HK$5,369 0% BE-_T——F+-A=+—H
million are attributed to these two customers, respectively, for the EFEENREERDRIA5415B8ET
year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: approximately HK$5,666 %5369HEET(ZT—FTF : 254
million, HK$3,163 million and HK$3,225 million, respectively) and are 56668 && T - 3,163 BT K& 3,225
mainly attributable to non-ferrous metal sales. BBEL)  FTEXREFESEBHHE -
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |
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8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

. W R i

2011 2010
—EB——F —T-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net exchange gain P 5 a1 % 88 45,534 40,267
Interest income B YA 31,531 18,163
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMER
properties and prepaid AENHEERE WS
lease payments 12,964 198
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment AR ) W —_ 508
Rental income HellA - 204
Others Hitb 19,555 6315
109,584 65,655
9. FINANCE COSTS . MEMAF
2011 2010
—E——F —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable BRAFABHEER
within five years RIR1TE A B 195,776 74,939
Interest on discounted bills BIRERF B 54,889 17,836
Interest on advances from the controlling 2R R R B R
shareholder (note i) N 3,236 —
Interest on advance from a director (note i) —HBEBBRF L (K &Eii) - 2,514
253,901 95,289

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 3| December 2011, the Group obtained
advances of HK$456,000,000 from the controlling shareholder and paid
interests thereon at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate/LIBOR plus

2.25%.The advances were settled in the same year.

(i) During the year ended 3| December 2010, the Group obtained an
advance of HK$234,000,000 from a director and paid interest thereon
at LIBOR plus 1.75%. The advance was settled in the same year.

114 China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $EH:BHLER (121&) HRAS
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10.FT R iR X

2011 2010
—2--%  -T-%%
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
The charge comprises: ERBRE:

PRC Enterprise Income Tax B BRAENR
Current year KEE 91,082 52,832
Under(over)provision in prior year EFEBEBEIT BREER) 1,107 (234)
92,189 52,598

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the

Group's subsidiaries in Hong Kong either had no assessable profit or

incurred tax losses for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")

and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the

PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, two PRC
subsidiaries of the Group, Yangzhong Yagang Metal Co., Ltd. and
Tianjin Yatong are exempted from PRC Enterprise Income Tax for
two years starting from their first profit-making year, followed by a
50% tax reduction for the next three years (“Tax Holiday"). 2012 is

the final year in which the two subsidiaries are subject to a 50% tax

deduction.

Under Decree-Law no. 58/99/M, Central Steel (Macao Commercial
Offshore) Limited, a Macau subsidiary incorporated under that Law
(called "“58/99/M Company"), is
Complementary tax (Macau income tax) as the 58/99/M Company

does not sell its products to any Macau resident company during

both years.

exempted from Macau

RERREE  ARAREREEM
BLORATEERGENAELERAE
B RARBENSHELHBEE

REFRBEACEMSHEA([CEMER
F) RAEEERIE - R EHE AR
iR E25% °

BEFBREBEZEREZR  ASEME
FENBLARGTEHSBERAAR
AEDHERSEMENFEREA LM
FRECEMSR  ER=FHEAR
FoE-_FRmAMEBARERY
ABNRRER -

RREE CRM) BERFREAZREER
N B AR 1B 5 58/99/ME A < FEM AL Y
RFIH B 2 7] (18 A 158/99/MAT] ) /A
R #%58/99/M A Bl R L3t 4 € 3 & A {F
ARMAALRRHEEER WU RES
58/99/MIF AL R BB P R K (B
FIFBH)
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

10.FTBHREAX @

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before FANBEXHEES 2EKEROR
taxation per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income BAng M ERAT
as follows:
2011 2010
—2-—-F —T-FHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
Profit before taxation B 75t i )it A 1,964,783 944,501
Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Bl EREH T E25%
Tax rate of 25% 491,196 236,125
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAMBAXNHELE
for tax purpose 26,985 15,060
Tax effect of income not taxable ERBBANT B E
for tax purpose (4,351) (2,794)
Tax effect of share of JE (5B & A A
loss of associates BEREAOTETE 1,441 384
Tax effect of Tax Holiday granted to T REME LB
PRC subsidiaries REEBNRERE (1,268) (879)
Tax effect of tax exemption granted ‘e TORFIM B 2 B8
to a Macau subsidiary MEREOHBETE (477,892) (208,648)
Tax effect of tax losses AR
not recognised EREOTETE 4,509 11,688
Utilisation of tax losses previously BRAMATRER
not recognised ) B 5 18 (5,056) (283)
Tax effect of other deductible temporary H R HE R 80 A F0 B
differences not recognised ETREENVBTE 57,750 2,179
Utilisation of other deductible temporary BRAMBTRERNAHH
differences previously not recognised ERER (2,232) —
Under(over) provision BEFEREBTIR
in prior year (FBRE) 1,107 (234)
Tax charge for the year FAHB L 92,189 52,598

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 30.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HE&BH4ER (I2Kk) HRAF
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I 1.PROFIT FORTHE YEAR

M. ERN i F

2011 2010
—B——F —ET-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Profit for the year has been F R M H
arrived at after charging: THBEREL
Directors’ emoluments (note [2) EEHM (HE12) 24,161 25,255
Other staff costs: Hith 8 TR
Salaries and wages MM TE 67,156 42,345
Share-based payment, excluding PARR 9 2 5RO
those of directors (TRREZEES) 15,068 21,458
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, RREN G EME R
excluding those of directors (TEEZEES) 6,973 3,392
Total staff costs BIXABE 113,358 92,450
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 Bl 7 A 5,500 3,000
Allowance for inventories (note i) FEEE (M) 231,000 —
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments B HEE IR 10,131 6518
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% « BE R & EHTE 37,439 25,153
Depreciation of investment properties REMEFE 6 38
Loss on written-off of property, THNE  BEKR
plant and equipment HEEE 688 —
Operating lease rentals paid in HEEWMETHL
respect of rented premises 2HEMSE 26,133 26,063
Notes: B E
() During the current year, the Group made an allowance for its () REERXN FEEREFEL2ZHEE

BEMEBDELRE UEEEHE
KAR BRGFEEEREREESR

include both ferrous metals and non-ferrous metals. B -

inventories with reference to the subsequent selling price and market

price trend and included it in cost of sales. The related inventories

(i) Cost of inventories recognised as an expense approximates cost of (i) RZMEE  ERBAFAINFERK
HEE2ARGERFPHERNEERE
(TERERANTFERE) HE -

sales (excluding allowance for inventories recognised) as shown in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income for both years.
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12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12.EFRESEHN
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments EEHMN
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as BENKERESHMFROT
follows:
Retirement
benefit
Salaries scheme
and contri- Share-
allowances butions based
Fees HER Bonuses BAEA payment Total
we Hip2E Al TEHER  ARGAR @t

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

(note ii)
(i)
For the year ended BE-%--F
31 December 201 I: TZRA=1t-RLEE:
Executive directors; #ES:
Mr. Chun Chi Wai RERLE - 6,308 2,083 12 2,407 10,810
Mr. Fung Ka Lun BRRmLE - 4,389 1,667 12 3,316 9,384
Mr.Jiang Yan Zhang ZREERE - 570 212 - 642 1,424
Non-executive directors: FHITES
Ms. Lai Wun Yin REABLL 200 - - - 802 1,002
Mr. Chan Kam Hung (note ) BRSRIE £ 4 (Ri3E) 250 - - - 160 410
Mr. Leung Chong Shun (note i) 28I A (P &ti) 250 - - - 160 410
Mr.Yan Qi Ping (note i) R 5t & (Rt 200 - - - 521 1l
900 11,267 3,962 24 8,008 24,161
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12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

NRNEERESEHFMN »

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) ESHmM (&)
Retirement
benefit
Salaries scheme
and contri- Share-
allowances butions based
Fees ek Bonuses NN payment Total
fe 28 i AEMR  ARANK @it
HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
(note i)
(Hiatii)
For the year ended HE-Z-%F
31 December 2010; TZA=+-HLFE:
Executive directors: #7ES:
Mr. Chun Chi Wai RERLE = 5393 1,250 12 5136 1,791
Mr. Fung Ka Lun ERREE
(appointed on (R-Z-%%
8 June 2010) NANBEZL) — 1,660 2125 7 3,695 7467
Mr.Jiang Yan Zhang ZRELE — 498 141 3 1370 2032
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Ms. Lai Won Yin RABRT 180 — — — 1712 1,892
Mr. Chan Kam Hung (note i) BRERHEJ5 4 (f &) 210 — — — 3 552
Mr. Leung Chong Shun (note ) R EIIB %4 (K &) 210 — — — 4 552
Mr.Yan Qi Ping BRTEE
(appointed on 8 June 2010) (R_Z-%£
(note i) ~ANA
EZE (W) 113 - - - £ 535
Mr. Chan lu Seng RBELSE
(resigned on | October (RZB-FETH
2010) (note i — B8 (B3 130 — — — 284 414
843 7,551 3516 4 13,303 25,255

3 Annual Report 2011

119




120

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ NNEERESHM o

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) EEHM (8)

Notes: B =T

() Independent non-executive directors. () BIUFRTES -

(i) Bonuses are determined on a discretionary basis by the board of (i) EADARAEFELL2EZARAEZERNA

FREENLERE BAARRRAE
Bz HS G HEEMRIEEE -

directors of the Company with reference to the Group's operating
results for the current financial year, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

EEM:

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, the

number of directors and employees are as follows:

ARELfUEEMEALFE  EERE
BOABMT :

2011 2010
—E-—F —T-TF

Directors i 2 2%
Employees EE& 3
5 5

# It includes a director who was appointed on 8 June 2010 and received
emoluments of HK$4,03 1,000 for the period from | January 2010 to 7

June 2010 as an employee.
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# BEER-_Z-ZF ANBEZE
MNES H-_FT-TF—H
—ZEXALR - EEREE MK
% © 74,031,000 7T ©

—BE=E

=



12.DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments of the directors are set out above while the

NRNEEREEHMN =

BEME (&)

EEMeHENLEX MEKATHOHE

emoluments of the remaining individuals are as follows: wmE

2011 2010
—B-—F —T-2F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Salaries and other allowances Fe L EAMmEM 4,935 3,465
Discretionary bonuses 15 TEAL 1,233 837
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R T 24K 24 57
Share-based payment VAR £ 1+ 5% 2,714 4,494
8,906 8,853

Their emoluments were within the following bands: BREOMENTFATEHE :
2011 2010
No. of No. of
employees employees
—2-—F —T-TF
EEEE EE&A

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000

2,000,001/ 7T £ 2,500,000/% 7T —
2,500,001 7T £ 3,000,000/ 7T I
3,000,001 7t & 3,500,000/ 7T |
3,500,001;% 7T 24,000,000/ 7T I

During the two years ended 31 December 2011, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors has waived any emoluments during the two

years.

BE

ERME -

—E——F+-A=+—HLEMF
B AEERERESINEMMEE
BEEMASIMAKRE B %K Bk (E
REBEE BIESENZMEERE
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

13.DIVIDEND 13.51x B

During the year, the final dividend of HK16 cents (2010: HKI2 cents)
per share, amounted to HK$ 182,303,000 (2010: HK$125,400,000), in
respect of the year ended 3| December 2010 was recognised as
distribution to the shareholders.

No interim dividend was declared for the current year. The final
dividend of HK32 cents in respect of the year ended 3| December
2011 (2010: final dividend of HKI6 cents in respect of the year
ended 3| December 2010) per share has been proposed by the
directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

FR BE-_T-ZTF+-A=1+—H
HEEMNREBREFRI6EIL(ZT—F
F :127%810l) - £ #5182,303,000% T
(ZZ—Z4 : 125,400,000/ 7T) * B
RAEBREDE -

REBURERFHKRE -EFEEZ
EEBE-_T——F+-A=1+—HIL
FEMNRAREFRVBW (ZT -2
F:HBE-_T-ZF+-A=1+—HL
FERBBREBRI6EWN - AFEA
AR R EERREBE RS E

14.EARNINGS PER SHARE 14.8BEF

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

BINNEBFERARAHEEAREER
EAXAREERT -

2011 2010
—E-——F —T-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Earnings: &R
Profit for the year attributable to owners ATEERERREE
of the Company for the purposes of BN ARAERA
basic and diluted earnings per share J& 15 F R s A 1,861,939 886,562
Number of shares: &R :
Weighted average number of ordinary SFEERERATD
shares for the purpose of e 5 E RS A
basic earnings per share 1,139,501,496 1,047,801,067
Effect of diluted potential ordinary BB BB RAER 2
shares as a result of P2 8 IR RE O B T
the share options granted ThaRkEETE 8,421,279 5,708,380
Weighted average number of ordinary SFEEREERAM
shares for the purpose of g EE RS A

diluted earnings per share

1,147,922,775  1053,509,447
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I15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1599 % B E R:R1E

Machinery,

furniture,

Harbour Leasehold fixtures and

Buildings works Construction improve-  equipment
in the PRC  in the PRC in Motor ments H5  f

HEER  PEBEA  progress  vehices HENE kB Total
WeF HEBRE ARIR AE 1 EkR% @it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TEx TEx TEx

(note)
(W)
cosT BA
At | January 2010 RZF-FF-A-H 15,568 — 20092 16870 39 84820 140,644
Exchange adjustments AR 3117 4562 984 419 105 5751 14938
Acquired on acquisiton ~~ HE-EHBAH
of a subsidiary (note 33)  (Hf¥33) 34809 129262 — 27 — 41976 206,264
Additions RE 53578 — 21,448 5,149 %9 6754 148,687
Transfers &z 3,308 — (9.784) — — 6476 —
Disposals HE — — — (3061 — (585) (3646)
Written-off it - — — — (1) ) (113)
Disposal of a subsidiary & —EHEAA
(note 34) (R 34) - - — (1573) — (4676) (6249)
At3| December 2010 RZE-FETZA=+-H 110380 133824 32740 18041 4257 201,303 500545
Exchange adjustments B AT 4038 48% 1428 629 168 702 18,36]
Additions KE — — 29,658 7507 1292 11,446 49903
Transfers E - - (10797) — 3,866 6931 -
Written-off it - — — — (349) (508) (857)
At 31 December 201 | RIF-——ETZA=T-8 114418 138,720 5309 2,177 9,34 26374 567,952
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

I5.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15.9% « BRERRIE @)

(Continued)
Machinery,
furniture,
Harbour Leasehold fixtures and
Buildings works Construction improve-  equipment
in the PRC  in the PRC in Motor ments H% KA
MERR  PERA  progress  vehicles HENE RE Total
WET NEBRE HZBRIR hE g8 EL ] it
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
FER FER FEn FER FER FER FER
(note)
(W)
DEPRECIATION e
At | January 2010 WZE-FF-f-H 4941 — — 11037 999 34677 51,635
Exchange adjustments X AR 20 49 — 0 30 1,268 1,950
Provided for the year FR 4493 2070 — 1,806 60 16,182 25,153
Fiminated on disposals (i E B8 - — — (2754) — (377) (3131
Fiminated on written-off & $8 i 38 — — — — (1) ) (113)
Fiminated on disposal of (1% — M & 2 A B 58
a subsidiary (note 34) (R¥3e) - - — (810) — (976) (1786)
At3| December 010 RZE-FFT-A=t-RH 9705 2119 — 9,602 1,520 50,772 73728
Exchange adjustments ERAE 450 130 - 294 49 1,826 2749
Provided for the year EnEh 7767 4340 — 2844 1,006 21,462 37439
Fiminated on written-off ¥ $8 i 38 — — — — (113) (56) (169)
A3l December 201l RZF——FFZAZ+-H 1792 6,589 — 12740 2462 74004 113747
CARRYINGVALUES K
At31 December 201l  W=B--F+ZF=t-0 96,466 132,131 53,029 13,437 6772 152,370 454205
A3l December 2010 RZE-FETZA=+-R 100665 131,705 32740 8439 INEY 15033 426817

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF




I15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.9% - BERSEE o

(Continued)

After considering the estimated residual values, the above items of REEMFEE  LaWE  BERS
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress HIEB (ERIEBIN) DAEBRER A
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following years or at THEESHRTIIFENE (HAB)TE :

the following rates per annum, as appropriate:

Buildings in the PRC 20 - 50 years or over the lease term of RERANET 20Z50FFABLHNAESHR
the relevant land, whichever is shorter (ABEERE)
Harbour works in the PRC 30 years RERAE 0%
AR
Motor vehicles 20% nE 20%
Leasehold 4% or over the term of the relevant HENERE 4% BREEHR (UREER
improvements lease, whichever is shorter %)
Machinery, furniture, 10% - 20% BE BRI 10%220%
fixtures and ZERRB
equipment
Note: Harbour works mainly represented wharfs for transportation of Bzt : BBREERBIEARERNTEE -
goods.
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16.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16.1REME
HK$'000
FET
COST AR
At | January 2010 R-_ZE—ZTF—H—H 1,940
Disposal HE (61)
At 31 December 2010 R-_ZE—ZF+_A=+—H 1,879
Disposal & (1,879)
At 31 December 201 | R-_E——F+-_A=+—H —
DEPRECIATION e
At | January 2010 R-_ZE-—ZTF—-H—H 209
Provided for the year FREE 38
Eliminated on disposal 6 s 0 8 (6)
At 31 December 2010 R-_ZE—ZF+_A=+—H 241
Provided for the year FRNEH 6
Eliminated on disposal 65 s 0 5 (247)
At 31 December 201 | R-—ZZE——F+=-_A=+—H —
CARRYING VALUES ERMEE
At 31 December 2011 R=ZB——F+=-H=+—H —
At 31 December 2010 R-_ZE—ZF+-_A=+—H 1,638

The fair value of the Group's investment properties (including the
corresponding leasehold land interests with a carrying amount of
HK$2,720,000) at 31 December 2010 was HK$17,306,000 and
whose addresses are Unit | on |6th Floor and car parking space no.
358 on the 3rd Floor of “I 18 Connaught Road West”, No. | I8
Connaught Road West, Sai Ying Pun, Hong Kong.

The fair value as at 3|1 December 2010 was determined by the
directors of the Company by reference to the agreed consideration
for the disposal in January 2011. No valuation was performed by

independent qualified professional valuers.

The above investment properties are erected on land held under
long leases in Hong Kong and were depreciated on a straight-line

basis over approximately 46 vyears.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF

RZZE-—ZFE+=-A=+—0 ' ~5H
REYHX (BEKREEA2,720,000/% T
MEFHELHER) NARER
17,306,000 7T - M E B MU BE B
BB THETI8H [ THAER118%]
1618 1% 2 31E £ 3585k BAL °

ST-FELCAS—ANLARED
GARAEFSE-T——F-ALE
MBERERET - BIABREEN
(B89 3 3 1T A

TREENEORRRERMEEES
BRANLIHE  YREKEENLL6
FRFE -



17.PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

17. R FHERIE

2011 2010
—E——-F —T-%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FE T

The prepaid lease payments comprise BNHEREBEERE

leasehold land HELTH

— in the PRC held under —NHERTH
medium-term leases HERH 210,181 201,644
— in Hong Kong held under long leases —-REERRAMERHF - 2,720
210,181 204,364

Analysed for reporting purposes as: RHEBNINAE
Current asset MBEE 10,243 9,733
Non-current asset ERBDEE 199,938 194,631
210,181 204,364
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I8.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNT
DUE FROM/TO AN ASSOCIATE

18.REHE AT MR K
/- EHEATRE

2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FE T
Cost of unlisted investments in REEERRIMIEL™
associates (note) REKA (&) 298,633 87,130
Share of post-acquisition profits and JE 15 W g 12 08 7 )
other comprehensive income, Hip 2 E K& -
net of dividends received TD BE W& 5,953 9,495
304,586 96,625

Note: Included in the cost of unlisted investments in associates at the end of
the reporting period is goodwill arising on acquisition of
HK$9,237,000 (2010: HK$9,237,000) in prior years.

Amount due from/to an associate is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. Amount due to an associate is denominated in
USD, a currency other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entity.

Details of the Group's associates are set out in note 41.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF

sk RIBEHR  REEARNIELTR
ERABEAFHREELANE B
9,237,000 T (= T — T & !
9,237,000/ 75) °

Y/ ENEEARFEARER %
E&EAEKBT%‘— FEHH‘J%A" A
METTEE ﬁ%mﬁﬁ%ﬁ%li%%
RREBUINES -

AEBHERRNFERNI T -



I8.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNT
DUE FROM/TO AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

associates is set out below:

18. R EATIMER E
S —EBEATRIE @

AREBEARNMBEMRANT

2011 2010
—2——F —T-%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TET
Total assets BERE 690,344 198,555
Total liabilities BEHER (48,400) (4,359)
Net assets EEFE 641,944 194,196
The Group's share of net assets REEEIGHEE QA
of associates WEEFE 295,349 87,388
Revenue g 526,063 26,938
Loss for the year FREE (12,599) (3,409)
Other comprehensive income H A2 E = 4,942 2,324
The Group’s share of loss and REBE I QAR
other comprehensive FABER
income of associates for the year Hit 2 mE K (3,542) (488)
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19.FIXED DEPOSITS/RESTRICTED DEPOSITS/
BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Fixed deposits represent bank deposits of HK$109,817,000 (2010:
Nil) and HK$60,976,000 (2010: Nil) which will mature within one
year and more than one year from the end of the reporting period,

respectively.

Restricted deposits represent deposits placed with financial
institutions to secure the margin accounts of the Group for trading

future contracts in the relevant financial institutions.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-

term bank deposits with maturity of three months or less.

19.FHERZREER
RITEGRRER

EHERERBESHRIFIBER —FR
K —F %5 E9109,817,0008 T (= F
— T4 : #) 260,976,000 L (= F
TE:E)RTER -

XREEFEFTIREBBENTS
NAEAEENHBSRBEEENES
HWMREE P ORHER

BHERACBRASERENRSE
&E’\\‘:ﬂﬂ =8 A AR B2 B R
TR

The above fixed deposits, restricted deposits and bank balances and TRAEBER BB EEIAIEE
cash of the Group that are denominated in currencies other than the AENREETHER - RBHFERA
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out RRTEBRRBESWT :
below:
HKD HKD
equivalent of  equivalent of
usbD RMB
BT BTH HKD
ZEEXR ZBEARY B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FRET FRET FRET
As at 3| December 2011 R-ZF——-%+ZA=+-H 2719 5922 3,398
As at 31 December 2010 R-ZF—FFF+-_A=+t—H 132650 — 31,742

The bank deposits and balances of the Group carry interests at the

following prevailing market rates:

FRIx

B
=
=

Range of interest rates per annum

AEBORGFRREBEAT RN
BRIE S -

2011
—E2—-F

2010
—T-ZF

0.01% to£4.50% 0.01% toZ0.38%

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HE&BH4ER (I2Kk) HRAF




20.INVENTORIES 2038
2011 2010
—g--% “E-T%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Raw materials R R 271,585 1,207,110
Finished goods B 2,368,911 540,026
2,640,496 |, 747,136

Included in the above figures are finished goods of HK$427,880,000
(2010: HK$266,797,000) and HK$106,582,000 (2010:
HK$131,979,000) which have been pledged as security for bank
borrowings of HK$422,596,000 (2010: HK$225,176,000) and
amounts payable to brokers of HK$23,969,000 (2010:
HK$78,041,000), respectively.

il &7 B8R §2427,880,00078 T (=
—Z 4 : 266,797,000 7T) % 106,582,000
BIL(ZE—ZF 1 131,979,0008 L) @ B
2 BI{E £422,596,000/8 7L (Z T — T4 -
225,176,000/ 7T) # 17 f& 3 & 23,969,000
BT (T —Z4F : 78,041,000 7T) FEfF
R il
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21.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND N.BSRAEMMERRERES
DEPOSITS
The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 to 90 AEE-RMESHEFRENFI0HE
days to its trade customers. The aged analysis of the Group's trade WHMTHEESR - REEHRAEE
receivables, presented based on the invoice date at the end of the EKREZFANRRIIT REZAHZ
reporting period, is as follows: F WM
2011 2010
—E--F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$:000
FET FET
Trade receivables: e 8B 5 FE
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 1,150,953 [,152,304
31 - 60 days 31£260H 1,084,236 1,096,188
61 - 90 days 61290H 1,259,063 944,505
91 - 120 days 912120H 1,935,884 923,509
[21 - 180 days 1212 180H 1,479,352 1,662,913
Over 180 days 88 180H 33 524,285
6,909,521 6,303,704
Other receivables and deposits: Hith BB RES :
Deposits and prepayments B RENRK 34,439 55,454
Deposits paid for purchase of raw materials HEERM B E K E 757,355 686,151
Other taxes recoverable H AT Y 1= 738 329,228 279,154
Others Hity 12,321 23348
1,133,343 1,044,107
8,042,864 7,347,811
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1. ESREMEBKRIERE
2 ®

TRANEREEERDEERAINIEE
AENAEEZEZREMREKREAN

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
DEPOSITS (Continued)

The above trade and other receivables of the Group that are

denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of

the relevant group entities are set out below: I
HKD HKD
equivalent of  equivalent of
uUsD RMB
BT BTH HKD
EEEXR EEARE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
As at 31 December 2011 R-F-—-F+-A=1+—-H 85483 — 42
As at 31 December 2010 R-ZB-—FF+-_H=1+—H — 6311 —

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by

customer. Limits attributable to customers are reviewed regularly.

No impairment loss is provided for the trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired because these receivables are within
credit period granted to the respective customer and the
management considers the default rate is low for such receivables

based on historical information and past experience.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group
considers any change in credit quality of the trade receivable from
the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting
period. In view of the good settlement history and substantial
subsequent settlement from those debtors of the Group which are
past due but not impaired, the directors consider that no allowance

is required.

RESEFRHEL A - AEBE TG
BEEFPMNEEERRATSEFNE
ERE YEFEHRNSEPHRE -

MESRERBHTERENERE SN
BEHREBERE  DRRNZFEK
FEBEREFERNEESNZA &
EEEENBAEHRBALRAS -
ZERIFENEREER -

REEERKEZHERS A REE - &
SEZREMNERHLEERPEERS
HEERELIERUESFAEAEEE
ZWMEY - AN AEEE BHERE
MEWRE ZRAEBABRIFERT
i HERCEEABIER  SES
RBRBAFEHEE -
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2185 R HhBKRIE R %

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

DEPOSITS (Continued)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not

-0 )
BB B R R MK B 5 KA N R

impaired
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
0 - 30 days 0-30H 1,935,884 923,509
31 - 60 days 31-60H 1,479,352 1,662,913
Over 60 days 8 iB60H 33 524,285
3,415,269 3,110,707

At 31 December 2010, trade receivables of HK$53,535,000 (201 I:
Nil) were pledged as security for bank borrowings. The carrying
amount of the associated liability was HK$53,535,000 (201 1: Nil)

(included in bank borrowings in note 29).

22.BILLS RECEIVABLE

The amount represents bills on hand and bills discounted to banks
with recourse with a maturity period of less than 360 days (2010:
180 days). At the end of the reporting period, these receivables are
not yet due and mostly guaranteed by the banks. The management
considers the default rate is low based on past experience as the
Group seldom encounters default on bills. At the end of the
reporting period, bills receivable of HK$986,593,000 (2010:
HK$320,588,000 was discounted for immediate cash). The Group
retains all the risks and rewards of discounted bills receivable and
accordingly, the Group continues to recognise the full carrying
amount of such bills receivable (see note 35 for assets pledged) and
has recognised the cash received on such discount as secured
discounted bills liabilities in note 28.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HE&BH4ER (I2Kk) HRAF

22,

R-Z—ZF+_-_F=+—H BHE
Y 5 18 53,535,000 L (ZF ——F :
=) EERTEROERR - AHAED
AR {E /53,535,000 L (Z 2 ——F ¢
&) (BIEEMZ2MERTE -

FEW R 1%

LA EEXEENI0R (ZE—TF :
1808) NE| M FHEEZEREBAINER
FRENEHARE c 2T ERFBER R
EHIR s R B BRI K E0 5 B SRAT B AR
HRASBEBEEPEXZERERMAR
BR G REEERR/ERAXER - R
S HR - U ZE 986,593,000 T (=
T — T4 :320,688,000/8 L) B ALIR °
AEERBMEZSEURERZED
2HEBREER - Bt NEBEER
REZFEREBENEEEHERE (2K
HEERMTESS) - RSB AER
SR AN 28 BRI IEZIEE

f& e



22.BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The above bills receivable of the Group that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group

entities are set out below:

A

As at 31 December 2011 n=
As at 31 December 2010 i

_|_
_|_

F+-A=+-H
F+-A=+—H

|l
Al
Al
[l

22.FEWERE »)

FRARBEEBEERNEERIIES
AHENARERURENT

HKD HKD
equivalent of  equivalent of
uUsD RMB

BITH BITH
ZEXT ZEARY
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
101,558 187,499

23.DEPOSITS PAID TO A RELATED PARTY

The amount represents rental deposits paid to secure the lease
agreements entered into between the Group and a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Chun, a director and the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company, as the landlord. Details of the lease

agreements are set out in note 40.

24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives settled in net (not under hedge accounting):

BXAF—BRAEAIHES

ZRENERERASBRARLRES
REREBBRRELE2EHAN B
DR (EREE) 2B LB E AN
XNMBERS - BEHEFBHERMH
40 °

24T ERTH

YIRS P e ARENRFREERN
PTETE :

2011 2010
—B——-fF —E-TF
Assets  Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE &8 BE =RE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$:000 HK$'000
FET FET T T T T
Future contracts on non-ferrous B E&BHE
metals (note a) &% (Mzta) 93,539 84,645 58616 120,507
Foreign currency forward contracts 9N iR B3 & 49
(note b) (FF3ED) 941 1,562 8,129 14,330
Interest rate swaps | 2= 457 59 —_ 456 — —
94,480 86,663 66,745 134,837
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24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24THELRT R »

(Continued)

Notes: B &

Major terms of future contracts on non-ferrous metals are set out

below:

At 31 December 201 |

(@) BESBHEANIZHRRMT

R=®-—%£+=A=+-H

Standard

Contracted future price trading unit Total unit Maturity

ERHBEER BEXSEN BMEN EEGRE

Copper future contracts:

THRAL

Sell at prices ranged from 5 tonnes 1,288 Ranged from 16 January 2012 to
RMB53,650 to RMB55,950 per tonne SHE |5 March 2012

BN T E8MARKS3650TE BE-Z——F—HAftARHEE
A B ¥ 55,9507T 7 “Z-—#=Rt+AA

Buy at prices ranged from 5 tonnes 595 Ranged from 16 January 2012 to
RMB52,860 to RMB55,900 per tonne 5 ['6 April 2012

BN T E8MARK52860TE BE-Z-——f—HtRAEE
AR 559007 B A —E-—FHMATARHE

Sell at prices ranged from 25 tonnes 1,390 Ranged from 3 January 2012 to
USD6,879 to USD7,950 per tonne 250 30 March 2012

BN TEBW6s7IXTLE B-Z——f—A=H%
79503 7L 7T —Z-—f£=R=+H

Buy at prices ranged from 25 tonnes [,160 Ranged from 3 January 2012 to
USDé6,641 to USD8,045 per tonne 250 28 March 2012

BN T 864 XTE
8045 LT E A

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited

THEBRLER (ZR) ARAF
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24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@)

Major terms of future contracts on non-ferrous metals are set out

below: (Continued)

At 31 December 2011 (Continued)

Contracted future price

BHHMEER

Zinc future contracts:

HHEEEH :

Sell at prices ranged from

RMB14,645 to RMB15,800 per tonne
BN FEBMARE 14645TE

AR ¥ 15,8007T 4 H

Buy at prices ranged from

RMB16,500 to RMB 16,550 per tonne
BN T EEARE 165007 F

AR 165507 & A

Sell at prices ranged from
USD2,005 to USD2,036 per tonne
BN T EWE2005% L E
20363 TU oA i

Buy at prices ranged from
USD 1,849 to USD2,026 per tonne
BN FEWE|849ETE
2026 T E A

Nickel future contracts:

BEHEEH

Sell at prices ranged from
USD 18,203 to USD18,540 per tonne
BN FEM18203ETE
18,540 7T )

Buy at prices ranged from
USD 18,230 to USD18,300 per tonne
BN FEMI8230ETE
18300 TTE A

Standard
trading unit

BEISEMN

5 tonnes
SH

5 tonnes
SME

25 tonnes
250

25 tonnes

250

6 tonnes

6

6 tonnes
6

Total unit
By

4,852

55

521

[ 121

78

78

2 THEERBTH @

PiteE - ()

(a) BELCEHEANTEHRRNOT : ()
R=-ZB——5+=-A=+—-8 (&)

Maturity
F8E

|5 March 2012
—E-——F=8B+HH

|5 February 2012
—ET-_%_AthA

Ranged from |4 February 2012 to
7 March 2012

BT —4#-ATEmBEZE
—F-——F=HtH

Ranged from 14 February 2012 to
23 March 2012
A-F--f-AtWAZE
T —f£=H=+Z=H

Ranged from 9 February 2012 to
29 February 2012

BE-E-——f-ARAE
—F-—%-A=-tAhHE

Ranged from 14 February 2012 to
29 February 2012

B-Z——F-ATWAZE
—Z-—-—4£-H=tNH
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GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24THELRT R »

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) PasE o ()

(a) Major terms of future contracts on non-ferrous metals are set out a) FEEBHESGNETEGRNT @ (&)

below: (Continued)

At 31 December 2010

R-Z2-2F+-A=t—H

Standard

Contracted future price trading unit Total unit Maturity

ERHBEER BEXSEN BMEN EEGRE

Copper future contracts:

HHREEH

Sell at prices ranged from 5 tonnes L2 Ranged from |5 February 201 | to
RMB61,400 to RMB71,510 per tonne SHE I5 April 2011

BN T EWARK6 400TE BZE——4%-A+HHZE
ARMET15107T 54 H —Z——#@WAt+AHA

Buy at prices ranged from 5 tonnes 8l Ranged from |5 February 2011 to
RMB59,800 to RMB70,080 per tonne 5 I5 April 201

BN T8 ARK59,8007TE BE-Z——f-AftHAZ
AR 70,0807 E A —E——fMA+AHA

Sell at prices ranged from 25 tonnes 500 Ranged from 7 January 201 | to
USD8, 160 to USD9,514 per tonne 250 31 March 2011

BN T B8 160X TE B-Z——%—AtHA=Z
T 9514% Tk “Z-——#%=ZA=+—-H

Buy at prices ranged from 25 tonnes 214 Ranged from 7 January 201 | to
USD8,096 to USD9,625 per tonne 250 31 March 201 |

BN T B8 096E T E BE-_Z——F—HtRAE
9.625KTLE A —E——%=R=+—H

Aluminium future contracts:

HHRAEK

Sell at prices ranged from 5 tonnes 1,088 Ranged from |5 January 2011 to
RMBI5,655 to RMB 16,835 per tonne SHE |5 March 201 |

BN FEBBMARE1565TLE BE-_F——F—HAThAE
AR 16,8357T A H —Z——%=Rt+AA

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF




24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(2)

Major terms of future contracts on non-ferrous metals are set out

below: (Continued)

At 31 December 2010 (Continued)

Contracted future price

BHHEER

Zinc future contracts:

HHEEEH :

Sell at prices ranged from
RMB17,630 to RMB21,270 per tonne
BNFEBARE 17630LE
AR#2127070 5% i

Buy at prices ranged from

RMB17,895 to RMB19,025 per tonne
BN FEMARK17895TE

AR 19025 E A

Sell at prices ranged from

USD2,167 to USD2,316 per tonne
BN FEWELITETLE

23165 708

Buy at prices ranged from
USD2,175 to USD2,630 per tonne
BN FEHLI75ETE
2630ETTE A

Standard
trading unit

BERZEMN

5 tonnes
SR

5 tonnes
SME

25 tonnes

250

25 tonnes

2508

Total unit
e

3,852

245

324

744

The future contracts are measured at fair values based on the quoted

prices in active markets at the end of the reporting period, with gain or

loss recognised directly in the profit or loss.

2 THEERBTH @

Pitst : (&)

a FELBHESHIERFNT : (8)

R-Z2-ZE+_-A=+—-8 (&)

Maturity
38 A

Ranged from |5 February 2011 to
16 May 201 |

BE-T——%-A+HAZ
—Z——%AAt+RH

Ranged from |5 January 201 | to
I5 April 201 |

BE-Z——%—-A+HAE
“E——f0NA+AHA

Ranged from 21 January 2011 to
31 March 2011

G-T-—4-A=t-8
E-T——%=RA=+—H

Ranged from 2| January 201 | to
31 March 201 |

B=F-—%-A=t-A
Z_T——%=H=+—H

RBERR BESOBRBRRERT
1% R (B A @ﬁﬁﬁ% HBEBEERA
2 NFER o
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |

BE-C——51-A=1—ALFE

24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts are as follows:

At 31 December 2011

Notional amount

EELH

2 contracts to buy
RMB377,960,000 in total
MEHNEHEA

A R #377,960,0007T

4 contracts to sell
USD59,000,000 in total
MR EHEHIEE

59,000,000 7T

I'5 contracts to buy
USD19,920,251 in total
ISHRHEHEA

19,920,251 3 7T

At 31 December 2010

Notional amount

EREH

2 contracts to sell
USD80,000,000 in total
R EHAE A

80,000,000 7T

36 contracts to buy
USD119,899,703 in total
HEHEHEA

119,899,703% 7T

140 China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HE&BEEEER (121) ARAS

Forward contracted rates

BHEHAE

USD|: RMB6.2680 to 6.3150
IETH ARE62680TE

AR#631507T

USDI: RMB6.3231 to 6.3400
IZETHARKEIBITE
AR #6.340070

USDI: RMB6.3474 to 6.4150

IZETHRARK63474LE
AR #641507T

Forward contracted rates
BHEHA=E

USD I: RMB6.6377 to 6.7450

IZTHARK66377TE
AR 674507T

USD I: RMB6.4850 to 6.7930

I£TLH AR 648500 &
AR 6793078

24.0TEERTI R %

s : (%)
(a) SNEERMANEEZHRAWT
R=F--%+t=A=t+-H

Maturity
38 A

From [5 February 2012 to 20 August 2012
EZZ—-4-RA+RBZE
—Z-—#/\A=tH

From 9 May 2012 to 21 May 2012

BE-E-—-FRANAE
—E-ZFAA=t—H
From 30 January 2012 to || July 2012
BE-Z-——%-A=1+HE
S = il =|
R-2-2F+t-A=+—H

Maturity
F8MAE

From 24 January 201 | to 26 January 201 |

BE-ZZE——%—AZ-tWBEZ
—T——%—fA=-+H

From 6 February 201 | to 27 September 201 |

BEZZE——4-AKHZE
—E——FNRAZ+tH



24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24 TEERT R %

(Continued)
The above foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate FRAEBEEER TR UG
swaps of the Group that are denominated in the currencies other AENTEENEERS HRAXiEH
than functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out (N
below:
Assets Liabilities
HKD HKD
equivalent equivalent
of USD of USD
BE afE
ETHEE BTHEE
Xt Xt
HK$:000 HK$:000
TET TET
As at 31 December 2011 R=ZB-——-+=ZA=+—8H 461 (1,245)
As at 31 December 2010 RZE-ZTF+-A=+—H 8,129 (10,131)

All of the Group's future contracts on non-ferrous metals are

denominated in the functional currencies of the relevant group

entities for both years.

i

A
AN
=

=

it

MEFEN  AEBFEEELHH
AN EEE RN
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GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

25.PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 25.EEHRITHER
The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks to secure the BEERROTEFIEALCEERER —RR
general banking facilities granted to the Group. All the deposits are TREMmMEMBTEANTR - MEFEX
pledged to secure short-term facilities and therefore, classified as BIERRARBEHNRE Bt - BRK
current assets. BARBDEE -
The above pledged bank deposits of the Group that are AR EBR BB EE AT
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of AENAEEEERRITFERAT -

the relevant group entities are set out below.

HKD
equivalent of
usb
BTHNEE HKD
Y BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
As at 31 December 201 | R=B-——-F+=ZA=+—H - -
As at 31 December 2010 R_F—FF+-H=1+—H 5843 5,466
The pledged bank deposits of the Group carry interest at the AEECERRTERRUATEE N X
following fixed interest rates: e
2011 2010
—E——fF —F—FF
Range of interest rates per annum FEMENF 0.36% to£5.30% 0.01% tox2.75%
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES/BILLS

PAYABLE

The aged analysis of the Group's trade payables, presented based on

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, is as follows:

265 REMEMRIE FE

HE

REEHR - AEBENE ZKEMNK

RO (REZEM2INWT -

2011 2010
—E2-—-F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$:000
FET TET

Trade payables: ENEHHE
0 - 30 days 0£30H 995,844 938,813
31 - 60 days 31£60H 1,023,810 891,316
61 - 90 days 61290H 410,858 822,360
91 - 120 days 912 120H 395 715,714
[21 - 150 days 1212 150H 9,808 370,087
Over 150 days 1508 742 23,484
2,441,457 3,761,774

Other payables: H b FE 5 3R
Accruals [EETE A 79,454 45,589

Consideration payable for acquisition BEENHE AR

of additional interest in a subsidiary BINEmMENNKE 3,537 10,961
Deposits received from customers BEREFPERE 149,453 146,144
Other taxes payable H fth & A5 £ 18 8,972 30,257
Amounts payable to brokers (note) JE S 40 03B (B &E) 127,274 133,695
Others HAth 31,164 43,083
399,854 409,729
2,841,311 4,171,503
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GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES/BILLS

PAYABLE (Continued)

Note: Amounts payable to brokers are arising from the Group's margin
accounts for its derivative instruments. Out of the amount,
HK$103,305,000 (2010: HK$55,654,000) is unsecured and interest
bearing at LIBOR plus a spread, ranging from 1% to 2% (2010: 0.5%
to 19%) and HK$23,969,000 (2010: HK$78,041,000) is interest-free
and secured by inventories with a carrying amount of
HK$ 106,582,000 (2010: HK$131,979,000) (see note 20).

The average credit period on purchase of goods is up to 60 days.

All the bills payable of the Group are aged within 360 days (2010:
180 days) and not yet due at the end of the reporting period. Bills
payable are secured by pledged bank deposits of HK$335,934,000
(2010: HK$370,056,000) and bills receivable of HK$181,646,000

(2010: Nil)

The above trade and other payables and bills payable that are

denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of

the relevant group entities are set out below:

As at 31 December 2011
As at 31 December 2010

26 B REMEMNRIE FE
HER @

Me: ERNEEHNREELEERASENEL
EMBRESLFOD - RBEF
103,305,000% T (=& — £ F :
55,654,000/ 7T) /2 K 7 K & 2R
ARERENNTF1%E2% (ZE—F
F:05%E1%) MEEFE M
23,969,000 T (= & — T F
78,041,000% ) A% E R BREER
106,582,000% T (= & — £ F :
131,979,000 7T) B 7 & EHE 4R (R Bl
20) °

EMEBOFHEEHM T EE60R -

REE 2 A BN EE 2Rk T HBi1B360
B(ZZ—Z4 : 180H) ' RREHAKL
REH  -ENEBHEERRTER
335,934,000 © (= & — T &
370,056,000 T ) K & W F &
181,646,000/ 7T (Z T —Z4F : ) (Fif

ﬁ o

FAEBREEEENREEEININEE
FENE S K R FRIE AR EA R

BT
HKD HKD
equivalent of equivalent of
UsD RMB
BTHEE BLTNEE
EY AR®
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
A=+-—H 894,921 48,128
A=+—H | 404 —
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27.AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 27.FEF M B AT EREKRIRE

SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES MmIE
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ZEFAREER  RERNEREE
j;%‘ o
28.DISCOUNTED BILLS 28 BHIRE R
The amounts represent the Group's bank borrowings secured by BRRBEDIEREE AR BRITRARM B
bills discounted to banks with recourse (see note 22). The ranges of REZBREERORTER(RMTE
effective interest rates per annum in respect of the Group's 22) - AKERBAERENUREENE
discounted bills with recourse are as follows: REMXBEMT -
2011 2010
—B-—F —T-%F
Effective interest rates per annum ERFH =X 0.60% to£4.70% 0.36% toZ3.06%
The above discounted bills that are denominated in currencies other FRAFBREEERNEEBAINEE
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set SENERERMAT
out below:
HKD HKD
equivalent of  equivalent of
UsD RMB
BLIHNEE BTHEE
Ey AR®
HK$'000 HK$:000
FET FHET
At as 31 December 2011 R=F2-——%+=-A=+-H 127,685 155,638
At as 31 December 2010 R-_FT-—FF+-HA=1+—H — -
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

29.BANK BORROWINGS 29 SR1TIERK
2011 2010
—E——F —T-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank loans RITEX
— Fixed-rate —E B 2,379,564 2,056,445
— Variable-rate —FR 2,286,610 1,257,458
4,666,174 3,313,903
Secured A 3,627,234 1,952,131
Unsecured i 1,038,940 1,361,772
4,666,174 3,313,903
The maturity of the above Fat B R B H
loans is as follows: ERWAT :
Within one year R—FA 4,300,320 2,960,962
In more than one year but not —FRETEBAME
exceeding two years 365,854 —
In more than two years but not MERETEBRB=F
exceeding three vears — 352,941
4,666,174 3,313,903
Less: Amount repayable within one B R —FRERT
year shown under current liabilities SIIARBEENER (4,300,320) (2,960,962)
Amount due after one year —FREMNEE 365,854 352,941
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29.BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 29 SRITHE R (@)

The Group's variable-rate borrowings are mainly subject to interest AEENFEERFERBABITRE
at LIBOR plus a spread, ranging from 0.9% to 3.5% (2010: 0.7% to HEMNF09%ZE3.5%(ZF—ZF :
3%), Prime Rate of the relevant bank in Hong Kong or such rate plus 0.7%E3%) MEZ - BEMEBRITHE
a spread of 1% or 105% or 110% of PBOC Base Lending Rate. The BRI MEFE1%HEE - HATE
ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group's bank EERHNEE105%3110%:T 8 » KN&E
borrowings are as follows: BSRTERNERFNERGEENT
2011 2010
—B-—fF —T-TF
Effective interest rates: BERRA =
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEN 1.20% toZ8.70% |.20% to%5.10%
Variable-rate borrowings EEER 1.73% to2£7.63% 1.55% to£5.62%

The above Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in PN FREEERI TR UINERTE
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group MAREBRITERET :

entities are set out below:

HKD
equivalent of
uUsD

) HKD

£EER BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

As at 31 December 201 | R-—ZF-——%+=-HA=+-—H 1,083,697 —

As at 31 December 2010 RZE—ZTF+A=T—H 1,122,183 17,200
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

30.DEFERRED TAXATION 30.EEHIE
The deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and AEBENFARBNETCHEEERE
movements thereon during the year are as follows: EREEHMOT :

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax losses Total
iR BRI E BREEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
At | January 2010 R-_Z—ZF—-H—H 686 (686) —
(Credited) charged for the year REE (BR) 5t (413) 413 =
At 31 December 2010 R-_E—FF
+=—A=+—H 273 73) —
(Credited) charged for the year REE (HR) G (202) 202 —
At 31 December 2011 R=B——%
+=-A=+-H 71 (7 —

At 31 December 2011, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$ 114,079,000 (2010: HK$ 1 17,486,000) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$432,000 (2010: HK$1,653,000) of such losses. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
amounting to HK$ 113,647,000 (2010: HK$115,833,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of HK$62,597,000 (2010: HK$79,518,000) that will
expire in various dates up to 2016. Other losses may be carried

forward indefinitely.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF

RZE——F+=ZA=+—0 ' ~5H
A] PR 40 R s M 9 18 R B A B 1 S
1 /114,079,0008 L (ZF — T F -
117,486,000 L) ' Bz S EEF L
432,000 7L (ZZF—Z 4 : 1,653,000
) ERREEHBEEAE - AR KRR
AEBFIRE  BEEREBOTEES
1 113,647,000%8 T (= T — T F -
115,833,000/& 70) RELEHIEELE -
AR H B E B 2 1562,597,000% 7T
(ZZ—Z 4 : 79,518,000/ L) ) &
B BREEZZT - FLENZEAS
38 Hi R ER A o



30.DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

31

At 31 December 2011, the Group had deductible temporary
differences of HK$231,000,000 (2010: HK$8,717,000) in respect of
allowance for inventories. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary differences as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law, 10% withholding income tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned from | January 2008
to non-PRC resident investors of the companies established in the
PRC. For investors incorporated in Hong Kong, a preferential rate of
5% will be applied. Deferred tax has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to such undistributed profits from PRC
subsidiaries amounting to HK$433,753,000 (2010: HK$192,710,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

30EEMHIE )

RZZE——&+=ZRA=+—H " 558
A H0OR E BF 1 &= £ 231,000,000 T
(ZZ—Z% : 8,717,000/ L) ATF & B
1 o B IRE & B R B m A if 7] A DA
ANz EREEEZAJRETK B
AERZEUMBEREEZERAEL
HBEE -

RIBECEMBRE  REABKHA A
BREZZTNF-A—HERIMNEF
RFEFEEREEESTIRE SR BN
10%TBHIFTEH o MBS MK AR
BEEANZHEERMEL% - ARAEE
AT EENEOREAERES
RARBREAETERRD - R ER
ZE BB R B AR 5 R e (R &
B FF = %5433,753,0008 L (Z T — T
% : 192,710,000 70) 4R & M &
FERER BB o

instalments in ten years commencing from the year 2003,

.OTHER LONG-TERM PAYABLE MEMRIEMNRIE
2011 2010
—B-—F —T-%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Total other long-term payable Hh R EIER BRIB AR 235 470

Less: current portion included AL qu)\,H\ﬁﬁFEHM

in other payables &) BN 5 &8 23 (235) (235)
— 235
The amount represents payable for acquisition of property, plant and ZRBERBENE  HERREBENER
equipment which is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable by HIE - DEER 428 BAB-EZT

=FEFATERDHER
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BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

32.SHARE CAPITAL 321 &
Number
of shares Amount
RGEHE -]
HK$
T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.000| each FREE0.00017% T ) & K
Authorised: ETE
At | January 2010, 31 December 2010 RZZE-ZF-F—H
and 31 December 201 | “2-TF+-A=+—H
r—E——%+-RA=+—-8 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRERE
At | January 2010 RZZE-ZF-F—H 1,045,000,000 104,500
Exercise of share options 10 B At 2,274,675 27
Issue of shares RZE—ZFFE+-H=-1+=H
on 22 December 2010 (note) IR () 90,000,000 9,000
At 31 December 2010 R_E-FF+-_A=1+—H [,137,274,675 113,727
Exercise of share options e 3,411,100 341
As at 31 December 201 R-E-—-§+-A=t—-H 1,140,685,775 114,068
HK$'000
FET
Shown in the consolidated financial statements RGBT BRENTIRA
As at 31 December 2011 R-ZE-——-%+-A=1+-H 114
As at 31 December 2010 R-_FE-ZF+-A=+—H |14
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32.SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note: On 9 December 2010, arrangements were made for a private

placement to independent private investors of 90,000,000 shares of
HK$0.000!1 each in the Company held by Wellrun Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, at a price of HK$7.85 per
share representing a discount of approximately |1.10% to the closing

market price of the Company's shares on 9 December 2010.

Pursuant to a subscription agreement of the same date, Wellrun
Limited subscribed for 90,000,000 new shares of HK$0.0001 each in
the Company at a price of HK$7.85 per share. The proceeds were
used for existing and future acquisitions, capital expenditure on plant
and machinery and as general working capital of the Group. These
new shares were issued under the general mandate granted to the
directors at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 27
May 2010.

The new shares allotted and issued rank pari passu in all respects

with other shares in issue.

2.5 & &)

B

RZZE—FTF+=-ANAB ' EFABIL
FAAREEFLAREAARAERRR
i & B R A BH5E 290,000,0008 Bk
0.0001 BT ZARRIRMBIELTH + &
MBI AERT. 8B T BADRRG
RZE—ZTF+-_AhBAzZKkmERE
#11.10% °

BERAB 2 RERZ  HEERARIR
Fi%7.85% 7T 2 (B1§3R#590,000,000/%
FMR0.0001 77T 2 AR AFARA - AR
HEEARBERRARKE - BER#E
BrEARIRASEZ —KREEE
% REFROHBBEARAIR-Z—
TERA-ZTEARTZRRBFEAS
MEERLZ —REEET

MEHRBTHRONEMA T EHEEM
B#TOAMERMA
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33.ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION OF
A SUBSIDIARY

In July 2010, the Group acquired a 99.68% equity interest in Jiangsu
Jiangyin Port Container Company Limited (*“Jiangyin Container") and
related operating assets from independent third parties for an
aggregate consideration of RMB221,110,000 (equivalent to
HK$251,261,000). Jiangyin Container was previously engaged in the
business of the provision of port services including warehousing,
stevedoring and transportation of goods. The acquisition provides
the Group with an exclusive port along the Yangzi River to serve as a
regional logistics and distribution hub supporting the Group's
recycling base in the Jiangsu region. The Group accounted for the

transaction as acquisition of assets and liabilities.

The assets acquired and liabilities recognised in the transaction are

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

BEBWEE—EMEBEAEK

BEERAR

RZZB—ZF+A AEERBUE=
FRBIHRIREERAEREAR (NI
BREEsfE])99.68%a R EAMLE A
= BREAAR®K221,110,0007T (8
&1 251,261,00087T) - TREEM 2
AREREBORBZEL  BER
- BEEHREWESR - ZWE AN
SERBUNRRIZEBREA  {EAX
RASEEIHME 2 B E 2R
MRRDERL NEBBZRHER
ARBEERARE -

RERHZPBLEERERZARD

as follows: N
HK$'000
FET
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB R&E 206,284
Prepaid lease payments ANEENE 45,962
Other payables H th & 1+ FXIE (178)
252,068

The non-controlling interest of 0.32% in Jiangyin Container
recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of fair value of the net
assets of Jiangyin Container and amounted to HK$807,000.

Cash outflow arising on acquisition WBEEZRERH
Consideration paid in cash MHRexMZRE

R R TR EEM0.32%3F
EHlEEm 2 E R RERIIRER
MBEEEZLAFEZLAGE B
807,000/ 7T °

HK$'000
TET

251,261
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34.DEREGISTRATION/DISPOSAL OF 34518 HEMEBAT
SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 201 | BE-Z2-——-F+-H=+—-HLFE

During the year, the Group deregistered its wholly-owned subsidiary, TR AEEFHE-BE2EMBAFE
Yatong Metal (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd.. we®d ORI BERAA -

HK$'000

TET

Net assets immediately before deregistration: £ &% $8 B A ) F & £
Bank balances and cash RITERRR® 6,872

Cumulative exchange differences in respect aE 88 1 K & M B & Rl il R i

of the net assets of the subsidiary 1 £ T B A B F & E H

reclassified from equity to profit or loss BaEfoEZEER

on loss of control of the subsidiary WEz R ERER

representing gain on deregistration 198
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34.DEREGISTRATION/DISPOSAL OF 3458 HEMBAT »
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2010 BE-Z-ZF+-HA=Z+-HLFE
In September 2010, the Group entered into an agreement to RZZE-ZFNA  KEEFLHE
dispose of its entire 70% equity interest in Zhangjiagang Rongli HEERRRERNBLEBRARRAA
Zaisheng Ziyuan Co,, Ltd. (“Zhangjiagang Rongli"), which is engaged ([RRBEHMI) 22 E70%K#E - KX
in collection, processing and sale of recycled scrap metal. The net ARMREELY  MIRFEERKES
assets of Zhangiagang Rongli at the date of disposal were as follows: B RREZMRHLERHRZFEEN
T

HK$'000

FET

Property, plant and equipment ME - BB R&E 4,463
Inventories FE 5,209
Trade and other receivables and deposits BoOREMERRERES 14,606
Bank balances and cash RITEAREA S 373
Trade and other payables B NEMENRIEA (14,840)
Net assets disposal of BHEFEE 9,811

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

HE— BB QR GRS

Consideration received BElRRE 13,258
Net assets disposed of EHEFEE (9.811)
Non-controlling interests IR & 5,524

Cumulative exchange differences in respect
of the net assets of the subsidiary

reclassified from equity to profit or loss

B K £ B B A B 422 I
i B2 /B 2 B % B
BaBH I BERS

on loss of control of the subsidiary ZEGTERER 307
Gain on disposal HEES 2 s 9,278
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEELEZHERATRE
Cash consideration RearE 13,258
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B EHERTEBRRES (373)

12,885

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HE&BH4ER (I2Kk) HRAF




35.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group had the following assets pledged to banks to secure the
general banking facilities granted to the Group at the end of the

35. 5 E M

RBEEHR  AEBEHATEELR
TiRTT  RERAEEERSN —RRT

reporting period: A
2011 2010
—E2——-fF —T-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Inventories e 534,462 398,776
Bills receivable e =& 1,500,298 449,358
Bank deposits RITFER 1,334,043 1,630,541
Investment properties REME —_ 1,638
Prepaid lease payments BREERE - 2,720
Trade receivables B 5 MR IE — 53,535
3,368,803 2,536,568
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36.OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases during the year

are as follows:

e

g

%

Office and factory premises PIREREE

36.E2HE

AEEEREEA

FARBKZHEE N HEHEEREN
T

2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBTT
26,133 26,063

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases which

fall due as follows:

RBmERR  AEBBERUATBEHE
ORI HERENARZEEENK
RMAENT

2011 2010

—E-——F —T-ZF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET TET

Within one year —FR 16,589 20,153
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_ZELF (BREEMF) 39,222 35,167
Over five years HEFEE 87,039 81,800
142,850 137,120

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable by the
Group for leasehold land and office and factory premises in the PRC.
Leases are negotiated for terms of fifteen to twenty years and
rentals are fixed during the lease period.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF

REBENFEIERARERELNF
BOnEEL R AERKREEMMHE
o REFNEEL  EFHATI
E-4+F HEPAEESEE -



36.OPERATING LEASES (Continued) 36.852HE »

The Group as lessor AEBEAHEA
Property rental income earned during the year is as follows: REAMBRNDEBRSBADT ¢
2011 2010
—2-—-F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET TET
Rental income MelA - 165
The Group did not have any operating leases arrangements with AEERMERSHESY EEEFET
tenants at the end of both reporting periods. VEMEEHERE -
37.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37.BARKiE
2011 2010
—B-—F —T-2F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Capital expenditure contracted for but not SR EORER 23N
provided in the consolidated financial e MBHRERA
statements in respect of: BENERHAX
— acquisition of property, plant -WENE  BE
and equipment B 5,333 67,065
— addition of construction in progress —MEERIRE 8,609 11,206
— addition of land use rights — TR 97,561 4,598
— capital injection in an associate —R—EBERRIE 32,399 235294

143,902 318,163
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution of the then sole shareholder of
the Company on 22 May 2009, the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Scheme") was adopted by the Company.
Pursuant to the Pre-IPO Scheme, the Company may grant
options to any full-time or part-time employees or potential
employees, executives, officers or directors of the Company, its
subsidiaries and associated companies (“Eligible Participants™) to
subscribe for shares of the Company. The purpose of the Pre-
IPO Scheme is to recognise the contribution that Eligible
Participants made or may have made to the growth of the
Group. It aims to give Eligible Participants an opportunity to
acquire a personal stake in the Company and help motivate
Eligible Participants to optimise their performance and efficiency,
and also to help attract or retain Eligible Participants whose
contributions are important to the long-term growth and

profitability of the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted is 100,000,000 shares, representing 0% of
shares of the issued share capital of the Company immediately
upon listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange on 22 June 2009 (“Listing”), but excluding any shares
which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of the options
granted or to be granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme, the other
schemes and shares that may fall to be issued upon the exercise

of the over-allotment option in connection with the Listing.

Options granted have to be taken up within a period of 60 days
from the date of offer upon payment of HK$I.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF

B.LUKNRZHFRS
LIRS R st &l

(a) BERDFARENBRETH

BEARAEENE-KRRN_-F
ZAERA-+T-_ARBHEER
FE - ARARAERRFAEEA
BRESS (TAERAHEERG
2l -RBBEERLHEEANTE
ARBAAAAR  EHRBARR
BERRMELBARBERIE
EE 1TBAE RABREIES
(TRERZ2EBAL]) R HBIREN
REARARD - BERAREEH
AEEERRAEARZEALAR
SEMERFHAKAEFLENE
B ReER2EALRAKER
AREAESOHE  THEES
REBRZ2EATRARENRER
BE - TR ZREHARERE
ZRMBNEENEHNAGERS
BAL -

ERABRETRLAKRNEE LR
£100,000,000f% &0 + HER AR
ARBEAAABROR-_ZZZNEF
NAZTZHEREXRMEM (ML
M) BEBETRAI0%  ETFEE
ARERTEREE X AHE SR
B R H A AT &I k8 TR B AR
BMBEIORG  ARATEETE
B Lme BBk EmZETHR

1/'\ ®

ARBRLNBHRERIRREZ A
BRI B RERS  RAEA
BT °



38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Share options granted under the Pre-IPO Scheme are
exercisable at the initial offer price to the public (i.e. HK$5.18
per share) in the Listing. Each of the holders of the share
options under the Pre-IPO Scheme shall be entitled to exercise

his/her options in the following manner:

Service period that
share options can be
exercised after the date of Listing

R T B 1R AT 17 68 R A 4 B BR 75 ER

Attaining | year HAF
Attaining 2 years HHE2F
Attaining 3 years HA3F

BBUBEBZRIRS @

DESEREBRESS (&)

(a) BRDMBEAMBRETS ()

ITEREERRAFAEEN SR
HEOBREARETARALNEG
RBEEE BIBBRKRMNE.188TT) 1T
£ - BRRFAEERG S MNERE
BREANGBARBEATHIATELRE
g -

Maximum accumulated
percentage of

share options exercisable
ATAT 6 B AR £
ZHBEOLER

33.33%
66.67%
100%

3 Annual Report 2011

159




160

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options had

been granted and remained outstanding as at 3| December
2011 was 17,494,210 (2010: 20,553,510) shares, representing
approximately 1.53% (2010: 1.81%) of the issued share capital of

the Company at that date. Details of the share options granted

BLUERIZRRXS @

DESEEBRESS (&)

(a)

BERORBENBRESS (&)

N
/i

RZZE——F+=ZA=+—H"
BRERHRTEERESR 2N
B E174942100 (2 — %
% :20,5653,5100%) * KEAA A
ZHZBEETRA153% (2%

=]

kooy 4

under the Pre-IPO Scheme and their movements are as follows: F:181%) - BEBERAFEESA]
AERE R EREREEE BN
T
Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding asat aat
Category of asat 31122010 31122001
Eligihle Evercise 112010 Forleted Transferred Brercked ~ H=5-3F% Brercsed ~ HZ3--F
Particpants Date of price  Exercisable Vesting H-§-8% during during during =k during =
2ERS8 grant per share  period date -f-8 the year the year the year zt-A the year =1-A
ALER REAR SRAEE  fRH 5808 BRGR REMRN RERET RERGE BRfE RERGE CESit
Directors 19 une 2009 HGSI8 e 0I018Jwe 07 2w 00 347490 - (128700) - 334620 (514800) 18140
2 ZEENERATE LgET ZE3-BEARCtIR ZE-3ERAZTCR
E2R-thrATIR
Bjune 001-18Jne 007 Bune W11 3474904 - (126:700) - 3346204 - 3346204
“3--ERAztER Z3--EnAzfER
EE-1ERATIA
Bl 002-8ne 017 23June 2012 3474904 - (128700) - 3346204 - 3346204
“E-CERBCPIR CF-CERACfIR
E2R-tErATIR
10424710 - (386,00) - 10038610 (S14800) 9513810
Employees 19 June 2009 HRSS.I8 22 june 201018 june 2017 DJue 010 4166566 (1) 128700 (2274675) 1968516 (14175L5) S9!
nder ZRRNERBTE AL T -7 B 7 o
contiuous BE-tERATIA
enployment Bline 001-18Jne 017 23 June 11 4166667 (2175) 128700 - 426319 (1126975) 3136207
ntet it e 1 N S Y. o
EHEE ER-tEARTIE
2HNEE BjneW28jme T Blue N 41T ) 28700 - 4263192 - 426319
Z3-CERACTER C3-zERAzfER
BE-LERATIA
12500000 (%525) 386100 (2074675) 10314900 (2544500) 7970400
1970 (%505) - (2274675) 20553510 (3059300 7494210
Evendsale t the end of the year
ERTfiE S34718 9884814

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF




38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS BURKIZFRS @)

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued) DEZEEBRETSE (&)

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) (a) BRDBAREANBRETE (B)
In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the RENTELBERE  RNTEAH
weighted average share price at the dates of exercise is ZIMEFHRADEERBERITLE
HK$9.74 (2010: HK$8.33) per share. T(ZZE—ZF :8338TT) °
The Group recognised an expense of HK$9,488,000 (2010: AEENFAREBEARARES
HK$20,181,000) for the year in relation to share options RARBESRER L BRERR
granted by the Company under the Pre-IPO Scheme. fl % 9,488,000 T (ZT—ZTF :

20,181,000% 7T) °
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme

Also, pursuant to a written resolution of the then sole
shareholder of the Company on 22 May 2009, the Share Option

Scheme (the “Scheme”) was also adopted.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company may grant options to any
full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers including
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any
suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisors (“Eligible
Scheme Participants”) who, in the sole opinion of the board of
directors, will contribute or have contributed to the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries. The Scheme is a share incentive
scheme and is established to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions Eligible Scheme Participants had or may have
made to the Group. The Scheme will provide Eligible Scheme
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company with the view to motivating Eligible Scheme
Participants to optimise their performance efficiency for the
benefit of the Group and to attract and retain or otherwise
maintain on-going business relationships with Eligible Scheme
Participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group. The Scheme is valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from 22 June 2009, the date of
Listing.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HEI&BFE4AER (#1&) HARAF

BLUERIZRRXS @

DESEEBRESS (&)

(b) BERRAESE

RSN BRI A B E B A M — AR
R-ZEZAFEA-_+-_BREBN
EERER - ADE] IR AR
& (T&zatEll) -

RiE&ZaE - RRAHAREFNZ
BRBES THABXRABR
B (BREARBREMANBLAN
EE NRESE2RIAR/MEX
—EARARAR/REEMHMEAR
AEHEREMHER TP
HAER - KERER) ([§ &R
A2EAL]) REBRE - &5
REBRMDEBTE  ARFRE
HEBRFHN2BEALTHALEE
HEATREEL B RM R © &t
AR RAERE2EALRME -
EARAAREEBARDNEE -
DARBD 18 5 AN SR B B0 R 25 T 3R )
RAAKRBRARE YR RBR
RERFEZEALHSTERE
B2 BATRBFENEHE
R MzEEERSEALINE
B DHARHARENRERR
M- Zt8 B -TTAFARAZ
T-RETEHBEFI0FABR



38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS BURKZEFRS »)

(Continued)
NEZEEBRESS (&)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (b) BRESE (&)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme shall not
in aggregate exceed 0% of shares of the Company as of the
date of the approval by the shareholders in general meeting,
without approval from the Company's shareholders. The shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company at any time shall
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. The
maximum number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible Scheme
Participant in any twelve-month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as of the date of

grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of their respective associates is required to be approved by
the independent non-executive directors (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the
options). Where granting of options to a substantial shareholder
or any independent non-executive director or their respective
associates which will result in the number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of options granted and to be
granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
to such person in the twelve-month period up to and including
the date of such grant exceed of 0.1% of the total number of
shares in issue and have an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5,000,000, based on the official closing price of the shares at
the date of each grant, such proposed grant of options will be
subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the

approval of the shareholders in general meeting.

Al BE AT REAR R %t B A Xt O P
ARBEMBTORNEE LRA
ATEBERRRKRRASH AR
B ARBRD10% (BEARQRR
RiLE) - AIERTEREZT SR
AR B ] E At B A A 81 AT IR
BRRITENMBRBRENZTH
B ERE IR GHEBTRD %
TR #930% » FEEMR + =18 A &
HEERG AR ERTEREZ
AT &) R A2 AT (] A B AR T 3
MEBLAERIEL2EALTREN
BEE (BRETERERITENE
i) M7 R BRTHRNBHD
FEARRLAHMEHTRNOK
1% °

RMARARIEE - TBTHABRE
ERE(EHER TR HEES
B &) fF ] B B AL ] B AR
BRBUFHITES (TREAANS
BREREARANBLIERTES)
Bk - EREERRKEMBILIE
HITEZIRESENEMHEA
REERE $EZRN+=-@AH
HEZRLAH(RERLAEH) B
AEMEBEZSEALTRERGERH
MERE (BEEAE  BEERE
RITEBIRE) MBETREBEITRR
MBEABBERTRN A
01%  BERESELBHROHE
FHTERE - BB 15,000,000
BT+ BIZBRFAR A BB A K I &
BREFRRAS LA FAIRZE
B Em R AE o
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 38.LLB#Z 3% 5 »

(Continued)
NEREEBRESS (&)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued) ) BREE (F)

Options granted have to be taken up within a period of 30 days
from the date of offer upon payment of HK$I.

The exercise price is determined by the board of directors and
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the
Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be a day on
which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of
dealing in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing price of the shares on the
Stock Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and

(i) the nominal value of the shares.

Options granted are exercisable for a period to be notified by
the board of directors to each grantee and such period shall
expire not later than 10 years from the date of grant of options.

During the year ended 3| December 2011, 833,333 and
2,951,598 (2010: 828,317 and 2,691,619) options were granted
to Eligible Scheme Participants under the Scheme on 28 January
2011 and 26 August 2011 (2010: 8 June 2010 and 27 August
2010), respectively. The estimated fair values of the options
granted on those dates are HK$3,272,000 and HK$10,539,000
(2010: HK$2,659,000 and HK$9,062,000), respectively.

The total number of shares in respect of which options had
been granted and remained outstanding was 12,101,574 (2010:
9,126,342) shares, representing approximately 1.06% (2010:
0.80%) of the issued share capital of the Company at 3|
December 201 1.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF

PR B RIR NI 2 B HERT30
ARE®  BRRAMIEBT -

TEEBRESERTE @ EXEHBR
EAERTARER T SBENR
S
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)ﬂ&lﬁ% ;

(i) ZEEZAPMAMEEXEH
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RFFFHETRTE &
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FIEBREINRESENGZ AR
AR - MZBEARK L
ERERHTFRER -
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FE ERBZTESFHINR=-ZF
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A)mAEWKTE2HEERY
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BoRZEEBRRE2BREZG
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10,539,000 T (= T — T F
2,659,000 7t %2 9,062,000/ 7T) °
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS BURKZEFRS »)

(Continued)

DESEEBRESS (&)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (b) BRESE (&)

RZZE——F—A=F+NBER=Z

Share options granted under the Scheme on 28 January 201 |

and 26 August 201 | are exercisable at the prices of HK$9.00
and HK$8.47 per share, respectively. Each of the holders of the
share options under the Scheme shall be entitled to exercise

his/her options in the following manner:

——ENA -+ ANBREZER
/) B AR HE 9 Bl IR B % 9.0078 T &
FRATE L EHRITHE - &t E
MERESFAEABEBEATAR
TEE B

Maximum
accumulated
percentage of share
options exercisable

Service period

that share options

can be exercised

after the relevant date

Date of grant Relevant date ~ REBAG® Ejii' ERREN
BREAH ERAH T 17 62 18 JR A 0 PR 75 20 2B ER
24 December 2009 | November 2009 Attaining | year 33.33%
“RENAFF_RA-THAE —FRAFET-HA-A RAEE
Attaining 2 years 66.67%
RRE
Attaining 3 years 100%
A3
8 June 2010 8 June 2010 Attaining | year 33.33%
—2-EFAANR —E-EFAANR RAE1E
Attaining 2 years 66.67%
RRF
Attaining 3 years 100%
g2y
RA3F
27 August 2010 | July 2010 Attaining | year 33.33%
—T-EFANRZ+tH —E-FFt+H-H RAE1E
Attaining 2 years 66.67%
R
Attaining 3 years 100%
RA3F
28 January 201 | 28 January 201 | Attaining | year 33.33%
—Z-——%-A-+/\H —Z-——%-A-+/\H RAE1E
Attaining 2 years 66.67%
RAF
Attaining 3 years 100%
RA3F
26 August 201 | 26 August 201 | Attaining | year 33.33%
—ZT——FN\AZ+"H —E——FN\AZ+"H RAEF
Attaining 2 years 66.67%
RA2E
Attaining 3 years 100%
RA3F
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Details of the share options granted

under the Scheme and

BLUERIZRRXS @

DESEEBRESS (&)

) BRESE (F)

BEZFARENEREREYF

their movements are as follows: W
Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding
Category of wat aat aat
Eligible Scheme Exercise 112010 Transferred Granted 31122010 Granted Exercised Forfeited 3122001
Participants price  Evercisale Vesting H-%-%f during diring ~ #23-5% during during dirng  HZ3--F
2ERSE  Dateofgrant per share  period date -5-8 the year theyear TZAZT-R the year the year theyear T2AZT-R
ALEH g ERORE  fiRA §RER HEGR  HEREE  REARY HRGR  REARE  REAGR  REARN HAAR
Adirector 24 December 2009 HKS874 | November 2010- [ November 2010 - 1,144 164 - 1144164 - - - 114164
gz CERAETZAZTRA SMMET  03December 07 “R-T51-A-8
Z3-REt-A-A
E-R-ttoAot=R
[ Novemoer 201 |- [ November 2011 - [,144 165 - 1, 14165 - - - 114165
23 December 017 I e
2-Et-A-A
ok S el ol
[ Novemoer 2012- | November 2012 - 1,144 165 - 1, 14165 - - - 1, 14165
23 December 2017 ZR-CE-R-R
i S
E-R-ttoAot=R
- 343044 - 343044 - - - 343044
Employees under 24 December 2009 HKS874 | November 2010- \November 000 1866802 (1,144 1e4) = 4838 = (266600) 3 457805
onnos ZEEAETZAZTEA 8MAET 03 Decerber 017 “3-%51-A-H
employment “5-351-A-H
contrct E-3-tF12A-t2R
EERRRY I Nojerber 01 - | Noverber 011 1868802 (1144165) - T4 - - (nikss) 04
HER 23 Decemter 017 3—-%-A-H
3--Et-A-8
EIE-tETCRotER
I November 2012- [ November 2012 1868802 (1,144 165) = 483 = = (126833) 495804
3 Deceber 017 Z5-ZE1-R-B
Z§-ZE+--R
EIE-tETCRotER
5,606:406 (3432454 = 173910 = (266600) () 149413
Adrector § June 2010 HKS678 8 June 2011- 8June 2011 = = 128700 126700 = = = 128700
i £ 2535508 6I8ET  Tjme20I8 Z5——55A0A
I S
E2E-N\ERALR
8 une 2002- 8une 2012 - - 128700 128700 - - - 128700
7 2018 Z5-ZERANA
“2-2ERRNR
E2E-N\ERALR
8 une 2003- 8ue 2013 - - 128700 128700 - - - 128700
7 2018 Z5-ZE5ANA
I S
E2E-N\ERALR
- - 386,100 386,100 - - - 36,100
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

38.

PEHZRXS @

NESEEBRESS (B8

(b) BBRRMESTE (2

Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding
Category of asat asat asat
Eligble Scheme Exercise LI Transferred Granted 312000 Granted Exercised Forfeted 3100
Participants price  Exercisable Vesting #-5-3% during dirng  HZF-3F during during diing  #=3--%
SEESE  Dateofgrant pershare  period date -5-8 the year theyear TZAZT-R the year the year theyear TZAZT-R
AtER BHAE SRORE ARE LR HEGR  REAEE  REARE  HAGR  REARM  REAGR  REANK  HAGR
Employees under 8 June 010 Hes678 8 June 2011 8 Jure 2011 - - 147405 147405 - - - 147405
ortiwoss— Z5-FE5A/\A 676%T  7jned0I8 Z5--E5A0
employmet Z2--57ANR
contract et Slbyid:
BERRAD §une 2012- §une 2012 = - 147406 147406 = - - 147406
HER Tjune 2018 E-2EN
i Sty
BIR-N\EAtA
8 June 2013- 8June 2013 - - 147408 14740 - - - 147408
7 June 1018 E-2ERA
5-ZERAN
EE-NERALR
- - “ann “ann - - - Lol
Emplyees under 27 August 010 HIST80 1y 2011 |y 200 - - 897206 897206 - (85.200) - 812006
wnfos Z3-FENAZTER TO0ET  26Augst20I8 e d
employment
contract
EERRA 1y 2012 = = 87206 87206 - - - 87206
HER 26 Augist 2018 “5-TEtR-R
ZE-TEtR-R
|y 2013 - - 8707 8707 - - - 8707
“R-ZELA-R
= - 1691619 1691619 - (85200) - 2406419
Employee under 28 Januery 201 HKS00 28 anuary 2012- 18 Janvery 2012 = = = = AL = - min
onnoss ZE-—E-AZTAR Q0T OJamary 19 Z§-F-A-1NA
employment Z§-§-A1NR
contrct FR-AE-RottR
EEEELY 18 Jnvery 2013 18 Janvery 2013 = = = = AL = - min
27 fanuary 2019 Z2-ZE-fZ1/R
Z3-E-fztR
FR-ME-RottR
18 anuary 2014- 18 anuary 2014 = = = = mim = = mim
27 fanuary 2019 ZE-ME-A2TA
ZE-RE-AZTR
FR-ME-RottA
- - - - 3333 - - 83333
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 38.LLB#Z 3% 5 »

(Continued)
Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued) DEZSEEBRETS (&)
(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (b) BERESE (&)
Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding
Category of asat wat wat
Eligble Scheme Exercise LI Transferred Granted 311010 Granted Exercised Forfeted 3100
Participants price Exercisable Vesting #-5-3% during dirng  H=3-3F during during diing  #=3--%
£EESE  Dateofgrant pershare period date -5-8 the year theyear TZAZT-R the year the year theyear TZAZT-R
AtEH BE ERORE fRE i LE HEGR  HEAEE  REARY HRE  RERRE  REATR  REARD  HAGR
Employee under 26 August 2011 HRSB47 26 August 2012- 16 August 2012 - - - - 983857 - - 983857
wninos ZE-—ENAZ1AR BATET 1l My 09 ZE-ZE)\Az1iB
employment ZE-ZENAz1iR
contrat EE-NERACT-R
EhERLY 26 August 2003 26 August 2013 - - - - 983868 - - 983868
HER 2 Mgy 2019 ZB-ZENAZTAR
ZR-ZENAZTAR
EC3-AETACT-A
26 August 2014 16 August 2014 - - - - 986N - - 9881
1 My 1019 Z2-MENAZAR
ZE-BENAZTAR
EC3-AEEACT-A
- - - - 2951.5% - - 2951.5%
5,606:406 = 351993 9126342 T8R! (351,800) () 2101574
Evendsable &t the end of the year 1 868802 4330049

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the ~ BERTTE2ERE - RITEBP 2 NET
weighted average share price at the dates of exercise is RN ERAEERI1065ET(ZE—TF
HK$10.65 (2010: N/A) per share. TER) -
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38.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes (Continued)

(b) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The fair values of the options were calculated using the Binomial

model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Market price
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Expected life

Risk-free rate

Expected dividend yield

miE
TEE
BAtKE
BitEH

R =

Share
options
granted on
28 January
2011
R=2--F
-AZtNH
RtizRRE

HK$9.007% 7t
HK$9.007% 7t
56.00%
45t02

5.5 yearsF
1.58% to2
1.92%

1.50%

BBUBERZRFRXD @

DESEREBRESS (&)

(b) BRRERE (&)

BhELAER-_BARAFE

ZEAFBABEAT

Share Share Share
options options options
granted on granted on granted on
26 August 8 June 27 August
2011 2010 2010
R=B-—-% HR-ZT-TF RN_T-T%
RNA=t5H ~AANE NAZTtH
RuzBRE RozBRE RucERE
HKS8ATHETT  HKS6SUBTT  HK§T65%TT
HK$8.47% 1t HK$6.787% T HK$7.807% T
55.43% 58.06% 58.32%

437 to2 45102 44) &
5.37 years 55 years® 542 years®
0.62% to2 1.401% toZ 091% toZ
0.88% 1.657% [.16%

1.50% 1.51% .48%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical

volatility of the stock return of certain comparable listed

companies.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair values

of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain

subjective assumptions.

The Group recognised an expense of HK$13,588,000 (2010:
HK$14,580,000) for the year in relation to share options
granted by the Company under the Scheme.

B RERETHELRETAANKRNE

WBERIBETE -

AEBREAAETRAEZERBRREESN
REM[ENE - BREEERE TEHERR

M TRERTARTA -

AREBRFERGHARRREZTEREER
RERE AR 213,688,000/ T (ZE— T F .

14,580,000 7T) ©
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39.RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the

future years.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their basic payroll to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required
contributions under the schemes. No forfeited contribution is

available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HEI&BFE4AER (#1&) HARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

39.18 ¢k 18 Fl &1 5l

AEBREAGMRABSITEGIAM
FRERBBEERIBHELES
g ([BREatE]) - BELFINEE
FHRMBYUSREAZGOES - B
SENBEIRIBA - REBRBEEAE
MRA BEREERBYAZAAETE
MERAZEHRRK AREHRRS
AEME-EEARZEELREN
HEAR o RIRGF R A FE BRI B2 Mt
AR o

AEERNTFEERNESR BB HEBA
EENBREBRKBAFEOKE -

FEMBRARARZEREREEARTIEN
ETBEDLRURRENEBIHK - U
RUBMEHES - AEERZERAKE
MEtElwmgE—EERRZEELARE
MR - RRFEOBAHRY &R
SR A R -



40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES A0.FFERBAENTHE

DISCLOSURES
During the year, the Group had transactions with related parties, TR AEEEBEALETRS
some of which are deemed to be connected parties pursuant to the FBHZEALTRE ETHAR %Fﬁ@
Listing Rules. The transactions with these parties during the year, and AT  BZEATRFRNETHRG R
balances with them at the end of the reporting period, are as BEPRERENERWT :
follows:
() RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES () BRAXMAEAL
Name of counterparties Nature of transactions/balances 2011 2010
HHER X5/ ®EHHE —E-—fF —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FET
Guangzhou Zhujiang Steel Port loading charges paid 486 1,378

Port Co,, Ltd. (“Guangzhou

Zhujiang"), an associate

of the Group Non-trade payable 28,080
BMIR TS A AR A A FE HENA
(TEMAMUEE]) -
ALEEERA
Guangzhou Asia Steel Rental expenses paid (notes b and g) 779 642
Property Co., Ltd. (“GAS EfNHEERX (Ebkg)
Property"), a company Deposits paid (note 23) 264 120
indirectly owned and EftEe (fFE23)
controlled by Mr. Chun
BMNGMEXARAA
(TEMEWMEX])
RELBE %ﬁ
PR
Mr. Chun Interest expenses paid (note h) — 2514
RELE BB F X (K &EEh)
Wellrun Limited Issue of new shares (note h) — 706,500
1 ERR AR ZATR R (M 5Eh)
Interest expenses paid (note h) 3,236

(notes a and f)

ENEORHER (Hiakf)

B A2 5 32 (KT FEh)
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GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES A0.FFARBAENLTERE (B)
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(1) RELATED PARTY (m HEAAL
Name of counterparty Nature of balance 2011 2010
HEE8 HERME —2——F —E—FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
Tianjin Steel Pipe Resources Non-trade receivable 36,585 —
Co., Ltd., an associate FE 5 EMFIE
of the Group
REREERBERAT
AEE N EAQ A
(1l) CONNECTED PARTIES () FAEANL
Name of counterparties Nature of transactions/balances 2011 2010
HEE% X5/ GEHHE —2——-F —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
Certain subsidiaries of Sale of recycled metals 5,369,047 5,665,686
Guangzhou lIron & Steel (notes c and i)
Enterprises Holdings Limited HERDK B (P Ecki)
("GSEG") Purchase of scrap metals — 1,565,288
BEMHECEREFRA A (notes d and i)
(TEHMEREELRA]) REELE (MEdRi)
METH B ARG Trade receivables 1,973,633 1,900,752
FEUE 5508
Bills receivable 110,170 566,571
eSS
Lane Tone International Material Purchase of scrap metals 4,867 1,461,081
Inc. (“Lane Tone") (notes e and i)
REESE ek
Trade payables — 23,052
B E 5308
(IV) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT (V) EEEE NS HM
PERSONNEL
The emolument of directors who are also identified as members EE(MRAEEMNEIEERAR)
of key management of the Group is set out in note 12. BEB SN2
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40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes:

(@) On 22 May 2009, Guangzhou Asia Steel Co., Ltd. (*Guangzhou Asia

A0.FHAREENLTHE (&

@ R-TEAERA-+-8 KAAM

=
=1
=

Steel”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Guangzhou Zhujiang entered into a service agreement (the “Port
Loading Service Agreement”) under which Guangzhou Zhujiang agreed
to provide port loading services to Guangzhou Asia Steel commenced
from the date of Listing (i.e. 22 June 2009) and ended on 31 December
2011. By entering into the above connected transactions, Guangzhou
Asia Steel would receive port loading services from Guangzhou
Zhujiang in a timely and efficient manner. Since certain subsidiaries of
GSEG have significant influence on both Guangzhou Asia Steel and
Guangzhou Zhujiang, Guangzhou Zhujiang and GSEG are connected

persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The service fee payable by Guangzhou Asia Steel in relation to the
provision of port loading services by Guangzhou Zhujiang is
determined on the basis of prevailing market price. The Port Loading

Service Agreement was negotiated on an arm’s length basis.

The extent of these connected transactions did not exceed the limits

as set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 10 June 2009.

JE2 B TR A R M o 80 4 B A R A Al
(M) BEMNERMBAT L — 8
Ristnza (EOEARBIHE]) - &
It BN EREE EmB M (B=
EENFEAAZTZR)BEZT——F
+ZA=+—BItREMEERASD
LHRYE - BBV LABERS &
N 25 88 & I 5 G A5t 288 ER R N K 8 7 O
Frigft s O£ E RS - AR EH G2
SEARETHBA AL EMEERE
MEAKEBEREEATE )  BELTH
Al - BMKABERERCEEBR AR
BAERARINBEEAL

J& M 35 50 st 2 M 2R 80 655 58 A B2 L 608 1
KHORBEMENOREEDRATHE
BE - BORDRBHBADEATER

O

ZEMERSBELEBRBAAR T
TAENATEHENARERMER
# o
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For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

40.7FARFEALTHE (2

PitsE : (&)

=

)

(b) On 23 May 2008, Guangzhou Asia Steel entered into an office lease as

tenant with GAS Property as landlord, pursuant to which GAS
Property agreed to lease to Guangzhou Asia Steel certain office
premises in Guangzhou, the PRC at a monthly rental of RMB36,029 for
a term from | June 2008 to 3| May 2010.The lease was renewed and
extended to 30 April 2013 during the year ended 3| December 2010
and the monthly rental remained the same. On 25 April 2010,
Guangzhou Asia Steel entered into another two office leases as tenant
with GAS Property as landlord, pursuant to which GAS Property
agreed to lease to Guangzhou Asia Steel certain office premises in
Guangzhou, the PRC at monthly rentals of RMB9,335 and RMB3, | |8 for
terms from | June 2010 to 3| May 2013 and from | May 2010 to 30
April 2013, respectively. The office premises were leased due to the
expansion of the Group's business in Guangzhou and the close

proximity of the office premises with the Guangzhou Asia Steel's facility.

The rental rate is determined on the basis of prevailing market rates.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited $HE&BHEEER (2&) HRAF

(b)

RZZENFRAA-+=0 " BMNEH
(EAABA) BEMNDHEE (R
)R —BHAEHELN  FY - BEME
B X R B RF B M E & T i
AEMERTEMNEN - ARAARE
36,0297t ' HEE_ZTENFB—H

RE-Z-ZFRA=+—HLE -HE
ERBE_Z-ZF+_A=+—HIt
FEEBRERZE-_Z—=FWA=T

A ABE#ESTE - R-T-—ZTFNA
“+RA - BMEHEGERER) 2EM
TSHEXUEREI)FTLAIMMDMA
ZHE BUBEMNGHEZXRE REM
THHEEFEEMNCETHAE
¥ AEARIARARK93357TK3,118
T FHARR T -TFRXA-RE
“E-=FRAA=Z+-HRHZZE-F
FARA—HE-_Z—=6MA=tH-
MRASEEEMNEREY - B L
REYEA RN R R - RN G
MAREMNEHEXERZENE -

e EXDRRTHISEE -



40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) The Group entered into separate sales agreements (the “Sales
Agreements”) with certain subsidiaries of GSEG to supply them with
recycled scrap metals. As the Sales Agreements would expire on 3|

December 201 |, the Group had entered into new sales agreements in

December 201 | to extend the terms for a further three years.

The transaction price in relation to the supply of recycled scrap metals
is determined with reference to the prevailing market price of the

recycled scrap metals. The Sale Agreements were negotiated on an

arm’s length basis.

The extent of these connected transactions under the Sales

Agreements did not exceed the limit as set out in an announcement of

the Company dated |5 October 2010.

(d) On |5 October 2010, the Company and two subsidiaries of GSEG
entered into two purchase agreements (the “Purchase Agreements”)
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase from them and
other subsidiaries of GSEG metals for a term commencing from the

date the purchase agreements being approved by independent

shareholders (i.e. I5 October 2010) until 31 December 201 |.

The transaction price in relation to the purchase of metals is
determined with reference to the prevailing market price. The Purchase

Agreements have been entered into after arm’s length negotiations.

The extent of these connected transactions under the Purchase

Agreements did not exceed the limits as set out in an announcement

of the Company dated 5 October 2010.

40.FFARFEALTHSE (&

FiisE : (&)

() AEBEEEEHCEEBRRNE TH
BARGILBYNHEEWE ([HEH
#) MREHELOKESE - AR
ZEHEMRZ BN _T——F+=-R=
tT—RER AKRBEER-_Z——F+
“ AR EE R  E—FEREAR

=4

FRARREODRESBRNRSZENZE
ROYEeBNRTHEETE - HEWH

FIE R FREERIL -

REHEBRETORSNEZ HHE
PRBBAAT-E-FFTA+ER

TIEN R EMETERE -

d) R=ZT—ZF+A+AH AARHEE
5 (> 3 S B A 2 W AT B A Rl ET LW
HEEHZ((BEHA])  BEAKAQF
REM%ESERERCESEDAH MK
BRAAIBESE FHHEERRES
VREHECZE (I—E—FTF+A+H
BEZE-T——F+=-A=1+—Hl-

ERRECBZRSERNBZRED
BEE BEHANEATEREIIL -

BEBAEET 2 ZEWERS
z

Z
EBBARARBEHA-Z-ZF

ARZAMHAEZRE
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40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

Lane Tone is wholly owned by a former director of Tianjin Yatong, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Though the director resigned
on 29 November 2010, Lane Tone is also considered as a connected
person of the Company until 28 November 201 | under the Listing
Rules. On | June 2009, the Group and Lane Tone entered into a
framework purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) pursuant
to which the Group has agreed to purchase scrap metals from Lane
Tone commenced from the date of Listing (i.e. 22 June 2009) and
ended on 3| December 201 .

The purchase price payable by the Group in relation to the purchase of
the scrap metals from Lane Tone is determined with reference to the
prevailing market price of the scrap metal. The Purchase Agreement

was negotiated on an arm’s length basis.

The extent of these connected transactions did not exceed the limit as
set out in an announcement of the Company dated |5 October 2010

respectively.

These connected transactions are defined as “continuing connected
transactions” in the Listing Rules and are exempt from the independent
shareholders” approval requirement under Rules [4A.34 of the Listing
Rules, but subject to the reporting and announcement requirement and
annual review requirement set out in Rules [4A.45 to [4A.47 and

Rules 14A.37 to 14A.40 of the Listing Rules, respectively.

These connected transactions are defined as “continuing connected
transactions” in the Listing Rules and are exempt from the reporting,
annual review, announcement or independent shareholders' approval

requirement under Rules 14A.33 of the Listing Rules.

These connected transactions are defined as “connected transactions”
in the Listing Rules and are exempt from the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Rules
[4A31 of the Listing Rules.

China Metal Recycling (Holdings) Limited HEI&BFE4AER (#1&) HARAF

40.FFARBFENLTHSE (&)

Mt (&)

(e)

(f)

(h)

Lane Tone BAARIZ KM B R RIKZEDR
H—2AEF2EREHNAR - BEZ
AEFER-_T—TE+—-A=1+NA
BHE - MEARIR EWARAD - Lane Tone =
g——¢+—H:+AEﬁMWﬁ%$
DRIBEEAT © ETNFARA—
B A&EEHELane ToneN =T —— &+
—AZ+N\BRIGT —HERKE G
([FRBH=R]) Bt A5BREES L
mEE (=TT AF A=+=H)#
E-T——F+=-A=+—AHALEHEA
Lane Tone R EELE °

ANEE FlLane TonefRiEES B M ERE
REER2EESEBNRIMEST -
RERAEDEALERRIL ©

ZERERSBELEBRBAAR_F
—EETATRBATBRNDEMERT N
PRE

ZERERGRE ETRATERER[FHE
MEX S| EHRERETETHRAE
14A 3MEM B IRRBLER T -
S R E R £ AIE 14A.45F 14A.47
BERE14AITE14A L0EHI 2R R A
RERFEERHRE -

nuP

e

BEE

ZEME X%*Eﬁ%imfiﬁ'JmiﬁTiﬁ
HER EHEETLETRASE
T4ABGM2H - FREHN - 2B

UBRRBERT ©

ZERERGREETHRANEE R [FE
R BHRRET EMHIE14A 31K
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40.RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND

40.FFRRFAEANLTHKE

These connected transactions are defined as non-exempt continuing

connected transactions in the Listing Rules under Rules 14A.35 of the

Listing Rules and are subject to reporting and announcement

requirements, independent shareholders’ approval requirement and

annual review requirement set out in Rules [4A.45 to [4A.47, Rule
[4A.48 and Rules 14A.37 to 14A.40 of the Listing Rules, respectively.

Waivers from strict compliance with the announcement and

independent shareholders’ approval requirement on these transactions

have been sought from the Stock Exchange.

ASSOCIATES

(I) SUBSIDIARIES

B E

(i)

(/'/ s)

(%)

1A R BIE 14A.350%
SGRELTRIEBERFREHEME
R AEFHREHAR ETHAE
14A45% 14A4716 ~ B 14A48(8 Kk 2
14A3TZ14AL0GR ERRDMHETE
BURRBERATREEENRE - B
BRBRAHAREZER I BIRE

D RBLIBRRBERTE ©

RERER

MMBABIRBEABNFR

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries at 3|1 December 201 |

and 3| December 2010 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

(. KR

Asia Steel (Holdings) Limited
cMfEaE (2k)
BRAF

Asia Steel (HK) Limited
SiE (&)
BRAH

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

imAL/
RIH

The British Virginlslands

(note a)

ARELES (Wita)

Hong Kong

(note a)

Et (Wita)

Form of
business
structure

RHRR
%!

Limited liability
company
BRAH
Limited liability

company

BRAA

Issued and

fully paid share/
quota capital/
registered capital
BRTR
BRBE/
REER/
ifEx

US$200

W00% T

HK$78,100,000
781000007 1T

() HEBAE

AAAHEAAR=F——F+=
A=t+-BR-T-FF+-A=
+—BHRENT ¢

Proportion
of nominal
value of
issued share/
quota capital/
registered capital

held by the Company  Principal activities
A0 T TERE
Direct Indirect
% A&
% %
100 —  Investment holding
REER
= 100 Investment holding

REER
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 4.MBATI REE AT HFE
ASSOCIATES (Continued) (4&)
(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) (n MEAF (&)
Issued and Proportion
fully paid share/ of nominal
quota capital/ value of
Place of Form of registered capital issued share/
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business EROR quota capital/
il PEEE establishment structure BEREK/  registered capital
AL/ E3 8 REEX,/  held by the Company Principal activities
R A AR A2 TR IERB
Direct Indirect
%3 B
% %
Asia Steel (Investments) Hong Kong Limited liability HK$100,000 — 100 Investment holding
Limited (note a) company 100,000 7 REBR
FlaE (RE) & (Mita) BRAH
RRAA
Asia Steel (Development) Hong Kong Limited liability HK$100,000 = 100 Investment holding
Limited (note ) company 100,000 7 REZR
ShaE (R ARAR B (Wi BRAA
Huan Bao Steel Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 = 100 Investment holding
RRAEERAR (note b) company 10000 T and collection,
&7 (Wto) ERAR processing and sale
of recycled scrap metal
REEKRREL -
MIRHERKELE
Central Steel (Macao Macau Limited liability MOP100,000 = 100 Metal trading
Commercial Offshore) (note b) company 100,000 T B85
Limited B (Hb) BRAT
hRAE (RFIRE
BXRB) ERLA
China Metal Recycling Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 = 100 Investment holding
(Investments) Limited (note a) company 100008 7T REZR
hEEEBLER F (Hita) BRAH
(K& BRAA
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND

ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

il PR

China Metal Recycling
(Development) Limited

THEEBLER
(&) BRAA

Infinite Metal Recycling
Limited
RREREUARAT

Smart Pacific Shipping
Limited
RARBERAA*

GrEREBERAR
(Yangzhong Yagang Metal
Co., Ltd)

RRGHAAERAR
(Tianjin Yatong Steel
Co, Ltd)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

iRaL/
RIH

Hong Kong

(note a)

E (Wita)

Hong Kong
(note b)
B (Wb)

Hong Kong

(note a)

B (Wita)

The PRC

(note a)

B (Hita)

The PRC
(note b)
i (Kitb)

Form of
business
structure

ST
%!

Limited liability
company

BRAA

Limited liability
company

BRAA

Limited liability
company

BRAA

Wholly-foreign
owned enterprise

hEBALE

Wholly-foreign

owned enterprise

IEEALR

MMBABIRBEABNFR

(&

() MBAE (&)

Issued and

fully paid share/
quota capital/
registered capital
ERTR
BRRE/
REEE/
&R

HK$10,000
10,0007 T

HK$100,000
1000007 ¢

HKS |
17T

US§20000,000
200000005% ¢

US§13,000,000
13000000%7C

Proportion
of nominal
value of
issued share/
quota capital/
registered capital
held by the Company
ARAMRK
Direct  Indirect
Ef A%
% %

— 100

- 100
(2010:NiA)

(Z3-2%:

TER)

= 100

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding

REER

Metal trading
tEE5

Inactive

ARAER

Inactive

AEAEE

Investment holding

and collection, processing
and sale of recycled
scrap metal
REERREY -
MIRHEDLESE
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GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 4.MBATI REE AT HFE
ASSOCIATES (Continued) (&
(I) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) (n MEAF (&)
Issued and Proportion
fully paid share/ of nominal
quota capital/ value of
Place of Form of registered capital issued share/
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business EROR quota capital/
il PEEE establishment structure BEREK/  registered capital
AL/ E3 8 REEX,/  held by the Company Principal activities
R A AR A2 TR IERB
Direct Indirect
%3 B
% %
ENDHeRERAR The PRC Wholly-foreign US$3,500,000 — 100 Collection, processing
(Guangzhou Yatong) (note b) owned enterprise 3,500,000 7T and sale of recycled
Metal Co, Lid) i (Fzko) NEBELR scrap metal
B MIR
BEONELE
ENGRREARAR The PRC Sino-foreign US$4,500,000 — 75 Collection, processing
(Guangzhou Asia Steel (note b) owned enterprise 4500000% 7T and sale of recycled
Co, Ltd) MR (M) M ELE scrap metal
B MIR
BEONELE
ENREBERRMK The PRC Sino-foreign RMBI0,000,000 — %0 Inactive
ERAR (note a) owned enterprise (note ) (010:NA)  RRAEE
(Guangzhou China Metal hE (fza) PR ERE AR 100000007 (ZF-%F:
Recycling Environmental (P &) AER)
Technology Co, Ltd)
("GZCMR Environmental
Technology")*
(M E
RRRRI)*
MUDREBHAERAA  The PRC Wholly-foreign US$10,000,000 — 100 Collection, processing
(Zhongshan Yatong (note b) owned enterprise 10,000,000 7T and sale of recycled
Metal Materials Co, Ltd.) B (Fzt) NEBELE scrap metal
B Mk
HEOWESE
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND MBBASIRBEEATINEE

ASSOCIATES (Continued) (&
(I) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) () MEBAT (&)
Issued and Proportion
fully paid share/ of nominal
quota capital/ value of
Place of Form of registered capital issued share/
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business EROR quota capital/
il PEEE establishment structure BEREK/  registered capital
AL/ FHRE REEX,/  held by the Company Principal activities
RuY A &R A0 A TERE
Direct Indirect
E% 3
% %
ERGHEBERAR The PRC Wholly-foreign RMB100,000,000 = 100 Collection, processing
(Ningbo Yagang Metal Co, Ltd)  (note b) owned enterprise AR 10000000070 and sale of recycled
i (B Eh) NEBEME scrap metal
Bk MIR
HEOKELE
ERHEBLEER The PRC Wholly-foreign RMBS 1,009,600 — 100 Metal Trading
REERAT (note b) owned enterprise (note ) 01:NA)  £EES
(Ningbo China Metal i (B Eth) NEBELY ARES1,009.6007 (Z2-%E:
Recycling Investment Co, Ltd) (B &Ec) AER)
("Ningbo CMR Investment)*
([ERHERE])*
RETHEBARAT The PRC Sino-foreign US5$12,000,000 — 70 Collection, processing
(Wuhan Yagang Metal Co,, Ltd)  (note b) owned enterprise 12,000,000 7T and sale of recycled
Bl (Rf3E) TR ERE scrap metal
B4 MIR
HEONELR
DHEB(RI)ERAR  ThePRC Wholly-foreign US5,000,000 - NIA  Inactive
(Yatong Metal (Shenzhen) (note a) owned enterprise 5,000,000 7T TR ARAEE
Co, Ltd) LEIGRE) NEBERR (2010:100)
(ZF-%F:
100)

3% Annual Report 2011 181




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND MMBASIRBEEATINERE
ASSOCIATES (Continued) (&

(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) (n MEBaTE(E)

Issued and Proportion
fully paid share/ of nominal
quota capital/ value of
Place of Form of registered capital issued share/
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business EROR quota capital/
il PEEE establishment structure BEREK/  registered capital
AL/ E3 8 REEX,/  held by the Company Principal activities
R A AR A2 TR IERB
Direct Indirect
%3 B
% %
IHEDEBLERARAA  The PRC Wholly-foreign US$79.980,000 - 100 Investment holding
(Jiangsu China Metal (note b) owned enterprise 79,980,000 7T and collection,
Recycling Resources Co, Ltd) Bl (Hf3Eh) NEBEME processing and sale
of recycled scrap metal
REBRREY -
NIRAERNESE
TEPEALENENA The PRC Limited liabity RMB30,000,000 — 70 Collection, processing
ERAT (note b) company AR%300000007C and sale of recycled
(Jiangsu China Metal B (k) ERAR scrap metal
Recycling Materials Co, Ltd) @ MIR
HERMMELE
IHIREEREERAT  The PRC Limited liabity RMB09,380,000 — 9968 Warehousing,
(Jiangsu Jiangyin Port Container ~ (note b) company AR 109,380,007 (note 33)  stevedoring and
Company Limited) B (k) ERAT (F3533)  transportation of goods
Bl BRRHR
ENEs
IHIEENEEL The PRC Lirited iabilty RMBI00,000,000 — 100 Inactive
BRERAA (note a) company AR 1000000007 QOI6NA)  FRAEE
(Jiangsu Jiangyin Port wE (Wita) ERAR (zZ2-%
China Metal Recycling AER)

Pier Co, Ltd)*
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41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND MBBASIRBEEATINEE
ASSOCIATES (Continued) (&

(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) () MEBAR (&)

Issued and Proportion
fully paid share/ of nominal
quota capital/ value of
Place of Form of registered capital issued share/
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business EROR quota capital/
il PEEE establishment structure BEREK/  registered capital
AL/ FHRE REEX,/  held by the Company Principal activities
RuY A &R A0 A TERE
Direct Indirect
E% 3
% %
RENEELER The PRC Limited liabity RMB50,000,000 — 100 Inactive
RATHERRE (note a) company AR 500000007 ARAEE
(Tianjin China Metal i (B ta) ERAR
Recycling Resources
Trading Market Co, Ltd)
RENERESEAN The PRC Wholly-foreign RMBS,000000 — 100 Collection, processing
BRAR (note b) owned enterprise AR 50000007 and sale of recycled
(Tianjin China Scrap Metal i (B Eh) NEBEME scrap metal
Recycling Co, Ltd) m - MIR
HEDNELR
LEAVS-IEY E T The PRC Wholly-foreign RMBS0,000,000 — 100 Ore Trading
RERRAT (note b) owned enterprise AR 5000000070 01:NA)  BRES
(China Metal (Tianjin) i (ff3t) NEBELE (Z3-%%:
Energy Technological AER)
Development Co, Ltd)*
hEBELEER(RE) The PRC Wholly-foreign US$41,000,000 = 100 Investment holding and
REERAT (note b) owned enterprise (note ¢) metal trading
(China Metal Recycling i (ff3t) NEBELE 41,000000% T REERREERS
Investment Co, Ltd) (&)
(“Shanghai CMR Investment")
(tEheRE])

3 Annual Report 2011 183




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_FT——F+-A=+—HULFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND 41.MBAT REHE AT HFE
ASSOCIATES (Continued) (&
(I) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) () MEBaTE (&)
Issued and Proportion
fully paid share/ of nominal
quota capital/ value of
Place of Form of registered capital issued share/
Name of subsidiary incorporation/ business EROR quota capital/
il PEEE establishment structure BEREK/  registered capital
AL/ E3 8 REEX,/  held by the Company Principal activities
R A AR A2 TR IERB
Direct Indirect
B B
% %
heBEER(RR) The PRC Wholly-foreign US$100,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
REARAH (note b) owned enterprise 100,000,000 75 and metal and ore trading
(China Metal Recycling B (Wzh) NEBENE REZRREBREA
(Tianjin) Investment Co, Ltd) 8%
MEBEER (PE)ARAA The PRC Wholy-foreign USD3,000,000 ~ 100 Metal Trading
(China Metal Recycling (note b) owned enterprise (note ¢) 016N £BES
(China) Co, L1d) 8 (Fith) NERELR 30000005 7T (ZF-%%:
(“Shanghai CMR")* (H3kc) AER)
([L&FE])*
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41.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(1) SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) These entities are either investment holding companies or inactive

and do not have any operations.

(b) The operations of these entities are located at the place of

incorporation/establishment.

(c) Capital injections to these entities are not completed at the end
of the reporting period. The unpaid capital for GZCMR
Environmental Technology, Ningbo CMR Investment, Shanghai CMR
Investment and Shanghai CMR as at 3| December 201 | amounted
to RMB40,000,000 (2010: N/A), RMB48,990,400 (2010: N/A),
US$59,000,000 (2010: US$85,000,000) and US$ 12,000,000 (2010:

N/A), respectively.

*  Subsidiaries newly set up during the year ended 3| December

201 1.

MMBABIRBEABNFR

(,%g

() MEBAT (&)

Bt

(a) ZEEEBRREFRAFHHAERA
g WEAAEEER -

(o) ZEE B E MRS i B &
E o

(c) WARFTKEAZEE BT

&

BN SRERE  ZRPEKE -
EERSRER EBFENRBER
2 Bl & A R # 40,000,000 (=ZZ —
TF  TNEA) - AR®¥48,990,400
T(ZZE—-—ZFF : ~@EA)
59,000,000% T (=T — T F .
85,000,000 7t ) & 12,000,000 J©

—ZF : FEA) -

RBEE-_Z——F+-A=+—HI
FEMBEINNE R
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GaMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 201 |
BE-_F——F+-A=+—HUFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND M.MBATIREEATIHFE
ASSOCIATES (Continued) (&
(1) ASSOCIATES (1) BieE A aE]
Particulars of the Group's associates at 31 December 201 | and REEBERTAN _-_T——F+
3| December 2010 are as follows: A=t HR_E—ZEF+—

A=1t—H®OHBWT :

Proportion of

nominal value of

registered capital

held indirectly

Form of by the Company

Place of business LN E
Name of associate establishment structure FREMER Principal activities
HELRAEH FX 3L 30 B FERBREA HENLE FEXH
EMKMISERR AR The PRC Sino-foreign 45%  Construction of
(Guangzhou Zhujiang Steel ~ H owned terminals, loading and
Port Co, Ltd.) enterprise unloading of cargoes,
RNEERE and warehousing
REBE  KHEY
kR
RKEXEBERARAT  The PRC Sino-foreign 3333%  Collection, processing
(Tianjin Steel Pipe H owned (2010: N/A)  and sales of recycled
Resources Co,, Ltd.)* enterprise (ZZ2-ZF:  meta
PHREDLE TER) BN MIREERREE
*  An associate newly set up during the year ended 3| December * REBE-_ZT——&+-_HA=+—H
2011, I FEMBEINEERE -
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42.FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 2.KAT)2HBEEH
COMPANY

2011 2010
—E——f —T-TH
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT F#E T
TOTAL ASSETS (note) mEE (M) 2,585,680 2,689,425
TOTAL LIABILITIES HEE (22,099) (11,626)
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,563,581 2,677,799
CAPITAL AND RESERVES ERK#E
Share capital IR 7R 114 |14
Reserves & 2,563,467 2,677,685
TOTAL EQUITY MmER 2,563,581 2,677,799
Note: MI5E -
2011 2010
—g——F —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total assets include: BEEBE
Investment in a subsidiary H—BEHRBARNEKEE 649,605 550,346
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE W Bt /B8 A | IR 1,884,715 2,062,250
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IEHMGRE

RESULTS E
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
“ETLE —ZTE\F —ZERHE _—T-TF ZB--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$°000
FET FAETL FAT FET FER
Revenue W g 1942400 6526594 9,063,175 22,508,182 52,140,520
Profit before taxation BR 7t AT A 187,069 330,920 503,635 944501 1,964,783
Income tax expense FEHRAX (8,342) (23,007) (24,950) (52598)  (92,189)
Profit for the year FEmEA 178,727 307,913 478,685 891903 1,872,594
Attributable to: FE{f
Owners of the Company ARAERA 137,691 294431 4784202 886,562 1,861,939
Non-controlling interests RS 41036 13,482 263 5,341 10,655
178727 307,913 478,685 891903 1,872,594
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
“ET+E —FTTN\f —ETAFE -—T-T4 Z8--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$’000
FHETT FAET F& T FAT FER
Total assets BEE 1585317 2,102,263 4750667 13730706 17,580,457
Total liabilities BafBE (1272031)  (1,205911)  (1,660852)  (9,102,569) (11,119,184)
313,286 896,352 3089815 4628137 6,461,273
Fquity attributable to owners ARAEEA
of the Company Eih R 278,527 831554 3009981 4556834 6,351,952
Non-controlling interests R 34,759 64,798 79,834 71,303 109,321
313,286 896,352 3089815 4628137 6,461,273
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